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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING


Friday, April 13, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Millar, have you discussed the order?


MR. MILLAR:  We haven't, Mr. Chair, but I believe Enbridge is giving its reply argument today.  They have three counsel here who I understand will be dealing with some of the different issues.


Before I turn it over to Mr. Cass, there was one preliminary matter I wished to address, and that was just the timing for costs filings.


MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Battista and I have put together a draft schedule, and if anyone wishes ‑‑ 


MR. KAISER:  This is the most important part of this case, so go slowly.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, perhaps it is.  Essentially, we have used the practice guideline to put together a schedule.  Now, as you will recall, this proceeding has been ‑‑ there's going to be a phase 2 of the proceeding, so what we were proposing is that all costs up to and including today would be dealt with through this schedule of events, and the date the costs claims would be due from eligible parties would be 21 days, which is Friday, May 4th, and then following the practice direction, Enbridge has 14 days to make any objections it chooses to make.  And that would bring us to Friday, May 18th.


Then there is seven days for any claimants to make reply to those objections, if there are any, and that would bring us to Friday, May 25th.  Really, that is just taking the time lines from the practice direction.  


So I don't imagine there are any concerns about that, but maybe I will ‑‑ I don't see anyone shaking their head, so I think that is probably the best way to go.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes, it is, sir.


MR. MILLAR:  Of course we would be setting up a separate cost schedule for phase 2 at the appropriate time.


MR. KAISER:  Where do we stand on that phase 2 proceeding?  I guess, are we due to issue a procedural order on that, or what?


MR. MILLAR:  We're hoping to issue it either today or Monday, Mr. Chair.  And that's all I have, so maybe I will turn it over to Mr. Cass.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.


ENBRIDGE REPLY ARGUMENT 


PROCEDURAL MATTERS: 


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if I might kick off the reply argument by directing the Board to some documents that the company has filed.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. CASS:  The company has prepared a compendium of documents to be referred to in reply argument.  It's a bound volume.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have that, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair, I will bring these up.  There are a couple of documents, but this first one will be the compendium and we will call it K16.1.



EXHIBIT NO. K16.1:  ENBRIDGE COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS

MR. CASS:  Perhaps just to provide further explanation, Mr. Chair.  I know that you haven't seen it yet, but the compendium contains at the beginning outlines of the arguments on the various issues that will be presented, written outlines, for the Board's benefit, and then it contains documents from -- documents that will be referred to in argument.


The outlines for the issues that I am responsible for didn't make it into the compendium, for which I apologize.  Places were allowed at tabs 6 and 8 for those outlines, but I didn't get them prepared on time, so that is why there are two separate documents in addition to the compendium.  


MR. KAISER:  Do we have the separate documents, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I guess we will mark these, just for the sake of convenience, as separate exhibits, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  So the first one is issues 4.2 and 4.3.  That will be K16.2.


EXHIBIT NO. K16.2:  OUTLINES FOR ISSUES 4.2 AND 4.3

MR. MILLAR:  And the other one is issues 3.4 and 7.5, and that will be K16.3.


EXHIBIT NO. K16.3:  OUTLINES FOR ISSUES 3.4 AND 7.5


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, now that the Board has those documents, perhaps I will provide just a little more explanation before we jump right into reply argument.


As the Board knows, three counsel took responsibility for the applicant's witness panels during the course of the hearing, that being me, Mr. Stevens and Mr. O'Leary.  The same counsel propose to deliver argument in respect of the issues that they had responsibility for at the hearing.


Also, it's the applicant's proposal to go through the issues in the order that was done in argument-in‑chief.  That order followed the order of presentation at the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  


So if the Board wants to turn up tab 23 of the compendium, at the second page you will see the table of contents from the company's argument-in‑chief.  That is the order in which the company proposes to continue to present its argument.


So starting with risk management, issue 3.10, the company would propose to deliver its reply argument following that same order.  Mr. O'Leary was responsible for the risk management issue, so that means he would kick off.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. O'Leary.



SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  I might add just on a preliminary note, as well, I believe it is true of all of the outlines which have been submitted, that we have attempted to identify any evidentiary citations either as a footnote or immediately following the reference, and that in the interests of time, rather than going through and reciting in our oral delivery, we suggest that instead we would simply leave it to the written compendium that's been provided, so that the actual evidentiary references are documented there rather than repeating them orally as we go.


As Mr. Cass indicated, Mr. Chair, my area of responsibility was the risk management panel, and I am going to lead off today on that issue, which is 3.10.


It is interesting to note that the ratepayers that overwhelmingly benefit from and pay for the company's risk management program, namely CCC and VECC, support its continuation.  While CCC suggests that issues relating to the risk management program should be added to the generic system gas proceeding, which is expected in the near future, CCC submitted at paragraph 14 of its argument that there has not been any compelling evidence to justify elimination of the program.


Conversely, the ratepayer groups which least rely upon and only marginally pay for risk management, which are Schools, SEC and IGUA, they both argue for its discontinuance, we would suggest somewhat meekly.  


The company submits that the Board should take a substantial degree of comfort from the fact that groups like CCC and VECC, both of which look to experienced and knowledgeable economic advisors before taking a position on such matters, that these groups support the program's continuation.


It is fair to assume that both VECC and CCC have weighed the costs of the risk management program and the lag time which their membership and ratepayers will experience when commodity prices rise and fall against the benefits of muting price volatility.  And they have concluded that there continues to be a value to their membership and to obviously ratepayers.


Briefly turning specifically to the argument of the intervenors in support of the continuation of the program, CCC, like the company, in its argument-in‑chief, obviously believes that the history of the Board's annual consideration of the risk management program since the 2003 rate case is relevant.  And there is a reason why both CCC and the company identified this in their argument.


It appears that both believe that there has been significant and we submit positive treatment and consideration by the Board of the company's risk management program, both of its program specifically and of risk management programs generally.


As a result, we submit - and we believe that CCC would join us in the submission - that it is time to bring an end to the annual challenge by Energy Probe.


CCC went on to note, consistent with the company's argument, that the Board recently concluded, in respect to the Union Gas risk management program, that the reduction in volatility is a worthwhile measure of consumer protection.  That's at paragraph 9 of the CCC argument.


CCC also pointed to the Board's finding that the costs of Union's risk management program were modest and it provides price smoothing to customers.  That is taken from the Board's decision in the EB-2005‑0520, also repeated in paragraph 9 of the CCC argument.


Energy Probe, of course, could not argue against recorded history.  It also could not, and did not, show or argue that there are differences between the Union Gas and the Enbridge risk management programs, such that they propose that only the Enbridge program should be discontinued.  Stated differently, Energy Probe did not argue that there are methodological problems with the Enbridge risk management program alone, which would suggest that you should discontinue it singularly.  VECC states in its argument that it is of the opinion that the results of the Union and Enbridge risk management programs are comparable.  


Indeed, you may recall that the company's witness, Mr. Charleson, agreed with this during his oral testimony.  


There would therefore be an inconsistency in the treatment of ratepayers if only the Enbridge program were discontinued and not the Union program, which was recently approved by the Board.  


VECC also made two valid observations which refute several of the positions taken by Mr. Adams of Energy Probe.  First, VECC notes that the difference between the price of gas obtained by EGD through its risk managed portfolio and the price that it could have theoretically obtained gas through -- without using risk managed portfolio is not properly characterized as a cost.  


VECC correctly notes that the evidence before the Board is that over time the average gas price obtained by a risk managed portfolio will be the same as the price obtained without a risk managed portfolio.  As gas prices rise, the effect of risk management is to cause a lag in the price of the commodity for the risk managed portfolio.  Similarly, where prices decline, there is similarly a lag, and it is these lags which parties have described as a loss or gain, but it is always relative to the hypothetical commodity price had risk management activities not been undertaken.  


Understanding this point, Mr. Chair, is very important, as it demonstrates the futility and inappropriateness of looking at any specific period of time and concluding that ratepayers have either won or lost as a result of risk management activities.   To rely upon table 1, which is included in Energy Probe's argument, which looks at only several years of risk management activities - you may recall that that table showed a period of 2002 to 2006 plus another month in 2007 - and draw a conclusion as to the impact on ratepayers, the company submits is simply wrong.  


Energy Probe fails to acknowledge the reality of the situation as confirmed by the only experts that have appeared with expertise in risk management methodologies, which is risk advisory, who have stated, as I indicated a few moments ago, that the average price that is paid under a risk managed portfolio will, over time, be the same price paid by ratepayers in a non-risk managed portfolio.  


To look at only a fragment or a short period of time distorts reality.  


The second valid point raised by VECC, which is important, coming from a group with ratepayers in the least advantageous position to suffer any negative intergenerational costs, is that VECC does not agree that there is any generational issue of concern.  Specifically VECC states in its argument at page 22, and I quote:

~"At any particular time a system gas customer is required to pay for the gas they consume at the price paid by the utility to obtain gas for that customer.  To the extent the gas price may be higher or lower than the spot market price at the same time, the consumer is at the same time benefitting from this smooth pricing."


In other words, VECC identifies a benefit which each system gas ratepayer enjoys every time it receives a bill; namely, price smoothing.  The value of this is greater than the lag a risk managed portfolio experiences catching up to either higher or lower spot market prices.  


There is not an intergenerational cost issue.  What there is is a current benefit to system gas ratepayers.  


Turning now specifically to the submissions of Energy Probe.  The company remains mystified as to why Energy Probe continues to confuse the purpose of risk management by raising the "beat the market" theme, rather than focussing on the reduction in price volatility.  Despite the company's witnesses and its external expert, again risk advisory, confirming that the goal of risk management is to smooth prices, Energy Probe continues to hinge its argument against risk management largely upon the company's alleged failure to beat the market and generate more gains than losses.  


To start off with, surprisingly Energy Probe submits at paragraphs 117 and 118 of its argument that Enbridge accepted Mr. Adams' qualifications to speak to matters relating to risk management program design and operation and the creation and interpretation of customer surveys.  Clearly it did not, and you may recall that I challenged Mr. Adams in his qualifications, and he confirmed that, in these two areas, he had none.  


Accordingly, Energy Probe is not in a position to assert that Mr. Adams has any expertise in risk management methodologies or customer surveys.  Yet the Energy Probe argument on a number of occasions offers opinions that were neither tested in evidence and/or were not supported by an expert witness.  


There are several examples of this.  The first that I will take you to is at paragraph 124 of Energy Probe's argument.  It states that it does not now accept that risk management results in a zero sum gain.  Aside from the fact that this is contradictory to the only expert that has appeared before the Board that has opined on this subject, which is risk advisory, it is also inconsistent with Mr. Adams' own evidence under cross-examination.  In other words, that opinion has been accepted by Energy Probe in the past.  


Not surprisingly, Energy Probe does not state in its argument why it now does not accept the expert opinion of risk advisory, nor its justification for no longer accepting the reality of the zero sum game.  


Another example of Energy Probe putting forth allegedly expert opinion without supporting expert evidence or witness is the assertion made at paragraph 125 of its argument, to the effect that there is a bias within the Enbridge risk management program methodology in favour of protecting customers from unacceptable price increases versus unacceptable price decreases.  In addition to the fact this alleged bias was not put to an Enbridge witness, Energy Probe does not provide a proper evidentiary foundation in support of such a conclusion by putting forth the required expert witness.  


The assertion also flies in the face the company's evidence through Mr. Charleson that risk management has, in fact, smoothed the decline in prices over the past year during a period of dramatic decline.  In other words, we have seen a dramatic decline as described by Mr. Charleson in the last year, and we have suffered, or there have been alleged losses that have been incurred and it is occurring at a time when, in fact, we're seeing price decreases, which is inconsistent with what Energy Probe is asserting.  


Indeed, looking at Mr. Adams' response in cross-examination to questions about the bias allocation, two things become clear.  First, he acknowledges this allegation is little more than an observation by him.  Second, it is clear from Mr. Adams' answer that Energy Probe remains confused about how a risk management program operates.  


It appears that he is confused about when those activities which lead to losses occur from those activities which lead to gains.  If you start from the understanding that Mr. Adams and Energy Probe has complained quite vocally about the alleged losses incurred in 2006, and then you look at the fact that they suggest that there is this bias towards preventing upper price escalations versus downward, you realize that there is this confusion that has occurred at Energy Probe because, in fact, the large loss which Energy Probe refers to in 2006 is occurring at a time when you are seeing price decreases, not price increases.  


Stated more simply, Energy Probe has erroneously paired losses with the muting of upward price escalations when in fact the opposite is the case.  It is the company's submission, Mr. Chair, that this simply reinforces the conclusion that Energy Probe is not qualified to question methodologically the company's risk management program.  


Another example we bring to your attention is as a result of the argument at paragraphs 128 through 130 of Energy Probe's submissions, where they interpret the 1994 Compas report on customer preferences.  


You will recall that only five pages of that report were appended to the Energy Probe examination-in-chief materials.  They were marked as Exhibit K14.2.  Not one question about that report was asked of the company's witnesses when they were cross-examined by Mr. Adams.  In addition, there is no mention of the report or its findings in the Energy Probe prefiled evidence, nor is there any discussion of it by Mr. Adams in his evidence-in‑chief.


Yet despite Mr. Adams' submission that he has no education or training in the design and interpretation of customer surveys, Energy Probe opines as to the conclusions which should be drawn from this survey which was undertaken more than 12 years ago.


It then goes on, somewhat surprisingly, to describe the support of low‑income customers for the Enbridge risk management program as a "myth", yet does not at any time attempt to explain the continued support of VECC and CCC for the continuation of the program.


A further example relates to the customer survey undertaken by Enbridge which was presented in its 2006 rate case.  Mr. Charleson stated in evidence that the company believes as a result of this survey that the majority of its customers, particularly low‑income, support the continuation of risk management.  


Mr. Charleson also responded to several questions by Mr. Quesnelle about the customer survey.  Mr. Adams then requested production of the survey, explaining that its production was appropriate because some of Mr. Charleson's answers were not consistent with Mr. Adams' recollection of the document and what it stood for.  


In response to an objection by me that it was unfair to the company's witnesses to allege an inconsistency without having first put the inconsistency to the witnesses, Mr. Adams undertook to both articulate the alleged inconsistency before he appeared as a witness, and to deal with it in his evidence.


No inconsistency was ever raised by Mr. Adams before his appearance as a witness nor during his testimony.  To then argue that the 1994 Compas Report is more relevant, as Enbridge did, than the more current report, without expert evidence to support this conclusion nor any evidence contradicting the company's evidence, nor to actually deal with it in your testimony, the company submits that Energy Probe's submissions on this point should be given no credence.


The company submits that all of the above leads to the conclusion that there is no basis to question the findings of the customer survey undertaken by the company recently, nor the reliance that the Board placed on it in the 2006 rates case; namely, that the majority of customers ‑ that's to say more than 50 percent ‑ are not prepared to accept annual price changes in their gas bill of greater than $75.  


This remains the current and best evidence and was the justification relied upon - that's to say the survey - for increasing the tolerance band from $35 to $75, which is the current threshold which exists.


Another instance where Energy Probe delves into risk management methodology, despite admitting that its witness had no expertise in the area, is at paragraph 124 of its argument.  There Energy Probe equates risk management methodology to, and I quote, "the theory of games" and implies that the company is operating its program inappropriately because it is not trying to beat, in effect, not trying to win.


Interestingly, Mr. Adams admitted under cross-examination that the losses and gains of the program were raised by the company in its argument-in-chief for the period starting in 1997 through to 2004 in its last year rates proceeding.


Specifically, what Mr. Adams was referring to was the following statement made by the company, and I quote:

~Moreover, while this is not the goal of the company's risk management program, in the years from 1996 to 2004 the overall reduction in gas purchased cost as a result of the program, which is directly passed on to customers, was 59.1 million."


If one adds to this gain of 59.1 million as of 2004 the gain of 19 million, which is identified in 2005 at Exhibit I, 18, 7, page 2, you arrive at a net gain of 78.1 million heading into the 2006 year.  


There is, therefore, absolutely no evidentiary basis for Energy Probe to allege, as it does, in its argument at paragraph 113, that recent improvements to the risk management program were done in the wake of a huge financial loss.  


There simply is no evidence of a huge financial loss when you look at the results of the program over a longer period of time, all of which we submit demonstrates the inappropriateness of looking at a snapshot in time of the results of risk management, such as the last five years, which is the period of time that both Energy Probe and IGUA have suggested in argument as being appropriate.


The company has quantified and proven the reduction in price volatility in the impact of risk management table, which is Exhibit I, tab 31, schedule 3, page 2 in the far right-hand column.


It produces a simple average of the percentage reduction in quarterly price change over the 2002 to 2006 period of 8.6 percent.  The company submits that Energy Probe's analysis misses one‑half of the equation.


In every instance, Energy Probe fails to look at volatility from one quarter to the next, and, instead, expresses the results of risk management as simply a percentage of the commodity price at a particular point in time.


This is true equally in respect of Energy Probe's prefiled evidence and in respect of its final argument and its further attempt to discredit risk management in its argument.


It added a new right-hand column to table 2 in its argument where it continues to compare the results of risk management to the PGVA reference price at only one point in time, specifically one quarter.  It continues to fail to capture the impact of volatility quarter over quarter.


The company submits that undoubtedly VECC and CCC's advisors understand this, and the company submits that the Board should similarly reject Energy Probe's incomplete mathematical analysis.


Another point in respect of the Energy Probe table worth noting is that Energy Probe appears to have misinterpreted its own new column.  Perhaps I could take you to a tab in the compendium, Mr. Chair.  It is at tab 10, and it is entitled "Risk Management - Table 2".  This is taken from page 47 of the Energy Probe argument.


What they have stated at paragraph 135, that its analysis, which is the far right-hand column, shows that, and I quote:

~"In only two quarters since 2002 was the impact of risk management favourable to the consumer."


What that simply means is that they are interpreting 

-- their math is showing a number of negatives and only two positives, and what their statement means is that by their math, in only two quarters has the price under a risk managed portfolio for ratepayers been less than what would have been paid had there been no risk management.  In fact, that is not what the evidence is.


If you look at the second column from the left, which is the PGVA reference price with risk management, you will see that on eight occasions there in fact is a lower price that ratepayers benefitted from than what would have been the case without risk management.


Again, Mr. Chair, this is just another example that the Energy Probe analysis is flawed and an obvious one that their further attempt to discredit the program is without merit.


Finally, Energy Probe has the bravado to state at page ‑‑ at paragraph 144 of its argument that it is speaking out on behalf of low‑income ratepayers; yet Energy Probe produced no evidence that it receives any direction from low‑income ratepayer groups, unlike VECC and CCC, nor did it produce any customer or membership surveys.  


Indeed, you may recall when I asked Mr. Adams about this, he responded in cross‑examination that, in effect, Energy Probe's position on risk management was essentially his own and that he would not be surprised if in fact members of the group would support the continuation of the program.


Turning briefly to the argument of other intervenors, I will first turn to the argument by SEC.


After admitting that most school boards are only marginally impacted by the company's risk management program, SEC went on to offer three reasons why the program should be discontinued.  


The first, SEC tries to minimize the value of the risk management program, but it adduced no new evidence on this, simply relying on the evidence of Mr. Adams.


Second, SEC alleges that there are more predictable and less costly methods of reducing billing volatility; yet it makes no mention of any other methodology, other than the budget billing plan, which of course not all customers subscribe to.


There is, therefore, no evidence supporting another means of reducing price volatility.  


The third point made by SEC, we submit, is contradictory to the first two points, in that it argues that the impact of reducing price volatility runs counter to board's policies.  


By this argument we submit that SEC is acknowledging that the case put forward by Energy Probe is not convincing, and that the risk management program may, in fact, have a material impact on reducing price volatility.  Why make such an argument unless you are concerned that the evidence in fact could lead the Board to conclude that risk management activities are having a material impact?  


In addition, SEC's concern about risk management activities running counter to Board policies is simply unfounded, given the Board's earlier acceptance in both Enbridge and Union prior proceedings that muting price volatility is a benefit to ratepayers.  


Accordingly, risk management activities do not run counter to Board policy.  


IGUA tries to support its opposition to risk management through an illustration it attempts to describe at paragraph 26 of its argument.  This illustration was not put to the company's witnesses and did not appear in any evidence before the Board.  There is, therefore, no evidentiary support for IGUA's assertions about the impact of risk management and QRAM.  Indeed, precisely the opposite is true.  


Mr. Charleson, under cross-examination by Board counsel, confirmed that the company used the PGVA reference price as the best proxy for what ends up on a customer's bill.  Mr. Charleson specifically stated that, and I quote:   

~"It” - that is to say, the PGVA - "is the significant contributing factor to when we develop the QRAM commodity price."


Mr. Charleson added, and again I quote: 

~"It is a fairly accurate representation of the variability in the commodity price that they" – i.e., the customer – "would see." 


The company submits that because of the difficulty and inaccuracy of attempting to replicate past QRAM processes, the best evidence of the impact of risk management is the PGVA reference price and the reduction in volatility quarter over quarter, as demonstrated by the impact of risk management table which is filed as Exhibit I, tab 31, schedule 3, page 2 of 5.  


Again, as I have noted earlier, this table shows an average of 8.6 reduction volatility quarter over quarter since 2002.  


In conclusion, intervenor groups opposed to risk management have not put forward an evidentiary basis to support the elimination of the risk management program.  


Their position is not supported by ratepayer groups with recognized links to residential ratepayers.  They have offered opinions without expert support, and from Energy Probe's perspective it has changed its position on at least one important methodological aspect of risk management without explanation or justification.  In the end, the company submits there is no basis to deny only Enbridge's residential and small business ratepayers the benefits of risk management.  


It therefore respectfully requests approval for the continuation of the program.  


While I am on the subject of risk management, I thought it would also be appropriate to deal with the gas supply risk management program deferral account, because those witnesses also spoke to that deferral account.  You may recall that the company is looking to recover and to have closed through to rate base $691,500, and this relates to the capital expenditures incurred converting from an Excel spreadsheet model to a database platform.  


This is the amount that is included in this deferral account.  The company witnesses explained that because of the problems they were encountering with the Excel spreadsheet, they viewed it as prudent and appropriate to proceed with the conversion, a step which had been recommended by the experts that appeared before the Board earlier, risk advisory, and it was in the 2005 rate case where they recommended that there be an improvement.  


Interestingly, only one party argues against the clearance of this deferral account.  Even Energy Probe, which calls for the disbanding of the program, recommends that the amounts expended be closed to rate base.  


It is only IGUA that argues against the approval for clearance of the monies, and IGUA's argument is based on, in our submission, a contorted interpretation of the Board's decision in the Enbridge 2006 rates case, EB-2005-0001.  


Nowhere in that decision did the Board state that it would deviate from its long-standing principle of allowing the company to recover capital costs which have been prudently incurred.  


The uncontradicted and unequivocal evidence of the company is that it was experiencing problems with the Excel spreadsheet model, and given the Board's recent approval of risk management program and its finding that it benefitted ratepayers, the company incurred the capital costs now recorded in this deferral account.  


At the time that the monies were spent, the company had the reasonably held belief that the risk management program would be continued for some time.  


IGUA did not in argument attempt to discredit these factual realities; thus its attempt to put a spin on the Board's wording should be rejected.  


Rather than look at the prudence of the company's actions at the time, IGUA has proposed a backward or hindsight-looking approach, arguing that if the Board finds today that risk management program has no value to ratepayers, then the amounts expended should not be cleared.  


Aside from this being an inappropriate test, as I have just said, because it deviates from the long-standing test used by the Board, it is also contrary to the evidence.  Even Energy Probe, which has attempted to minimize the value of risk management, has not attempted to say that it has been of no value to ratepayers.  Indeed, the Energy Probe tables indicate that it has been of some value, although they will say it is more marginal than the company submits.  


What this means is there is no support for a finding that the risk management program has been of no value to ratepayers.  Therefore, even if the Board were to adopt the IGUA test, there is no basis to find, as they have suggested, that it has been of no value.  


Accordingly, the company respectfully requests approval to close the amounts recorded in the deferral account to rate base.  


Mr. Chair, absent questions from yourself and other members of the Panel, those are our submissions in reply on risk management.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  


Mr. Cass.      


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  Actually, Mr. Chair, I believe I am next.  


The next issue that we will speak to is revenue-to-cost ratios.  


The outline of most of the substance of what I am planning to say is found behind tab 2 of the compendium.  At times I will try to move more quickly through this than the script that is set out there, so I commend you to the words on the page also.
 As you will have seen from the argument filed by VECC on one side, and by the company, IGUA, TransAlta and OAPPA on the other, the outstanding issue related to revenue-to-cost ratios is really quite narrow.  Simply, it relates to whether it is appropriate or necessary for the company to make further adjustments to the proposed revenue-to-cost ratio for rate 1.  


If I could ask you to turn to tab 11 of the compendium, you can see graphically or set out in chart form what is actually at issue.  In the first row, it sets out the proposed revenue-to-cost ratio based on a deficiency recovery of $26 million.  


You can see that there is an over-recovery of $10.35 million for rate 1, but that approximately half of that relates to the phase-in impact of the transportation credits issue.  All parties, including VECC, agree that that is not really an impact that ought to be of concern in this proceeding.  


What we are really talking about is a remaining over-contribution in the range of $5 million.  


Incidentally, I note that the company has committed that it will keep revenue-to-cost ratios and the amount of any contribution in roughly the same range, regardless of what the final revenue deficiency is in this case.  


This $5 million over-contribution results in a revenue-to-cost ratio for rate 1 of 1.01.  Actually, if you break it down even further, as IGUA does in its argument, the ratio is 1.006.  


In the company's submission, this is within a reasonable band of tolerance, so there is no undue over- or under-collection from any rate class including rate 1.  As a result, the company submits the resulting rate impacts are fair and reasonable for all rate classes.


The company has already set out in its evidence in argument-in‑chief, and I have highlighted it in the written argument here but I won't repeat it, the things that go into setting a revenue-to-cost ratio and perhaps making adjustments in order to meet a variety of competing objectives, and that is what the company has done here.


The intervenors representing large volume customers, IGUA, TransAlta, and OAPPA, all strongly support the company's proposed approach.  They assert that the ratio of 1.006 for Rate 1 is sufficiently close to unity as to be acceptable.


They also point out that their clients are in the midst of absorbing rate increases associated with the final phase‑in of the transportation credits and costs and to have to absorb further costs based on reallocation would be burdensome.  


Some of the evidence they rely on for that is in Exhibit K14.4, which is behind tab 12 of the compendium.  I commend that to you, but I won't go to it.


Now, on the other hand, VECC raises some concerns about the company's proposals.  Interestingly, other groups representing Rate 1 customers, those being CCC and LIEN, don't raise these same concerns in their argument.  But in any event, VECC's concerns appear to me to fall into two categories.  


First, VECC objects to the continuation of a revenue-to-cost ratio above unity for Rate 1; and, second, VECC asserts that there is a real chance that this ratio will continue or will somehow be embedded over the pending five‑year IR term.  So that what we're really looking at is six times five million, not one times five million in terms of over-contribution being a result of the decision in this case.


In respect of VECC's first concern related to the revenue-to-cost ratio in this case being inappropriate, the company, as I have already set out, submits that its proposal is fair and reasonable.


At page 35 of its argument, VECC says that except in exceptional circumstances, revenue-to-cost ratios should be adjusted towards 1.00 where the ratio diverges from 1.00, but the fact is, in this case, the ratio of 1.006 is already at a point very close to 1.00.  There is no need to move it any closer.


As for the comment that the company should have to justify revenue-to-cost ratios that are different from 1.00, the company notes that it's already agreed to provide a narrative explanation of any changes to ratios arising in the final rate order so that parties can examine the basis for those changes, and as for the justifications for where the ratios are right now, the company has already set that out in evidence.


Now, VECC suggests in its argument that it might be appropriate for the Board to order that the clearance of the balances in the 2006 non‑commodity deferral and variance accounts somehow be directed in a way that would reduce this over-contribution.  


The company does not believe that that is appropriate.  The company doesn't believe that it is appropriate to play with the allocation of those accounts so that they're given to Rate 1 in some disproportionate way.  


These accounts will be cleared through a one-time credit on customer bills based on volumes consumed in 2006.  To allocate them differently could cause an intergenerational unfairness, and it could adversely impact some other rate classes who otherwise would have benefitted more.


It would also be difficult to determine who ought to under-recover in order that Rate 1 can over-recover from these accounts.


Ultimately, in the company's view, this approach is not warranted in a situation such as the one at hand where the revenue-to-cost ratio at issue is 1.006.


Moving to VECC's second concern, the company questions VECC's assertion that the revenue-to-cost ratio determined in this case will be baked into rates for three years ‑‑ for six years, I'm sorry.  


For starters, at this point we don't know the cost drivers that are going to play into revenue-to-cost ratios over the next six years.


Also, there is a pending proceeding to deal with rate‑setting issues for the IR term, so it is hard or impossible to know at this time what the cost and/or revenue components of the ratios will be over the IR period.


It can't be said that those ratios are going to stay in place unchanged for the next six years.


If I can get you to turn to tab 13 of the compendium - it is Exhibit K2.6 - what you will see there, under column 7, is that in every year between 2001 and 2007 the revenue-to-cost ratio has changed in terms of the ratio and in terms of the absolute amount of over- or under-contribution.  


In every year, also, you will see in columns 2 and 3 the revenues change and the costs change.


Now, it's true we don't know what the model for IR is going to be, but I think it is also fair to say that if one were in a position to be able to present the revenues and costs in any particular year of IR, the revenues will change for each rate class, the costs will change for each rate class, and therefore the ratios are going to change to some extent, or at least the absolute amount of over- or under-contribution.  


I don't think it is fair to say that what's being decided in this case is just going to stay static for the next five years.


Now, on the other hand, finally just to follow up on this issue, the company does accept if, going into or during IR, it becomes apparent that the revenue-to-cost ratios are being produced and that they are somehow unfair to Rate 1 or to some other rate class, then perhaps there may be some means to address it at that time.  But it is not appropriate to make some sort of decision now that's going to reach all of those years into the future.


Finally, one other issue.  Turning to TransAlta's argument, at pages 4 and 5 of that argument, TransAlta argues that the Board should direct Enbridge Gas Distribution to provide cost comparisons that demonstrate the impact of each individual rate change by rate class in future rate proceedings.


The company submits that this isn't a necessary thing for the Board to order in this case.  The company already follows all of the Board's filing requirements for its application, and, in my submission, the company already provides the sort of information that TransAlta is seeking.


If I could ask you to turn briefly just to tab 14 of the compendium, what is set out there is an exhibit which was filed in the most recent QRAM application of the company.


What you will see here is the company does set out, by rate class and by component, what the impact of changes will be that are being proposed in any particular proceeding.


What is set out on this schedule, for example, is the impact on each rate and on each component of the rate of the changes being implemented both through the interim rate order, which implemented the settlement proposal in this case - and that is seen, for example, at column 4 - and then also through the QRAM, which is seen at column 7.


Similarly, in a rate case the company provides voluminous information about rate impacts on every rate class as part of its filing.  And, of course, that process allows parties such as TransAlta to follow up through interrogatories or even through cross‑examination to the extent that they feel that the information is not as clear or complete as they would like.


So in all of those circumstances, the company submits there is no need for any additional order from the Board as to what ought to be provided in future.


Subject to any questions, those are the company's submissions on revenue-to-cost ratios.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stevens, just a couple of questions.  Given that -- in the rate classifications, I notice here from the exhibit you referred us to there is always an under-contribution, if you like, because of the nature of that market; correct?


MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So do I take it then, axiomatically, that the rest of the classes have to make up that difference?


MR. STEVENS:  That is absolutely true, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  So is the company's position, then, that the residential class itself would have to bear some of that -- I don't want to call it burden, but close that gap?


MR. STEVENS:  It's the company's submission that it is certainly fair for the company's largest rate class, which benefits from these additional volumes on the system, to pay some of the cost of essentially subsidizing the interruptibles.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So therefore can I conclude, then, the company's objective is never to reach a 1.00?


MR. STEVENS:  You are absolutely right, sir, that there are always factors that mean that it is not appropriate for particular rate classes to be at 1.000 for a rate class to be exactly at unity.  


MR. VLAHOS:  To the extent that it is 1.000 or less, then that rate class, you're saying, is the contribution that everybody has to make in order to keep those customers or rates 145 -- I'm sorry.  What are the interruptible classes?  145?  145 and 170, is it?  


MR. STEVENS:  I believe it is 145 and 170.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So we would not expect to see revenue-to-cost ratio of 1 or less, at least on a targeted basis by the company going forward?  


MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.  


MR. VLAHOS:  As I recall, your argument-in-chief talks about some of the concerns by the company that there may be some market pressure issues to raise the prices for the other rate classes?  


Now, my question is, to the extent the revenue deficiency may be substantially less, by virtue of the settlement proposal or what the Board may find with respect to the non-settled issues, would that give you sort of some comfort that those market pressure issues may not be as prevalent?  


MR. STEVENS:  That may be true to some extent in this case.  Part of the problem that Mr. Hoey and I were just discussing is that one never knows what the particular pressures are in a given year.  There may be different market pressures on different rate classes in a different year, so I don't think we would say categorically that your statement would apply in all years.


I think what the company has proposed is that regardless of the revenue deficiency awarded in this case, the revenue-to-cost ratios which it would seek to implement would be substantially the same as what is set out in appendix B.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  I guess my question did not relate to all years forever and ever.  We are setting rates for 2007.  


Lastly, should I be concerned, as a member of this Board or the Panel that we are further complicating, perhaps unnecessarily so, the settlement process for the rate order, by having commentary, or what you called this narrative explanation, and then that parties would feel compelled to respond to this?  


Are we adding sort of a mini-hearing to the end of this hearing, not only in this particular proceeding but in the future?  


MR. STEVENS:  I think, Mr. Vlahos, the company certainly would hope that we're not adding anything like a mini-hearing.  I think we would hope that through providing explanation and narrative what we would actually be doing is smoothing the way for a rate order to be approved more easily, because all parties would understand what's happening.  


The company isn't proposing to do anything more than explain the process it's going through to go from a Board decision to a rate order.  


There ought not to be things subject to challenge or subject to people seeking further hearing or mini-hearing.  It is simply the application of rate design and cost allocation principles.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But if I am one of the intervenor groups, then, and I don't particularly agree with the explanation you provided, therefore I would have to write to the Board and I would have to ask for some kind of process, or the Board itself will have to consider those sort of second submissions, if you like, that round of submissions. 


MR. STEVENS:  I think that is a very fair comment.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Those are my questions, Mr. Stevens.  


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  

Mr. Cass.  


MR. STEVENS:  I am afraid it is me again.  


MR. KAISER:  Oh, all right.  


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS: 


MR. STEVENS:  The next issue that I would like to turn to is degree days.  


The outline of this argument, and I apologize, it is substantially longer, is found behind tab 3 of the compendium.  


At the outset there is a recap of the company’s position.  I won't go through that.  I am sure everybody is aware of what the company is seeking in respect of this issue.  


Before moving on to talk about the intervenor submissions on an individual basis, what I would like to do is look at them on an overall basis.  I think it is instructive to do that.  While none of the intervenors have adopted or agreed with the company's position in any real or substantial way, I think what is remarkable is that intervenors also haven't come to any particular common position themselves on the matters that they raise in connection with the degree days issue.  


Turning to page 2, there is a list of the different things about which intervenors appear to disagree, based on their argument.  The first is in respect of the fundamental question of what degree day methodology should be adopted.


From the five intervenors, or six, including Board Staff who filed argument on this topic, there appear to be four different suggestions being made.  


Secondly, there is disagreement as to whether Union and Enbridge Gas should have the same degree day methodology.  Thirdly, there is disagreement as to whether Enbridge Gas Distribution ought to use different methodologies for each of its operating regions, or whether a one-size-fits-all solution makes more sense.  


There is disagreement as to whether the degree day methodology to be adopted in this case should be seen as an interim solution or something that could be more lasting.  


There is disagreement as to the importance that should be placed on the statistical evaluators like R-squared or F statistic of the regression models being used.  


Finally, there is disagreement as to whether the degree day forecast in this case should apply for one year, or for the next six years.  In my submission, it is all the more remarkable, this lack of consensus among intervenors, because of the fact that most of them apparently shared drafts of their argument before it was submitted.  They knew what each other was going to say, but it didn't bring them closer together.  The question is, well, what does this lack of consensus mean?  


In my submission, it is remarkable for the fact that none of the six parties including Board Staff submitting argument have put forward any real or substantive argument supporting the de Bever methodology, which, as you know, is the forecasting methodology that was approved for EGD back in 1990, and has at least nominally continued in place.  


In my submission, it is at least implicit in all of this that the de Bever methodology is no longer appropriate for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The question that arises, then, is what methodology or methodologies ought to be adopted in place of de Bever.  


I note, and I will note this a few times, that no other party other than Enbridge Gas Distribution chose to file evidence on this issue.  


In the course of my responses to the intervenor argument on this topic, I will submit that the answer to this question is that the evidence presented by the company supports the relief that it is seeking.  


Now, I have tried to organize my submissions in a way that doesn't lead to a whole lot of jumping around between different intervenor arguments.  The way I am going to do is by first looking at overall issues that are raised by the intervenors and then turning to look at a few individual matters that are set out in the intervenor arguments.  


At page 3 of the written document behind tab 3, I set out the outline of the common themes that I am going to address, and you can see it there.  The first one is the question of what is being determined in this case.  


As you know, the company in this case is seeking approval of the 20-year trend methodology in its central region, the Energy Probe methodology in its eastern region, and the 50/50 or Union method in the Niagara region for forecasting degree days.  The company hopes that the approval of these methodologies would continue for a number of years in order to allow this approach to be tested and observed over time.  


Intervenors have put forward a number of different alternatives in place of what the company is proposing.  But they have also raised a number of related issues in terms of the question of what should be resolved in this case.  


Most of these relate to the possibility of the Board convening a generic hearing on what is typically referred to as weather normalization questions.  


The phrase weather normalization seems to have been used in different ways by different parties in this case, so I wanted to speak to it just for a moment.  For the most part, intervenors refer to the concept of weather normalization as an approach where weather risk is taken away from the company, so it's put in a position to ultimately recover revenues in any given year based on forecast weather and associated volume forecast.


This means that if the weather is colder than forecast and volumes are higher than forecast, the company will have to return some revenue to ratepayers; and, conversely, if weather is warmer than forecast, ratepayers will have to pay additional amounts.


While there is some references in some arguments, such as in the Board Staff's argument, equating weather normalization with degree day forecasting, when I am speaking about the issue in this reply, I am going to be speaking to weather normalization as the process I have just gone through, where the revenues and rates are adjusted retrospectively.


Many intervenors, such as CCC, IGUA and VECC, advocate that there should be a generic hearing about weather normalization and that would also consider degree day methodologies.


Now, first off, the company's not opposed to the proposal that is set out in the Board's business plan that the Board would undertake a review of weather normalization opportunities.  The Board's business plan seems to schedule this for sometime between 2008 and 2010.  


The company also agrees with intervenors and Board Staff in this case that there is not sufficient evidence on the record right now for the Board to really consider this issue of weather normalization methodology and that if the Board does think that this is something that is worthy of consideration, it would be best addressed in a separate hearing.


On the other hand, however, the company does not agree that it is appropriate for this generic hearing to also consider degree day methodologies.  That's what's being considered here in this case.


The company needs approved degree day methodologies to set its budgets and rates for the test year and to plan for the future.  It's not fair, it is not appropriate to proceed, as many seem to suggest, on an interim basis.  The company has put forward ample evidence to support its position, and all parties have had a chance to test that evidence.


More importantly, in my submission, is the fact that there is no certainty in any case as to whether the Board will proceed with a generic hearing to address degree day issues, or when.  The Board's business plan says this could happen at any time up to 2010.


That means that a decision in this case ought not to be seen as interim, even if the Board were to reconsider degree days at a later time.


The company also objects to the suggestion that is made by, among others, CCC, VECC and SEC that it's appropriate to consider degree day methodology issue again later because parties will have a chance to put in more evidence at that time.


The company -- in the company's submission, all parties, including these parties, had the chance to put in evidence here, but apparently chose not to do so.


At page 5 of the written argument here, I set out some examples of things that VECC or SEC suggests could be done in a future proceeding, and rhetorically ask, Well, if it could be done in a future proceeding, why wasn't it done now?


The fact is the degree day issue was raised in the company's evidence which was filed last August, and no party chose to put in evidence in response.


In the company's submission, it is not fair for parties to be able to now say that the issue needs to be dealt with in yet another proceeding, because then they could put in evidence that they chose.


Finally, on this issue of what should be decided in this case, the company wishes to emphasize that just because there's going to be a future hearing perhaps about weather normalization techniques does not take away from the importance of determining a degree day methodology.


Energy Probe talks about this at some length in its argument, and the company adopts Energy Probe's submissions in that regard.  Simply stated, if there is going to be some sort of variance account technique where money is going to be refunded to ratepayers or additional money is going to be taken from ratepayers depending on the actual weather that is experienced, I'm sure all parties would agree that we should aim to make that variance account as small as possible.  The way to do that is to adopt weather ‑‑ or degree day methodologies that are as well suited to the company as possible.


So in conclusion on this issue, the company submits that the Board ought to choose the degree day methodologies for Enbridge Gas Distribution that it views as most appropriate, and the decision ought not somehow to be viewed as interim.


Turning to page 7 of the written outline of submissions, the next overall question or issue that comes out of the intervenor arguments is the question of:  What are the relevant factors that ought to be looked at when evaluating degree day methodologies?


The company has already set out in its evidence and argument what it views to be the relevant factors, and I would now like to respond to some things raised by intervenors.


The first relates to previous Board approvals.  IGUA, CCC and others suggested that the methodologies that perhaps ought to be considered in this case are solely those that have been previously approved by the Board.  That is certainly not the company's view.


In my submission, the whole point of the exercise of looking at a variety of degree day forecasting methodologies is to choose the best one.  If one is constrained to a binary choice between the only two methodologies that are currently approved for Ontario gas utilities, then you can't do that.


In addition, as far as the company is aware, when the Board approved the de Bever and 50/50 methodologies for EGD and Union, respectively, it didn't say that those were the only methodologies that would ever be used by Ontario gas utilities going forward.  


Instead, they were simply chosen because they were deemed to be most appropriate for those utilities at the time they were approved, in one case 17 years ago and in one case three years ago.


Further to this subject of previous Board approvals, a number of parties have indicated or suggested that because the Board already rejected the 20‑year trend methodology for Union, it's inappropriate to adopt it for Enbridge Gas Distribution in this case.


Again, respectfully, the company disagrees.  First, in my submission, the Board did not reject the 20‑year methodology in the Union case.  In that case, the Board actually found that there were advantages to the 20‑year trend and it adopted the 20‑year trend for use as 50 percent of the degree day forecasting method for Union Gas.


This can be seen in the passage of the Union Gas decision that is reproduced at paragraph 32 of CCC's argument.


Second, and in my submission even more important, in respect to the data for Enbridge Gas Distribution it is clear that the 20‑year trend is superior to other methodologies.  This conclusion is not impacted in any way by looking at the data that was considered by the Board when it looked at weather history in Union's franchise area several years ago.


A finding that the 20‑year trend was not the clear best choice for Union several years ago, in my submission, ought not to colour the evaluation of what is now best for Enbridge Gas Distribution's operating regions.


A third evaluation issue raised by parties has to do with whether there ought to be symmetry as between the degree day methodologies for Union Gas and for Enbridge.


The company does not believe this is necessary or appropriate and notes that Energy Probe shares the company's view.


Degree day forecasting is intended to come up with a prediction that is as close as possible to the weather that is going to be experienced in the coming year.


To do this, one of the things it does is takes account of trends that are observed over periods of many years in order to guess at what is going to happen in the future.  The issue is, though, that the weather trends in different areas of Ontario are different.  


You will recall that this was discussed in an exchange with the Chair on day 4 of the hearing, where the trends in the company's three different operating areas were discussed, and it could be seen that, yes, there is a warming trend everywhere, but they're different shades.  They're happening at different rates.


The company ‑‑ in the company's submission, trying to use the same weather methodology for Union and Enbridge is trying to pound a square peg into a round hole.


The company's actually gone further, as you know, and now advocates using different degree day forecasting methodologies for each of its three operating regions.


This is done so the company can use the methodology that is best suited for each region.  In this respect, the company disagrees with CCC's comment that the company's proposal is somehow a convoluted way to arrive at a good outcome for the company.  That is not what the company is doing.  The company actually made a change to its position which is disadvantageous.


In other words, the volume forecasts that the company is now seeking is actually higher than what the company was seeking coming into this case, because it came to the conclusion, through the cross‑examination in this case, that it would be appropriate to use different methodologies for each of the three regions.


As Energy Probe points out, the company already uses different inputs for the average use models in each of its regions, so it is certainly not an impossibility, by any stretch, to use different degree day inputs for each of the three regions.  And the company's evidence during the hearing was that, sure, this might add some complication, but, as Mr. Denomy said, it is certainly doable.  


Another common theme raised by intervenors has to do with the company's earnings.  


In their arguments many parties assert there is no pressing need for new degree day methodology because Enbridge Gas Distribution has not suffered from underearning under the de Bever.  The company disagrees with this, again.  


If I could ask you to turn to tab 15, please, of the compendium.  You will find there undertaking J4.5.  


In this undertaking percentage variances, in terms of degree days and in terms of ROE are set out.  What can be seen is that, generally speaking, where weather is warmer than forecast, the company has had difficulty earning its ROE.
 Turning then one page further into this tab, you will find an excerpt from exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 24.  This was evidence presented by the equity thickness panel.  


What you will see here is that over the past 14 years the company has had a cumulative underearning of $110 million as a result of the difference between the forecast and actual weather.  I note that in most of those years, except for the very most recent years on this table, the forecast weather was based on the de Bever methodology.  


In the most recent years, as Mr. Thompson points out in his argument, in IGUA's argument, the number that was settled was actually a lower number of degree days than de Bever would have produced.  


Staying with this topic, thirdly, it is presumptuous in my submission to assume, as intervenors seem to, that the company's earnings in a particular year will be influenced by weather alone.  


For example, in the years leading up to unbundling in the late 1990s, the company's earnings came from a variety of sources, not just gas distribution.  Additionally, in any event, the company's earnings will also be impacted by things like gas prices, average uses and the strength of the economy, all of which affect volumes of gas consumed by customers, none of which are necessarily affected by degree days.  


Finally, the information set out in undertaking J4.5 which I referred to does not illustrate what actually happens at the company in the years where weather is warmer than forecast.  


In those years the company is forced to undertake what is often fairly severe mitigation measures, reducing many important activities like new projects, training and necessary hiring.  


So, the earnings picture set out in this undertaking is misleading because it does not capture the full impact of weather on the company's operations.  In those warm years the company is forced to alter the nature of its operations to compensate for degree day forecasts that are overstated.  


In my submission, this is not in anybody's best interests.  


Turning, then, to the question of what evaluation criteria should be used in order to evaluate the different degree day methodologies.  Both Board Staff and Energy Probe assert that this evaluation ought to take into account the statistical testing of the models using tests like R-squared and F statistic, and the company disagrees.  


I am now at page 10 of the submissions behind tab 3, if you are following along.  


The company does not believe that these regression diagnostics are appropriate to put a lot of weight upon, because they can't even be used for many of the models under consideration.  


The problem this causes can be seen in Board Staff's submissions.  On the one hand, Board Staff submits that the R-squared and F static values for the 20-year trend model are worryingly low, and so the 20-year trend model should be questioned.  On the other hand, Board Staff proceeds to apparently endorse or express some sort of preference for the Union or 50/50 model.  That's a model that can't even be tested using R-squared or F static.  


In my submission, it is completely inconsistent to dismiss one model on the basis of regression diagnostics, but then advocate another model that can't even be tested under those.  Further, it is puzzling that Board Staff would question the performance of the 20-year trend model in terms of these tests and then turn around and endorse a model that is 50 percent comprised of the 20-year trend.  


A second reason why the regression models are not appropriate is that they don't necessarily measure very well models which do not have a particularly high degree of predictability.  While they may work well for something like the company's average use models, they're not well suited to less predictable things such as weather.  


SEC recognizes this fact in its argument.  And as explained in response to Energy Probe interrogatory 11, the fact that a model performs well in terms of regression diagnostics is in no way an indication of the forecasting ability of that model.  


Finally, on this topic, I think the evidence on this case makes clear that while some models do, relatively, a little better in terms of these regression diagnostics than others, none of the degree day forecasting methodologies do well by an objective standard using these tests.  


In my submission, that is another reason why there ought not to be much weight given to those tests.  


Instead, the company believes the appropriate way for the different models to be evaluated is the way that it set out in its evidence; in particular, as summarized at table 6 of its evidence.  


In that table, which is found behind tab 18 of the compendium, the company sets out how it uses measures of accuracy, symmetry and stability to evaluate each of the nine models under consideration.  


A couple of intervenors take issue with the company's approach in this respect.  SEC suggests, at page 18 of its argument, that the company's approach over-emphasizes accuracy.  Notably, though, SEC doesn't provide any alternate way to assess these different models.  


Instead, SEC simply says that weather is not predictable by any model, and doesn't give any alternatives.  In my submission, this is certainly not very helpful for the Board with the task at hand now.  The task is produce, or choose a methodology, rather, that will produce the best results going forward, and the best way to test that is to look at what has happened to the model over the last number of years.  


That is what the company's approach does.  


Energy Probe accepts the measures of accuracy, symmetry and stability are the proper basis for evaluation, but argues that mean percentage error, or MPE, ought not to be used as a measure for symmetry.  


Energy Probe's position is that MPE mixes both symmetry and accuracy because it evaluates the degree to which there is over- or under-forecast.  


Instead, Energy Probe asserts that the only measure of symmetry that should be used is percentage over-forecast.  The company does not agree with that because the company believes that Energy Probe's approach does not properly measure symmetry.  


To illustrate that I will provide an example.  If one were to have a model that was over by 40 percent in five different years, and then it was under by 10 percent in five other different years, one would not say the model was symmetrical.  


There is a bias towards over-forecast in that model.  Under Energy Probe's approach this model would be seen as perfectly symmetrical because it would have over-forecast just as many times as it underforecast.  


In my submission, it is important to capture both the magnitude and direction of error in a forecast in order to evaluate symmetry, and in order to do that both MPE and percent over forecast are required.  


Another issue that arises in terms of the evaluation criteria to be used is the question of how many years of data should be used for the evaluation of the various methodologies under consideration.


As the company's explained, it chose to use the period for 1990 to 2005 as the basis for these comparisons because that is the longest period for which there is data for each of the nine methodologies under consideration.  


As was explained, there are immense amounts of data going into the de Bever methodology and the results from that methodology are not known for the time period from before it was approved by the Board in 1990.


In its argument, SEC objects to this approach and suggests that a longer time period should be used.


The company has a number of reasons to disagree with this.  First, as I've just said, it is important that all methodologies under consideration be able to be compared.  The longest period during which this can be done is back to 1990.


Secondly, the company notes that SEC's counsel did ask the company, in cross‑examination, to provide information back to 1976 - so further back than 1990 - for a 30‑year period to assess the cumulative performance of all models, except for those that incorporate de Bever.


The company did so in undertaking J4.4.  If I could get you, please, to turn up tab 16, please, you will see the results of that undertaking.


In looking at this undertaking, it can be seen ‑‑ I note SEC did not refer to this at all in its argument, but it can be seen in this undertaking that with one exception for the central region, in the central region there is only one model that does better than the 20‑year trend over this period, and that model is the Naive model.  And I think, as you will appreciate, no party is advocating the use of the Naive model because of the inherent instability in that model.


So putting aside the Naive model, the 20‑year trend model does do the best over a 30‑year period, over the period for which SEC sought the ‑‑ or asked the company to provide statistical information.


Now, in its argument, SEC was apparently unsatisfied with the information in this undertaking, so it's resorted to using a model that uses data from 1943 onward.  I will have more to say more about that model in a little bit, but for the time being I would like to point out that if SEC wanted to present a model, based on this time period from 1943 on, it was incumbent on SEC to prefile evidence setting out the performance of its own and of other models over that time period, or, at the very least, SEC could have asked that the information in undertaking K4.5 be presented over the time period back to 1943, so that at least now there would be some slim basis for evaluating SEC's proposal against the others.


That takes me to the final point that I wanted to raise in terms of the evaluation criteria to be used to assess the different models.


As we have seen, this undertaking J4.4 sets out the cumulative performance of various models over a number of years.  It is similar to Exhibit K4.4, which the Chair prepared and distributed on day 4 of the hearing, and Exhibit K4.5, which SEC prepared and distributed on that same date.


Those two exhibits are found behind tab 17, the next tab of the compendium.


Those two exhibits assess the cumulative performance of various models in the company's regions from 1990 to 2005.


In my submission, every one of these charts behind these two tabs that I have taken you to support the company's choice of the 20‑year trend as the appropriate methodology for the company's central region.


No party, except for SEC, even makes reference to these charts in its argument.


SEC's reference to these charts, found at page 21 of its argument, dismisses the approach taken in Exhibit K4.4, for example, saying that it is based on an insufficient time period.  With respect, in the company's submission, this is not a fair accusation. 


 First, as I set out, that is the longest time period over which all methodologies can be compared.  Secondly, SEC itself created virtually the same chart as Exhibit K4.5, found at the second page behind tab 17, and put that chart to the witnesses in cross‑examination.


SEC then asked the witnesses to update the chart to include all of the years back to 1976, a date which SEC chose.  That's found behind tab 16.


Having been responsible for putting all of this information on the record, it seems to me that it is inconsistent and unfair for SEC to now assert the Board should disregard all of that.


Turning from that, I would like to address some of the individual arguments made by different intervenors in this case.


Turning first to Board Staff, you will have seen that Board Staff asked the company to address three matters in its reply argument.


In respect to the second matter raised by Board Staff, the company has already provided its views on the weather normalization proceeding that is contemplated in the Board's business plan.


The first and the third matters listed by Board Staff, in my submission, are related.  Board Staff asks:  Why is it not appropriate for the company to use the 50/50 methodology for all of its operating regions, considering that the company proposes this for the Niagara region?


Then in a similar vein, Board Staff also asks the company to explain why it should have a different weather normalization treatment from Union, as we enter incentive regulation.  


In that regard, I assume that by weather normalization, Board Staff is referring to degree day forecasting methodology.


The first and the simplest response to the Board Staff question is that, in the company's submission, a one-size-fits-all solution is not appropriate for degree day forecasting methodologies.  Different regions have different weather.


If you turn to tab 18 of the materials in front of you, you will see the company's evaluation of the nine different degree day forecasting methodologies for each of the central region, which is on the first page, as well as for the eastern region, which is table 6 on the third page, and for the Niagara region, which is table 6 on the fourth page.  


I won't take you through these in any detail, but what I will point out is that for the central region and for the eastern region, the 50/50 model is not the best choice.  And, indeed, if you look all three regions, no one model is the best choice for all three regions.


But the final thing I will note in that regard is that if one were to take the information on table 6 of each of these pages and aggregate it on a weighted basis, based on the volumes consumed in each, then one would arrive at the outcome that the company was advocating in the beginning of this case, which is that if one degree day methodology is to be adopted for the company's entire operating area, then the 20‑year trend is the methodology which is most appropriate.


In the company's submission, and I have already touched on this to some extent, the fact that the 50/50 methodology is approved for Union ought not to have any bearing on what is appropriate in this case.  Enbridge Gas Distribution was not part of the proceeding when the methodology was approved for Union, and the panel in that case did not consider any data pertaining to Enbridge Gas Distribution's operations or weather history.


Moreover, in my submission, there is no principled reason why weather forecasting methodologies need to be identical for both utilities.  No party in this case has presented any evidence to support that proposition.


The weather patterns in different areas appear to be different, so the forecasting methodologies may have to be different to reflect that.


In my submission, trying to impose a solution that is third or fourth best simply for the sake of consistency misses the whole point of this exercise, which is to approve one or more degree day forecasting methodologies that are most likely to result in a fair forecast of degree days for Enbridge Gas Distribution in future years.


Turning to the IGUA and VECC argument.  I will deal with those two together, since VECC essentially adopts IGUA's position in terms of degree days.


In addition to what I have already spoken about, the company has three points to make in respect of IGUA's argument.


First, in the company's submission, it is misleading and it is not correct to suggest that the current Board‑approved degree day methodology for Enbridge Gas Distribution is something called the adjusted de Bever methodology.  As far as I am aware, no other ‑‑ no such methodology has ever been presented to the Board or approved by the Board.


Instead, what has happened in the years since 2003, except for this year, is that parties in Enbridge's rate cases have reached agreement on the number of degree days to be used for rate-making purposes as part of a larger settlement package.


These agreements are not premised, as far as I am aware, certainly not explicitly, on any particular degree day forecasting methodology.


As is the case with all such settlements, there are gives and takes by all parties, and it is not appropriate to look at any one item in isolation and make conclusions from it, certainly not to make conclusions that some sort of degree day methodology has resulted.


In my submission, there is also no reason to expect that some sort of linear annual adjustment to the de Bever methodology, as proposed by IGUA, would fix the shortcomings of that model.  IGUA hasn't presented any evidence to support or set out how its model would perform in comparison to the nine methodologies tested and set out in the company's evidence.


Without that sort of evidence, the company questions how the Board could determine that IGUA's advocated approach is preferable to the alternatives.  


Now, then, turning to IGUA's approach.  If it were to be adopted in this case, which of course the company doesn't support, I would just like to set out that by the company's understanding IGUA's statement of the degree day forecasts that would be produced by that methodology are not correct.  The reason for this is that IGUA's numbers are based on Environment Canada degree days rather than gas supply degree days.  I would like to take a minute to go through this and explain it.  


On page 22 of its argument, IGUA states for test year the de Bever methodology produces a forecast of 38 to 48 degree days, and then they reduce that by 43, according to this adjusted de Bever methodology, to arrive at a proposed forecast of 3,805.  


IGUA's starting point of 3,848 degree days is taken from Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1, page 15.  That is found behind tab 19, at the second page.  


As you will see, table 9 sets out that these are Environment Canada degree days in this chart.  In order to convert them to gas supply degree days, you have to use the regression equation that's found at the next page of this compendium.  


What this does is turns the forecast from 3,848 to 3,793.  Then using IGUA's proposed method and subtracting 43 one arrives at a gas supply degree day forecast of 3,750.  


If IGUA's method were to be adopted, then subject to one more comment which I am about to make, that would be a proper forecast to use.  The other thing that I want to point out, though, is that the numbers found at table 9, which is the second page behind tab 19, are forecasts that are based on the fiscal year from October 1, 2006, to September 30, 2007.  That's set out at the very beginning, I believe, on the first page of C2, 4-1 -- it's explained that the numbers set out are fiscal year forecasts.  So, an additional change would also have to be made to the starting point for IGUA's calculations to turn the numbers on table 9 from fiscal year numbers to calendar year numbers that begin on January 1, 2007.  


It is the calendar year forecasts that the company has included in its argument-in-chief, and it's the calendar year forecasts that the company will use to implement the Board's decision in this case.  


Turning to Energy Probe's argument, I just have a few additional points that I want to make.  


First, as you would expect, Enbridge Gas Distribution agrees with the submissions at pages 4 to 10 of the Energy Probe argument that it is appropriate in this case to separately assess the appropriateness of degree day methodologies for each of the company's operating regions.  


Second, the company does not agree with the suggestion at pages 14 and 15 of Energy Probe's argument that the 20-year trend has become less reliable since it was considered in the Union Gas case.  


With respect, Energy Probe is comparing apples and oranges here, by looking at the performance of that model in the Enbridge operating zones since 2004, I believe, and then comparing that to the performance of the model in Union's operating area for the years before.  


In any event, Enbridge does not base its position on any sort of two-, three- or five-year performance of a model, but instead is looking at all of the data back to 1990.  


Finally, Energy Probe asserts in its argument that Union is actually not in a position where it is using a 50/50 methodology.  Instead its methodology is weighted 45 percent to the 20-year trend and 55 percent to the 30-year moving average, and that is what ought to be adopted by this Board should the Union methodology be approved here.  


The company disagrees with that assertion.  


Union, as you know, is moving towards a 50/50 state.  The only things slowing it down are suggestions made by parties at the time the methodology was approved about rate shock.  As far as I am aware, these rate shock concerns have not been raised in this case, and so there is no reason why one would not go immediately to 50/50, if that was the methodology to be approved.  


The final intervenor argument to address is that of the School Energy Coalition.  


As I was getting ready to present this argument, I had some difficulty responding to Schools, and the main reason for that is that much of the information found in the SEC argument is in fact actually new evidence.  It's not really just an argument.  


At the top of page 17 of the written outline of these submissions, I set out five different examples of evidence being presented by SEC in its argument, and that includes a model showing the slope of 20-year trend methodologies over the years for 1962 to 2006, and it includes a proposed new interim methodology that uses six-year periods and historical degree days from 1943 onward, to set a degree day forecast for the next six years from the present.  


As I have said, none of these examples come from the evidentiary record in this case.  And because none of this was in the evidentiary record in this case, the company has not had an opportunity, or an appropriate opportunity, to examine, test and understand this evidence.  


The Board has also not had an opportunity to observe and question witnesses presenting any of this evidence.  Finally, other parties have not been provided with the opportunity to present their views or to cross-examine on SEC's new evidence.  


With respect, in the company's submission this new evidence is not at all the proper subject of argument at this stage, and little or no weight should be given to it.  


At paragraph 2.2.38 on page 12 of its argument, SEC makes a critical comment about the company's response to Undertaking J4.6.  You may recall that is the undertaking where SEC asked the company to set out information about six-year trends or six-year blocks of degree day information over the last number of years, perhaps even back to 1943.  I'm sorry, I don't remember how far back it went.  


In any event SEC criticizes the company's response and says that it wasn't prepared correctly.  Of course, the company answered the question in the way they thought it was being asked and did the best it could.  But the more important point that comes out of this is that it underscores the complexity of the approach that SEC now advocates.   And it highlights that if SEC wanted to put forward such a new approach now, it was incumbent and necessary for SEC to explain and support that methodology in evidence and present it to the Board at that time, rather than as a question in cross-examination or in final argument.  


Moving to the substance of SEC's submissions, I have a few responses.  


First, there is a suggestion at page 8 of the SEC argument that one of the things that we, quote, "know for sure" is that degree day forecasts established in 2007 will be in effect for six years, apparently because of IR.  


In my submission we don't know that for sure, and that was also Mr. Ladanyi's evidence.  


As far as I am aware, the inputs for IR, including maybe even degree days, haven't yet been determined.  The approach for IR hasn't yet been determined.  Additionally if intervenors are successful in the position they're setting out in their argument in this case, that the Board’s generic hearing on weather normalization should also look at degree day forecasting methodologies, there is another reason for us to doubt whether whatever forecast is set in this case will apply for six years.  In my submission simply there is not a thing we know for sure.  


At pages 15 to 23 of its argument, SEC sets out the reasons why it says the 20-year trend methodology does not meet any test of appropriateness.  


Much of this argument is based on the new evidence prepared and presented by SEC dating back to 1943.  Of course, none of this was presented during the hearing.  


Equally significant, in my submission, is the fact that SEC does not address the company's evidence which objectively measures the performance of various methodologies over the past 16 years and shows the 20-year trend to be the best for the company's central region.  SEC simply says, well, 16 years is too short.  SEC also, as I've said, apparently dismisses the response to Undertaking J4.4, which it requested, and which shows that the 20‑year trend performed very well in the 30‑year period back in 1976.


At page 11 and in other places in its argument, SEC advocates using a six-year approach to set degree days.  One additional point that I want to make about this is that there is no indication anywhere in SEC's argument that there is any regulatory or statistical precedent for using such an approach.  I am informed by the company's witnesses that they're not aware of any statistical justification for such an approach.


Now, moving to the results of SEC's proposed methodology, you can see immediately that it produces a higher degree day forecast than almost any of the methodologies considered by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


SEC's forecast for the test year for the central region is for 3,862 gas supply degree days and that is ‑‑ which is equivalent to 3,894 Environment Canada degree days, by my math.  That 3,894 can be compared to the numbers set out in the chart behind the second page at tab 19 to see how it is higher than almost any of the other methodologies.


In my submission, it is notable that SEC has not made any attempt to compare the historical results of its approach to other models.  As far as I am aware, from my review of SEC's argument and the spreadsheets presented in support, SEC hasn't even provided the actual degree day forecasts for each six‑year period that its model would produce in order that others could take those results and compare them to different methodologies.


Instead, SEC simply provided a graph setting out the trend line of its method, as well as the raw data that it used to derive that graph.


And that graph can be seen if you turn behind tab 20 of the compendium.


Looking at that graph, what is telling is the propensity of SEC's methodology to over-forecast degree days, and that can be seen on this graph here.


As I understand this graph, the straight line represents the trend, and so it is from the straight line that one takes the six-year forecast of degree days and the moving line sets out the actual weather over the period from 1948 through to the present.


What jumps out at you looking at this graph is if you are to draw a line straight up from 1988 and just look at the trend line versus actual weather from 1988 to the present, you will see that actual weather has been substantially warmer than what would have been predicted by SEC's methodology.


This should be compared with the 20‑year trend method, which, according to Exhibit K4.5, the exhibit SEC introduced during the hearing, there is only a 0.19 percent variance from actual degree days on a cumulative basis from 1990 to 2005 for the 20‑year trend in the central region.


Now, because SEC didn't provide the annual degree day forecast resulting from its model in the 1990 to 2005 period, we can't come up with a comparable cumulative number, but I think it is fair to say it will be hugely higher than 0.19 percent.


What is clear, looking at this chart, is that if SEC's proposed methodology had been in place during the last two decades, the company would have endured 20 years of consistent degree day over-forecasts.  In my submission, that is not a fair or reasonable outcome.


So, in conclusion, having gone through the arguments of the other parties, I come back to the proposition I began with.  No party has made a compelling argument for maintaining the status quo, which I say or which has been seen as the de Bever methodology.


In my submission, it is therefore up to the Board now in this case to adopt one or more new methodologies for Enbridge Gas Distribution and, in my submission, the argument and evidence filed by the company supports the relief it is seeking in that respect.


Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one question, Mr. Stevens.  I just want to ensure I understand your understanding of the -- what is to be in scope on the hearing that is highlighted in the business plan and has been referred to in some of the submissions.


I want to go back to your comments when you differentiate between the terminology in your reply, go into a little more detail on how you see the difference between the proposed degree day establishment versus weather normalization.  


Could you just expand on that, just to make sure I am clear as to what you envision or what you think is going to be entailed, or what should be entailed or in scope on the generic going forward.


MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.


The starting point is page 8 of the Board's 2007 to 2010 business plan.  On that page, the performance measure in issue is ‑‑ says that:

~"You will see that we have succeeded in meeting this objective..." 

- and the objective being policy harmonization - 

"... when the OEB has completed a review of weather normalization methodologies."


So of course it is not particularly laid out or set out there.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Hmm‑hmm.


MR. STEVENS:  But in the company's view, what's been talked about in this case as a broader issue and what is an issue that has never been considered is this question of whether or not some sort of process or method ought to be put in place to take weather risk away from the company or the utility, and that is what the company sees as being part of this hearing.  


For the reasons that I have set out, the company doesn't really see degree day forecasting as a generic hearing.  It would be properly the subject of a hearing like that.


One would adopt the degree day methodology that's best for each utility so that, as I say, the variance would be as small as possible, and then one would determine on a generic basis, perhaps, how best to deal with the variance on a year-by-year basis and what methodology should be adopted for that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What would the ‑‑ does the company have an opinion on whether or not the question of weather normalization should more appropriately be reviewed in the IR proceeding in looking at the inputs?


[Enbridge counsel confer]


MR. QUESNELLE:  To be specific, I am not talking about degree days.  I am talking about whether or not you are looking at variance or not.


MR. STEVENS:  I think it is fair to say that that is a place it could be determined, to the extent that issues are being looked at generically for both gas utilities.


I suppose, from my own personal perspective, the only concern I might have with that is the growing size of the docket for the IR proceeding and making sure that it is manageable, given the time frames that we are dealing with.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stevens, if this ultimately evolved that you had an adjustment - I think there was reference to the Terasen Gas case and Dr. Booth gave some evidence on that - and if that was to be considered in this generic proceeding that we are now discussing, does it really matter what the forecasting methodology is?  


It's going to get adjusted, in any event, corrected year in and year out to the actual, isn't it?


MR. STEVENS:  I think there are several reasons why it matters.


The first reason has to do with the fact that customers are going to want to pay as close as possible attention to the actual ultimate rates at the time ‑‑ in the year that they're being paid.  And to the extent that there is a really warm year, customers probably won't be very happy to have paid 15 percent extra, and then have to wait a year to get that back.  Conversely, customers will be very unhappy in a cold year to think that their gas bills were remarkably low only to find out the next year they have to pay more.


The second issue that comes up, of course, is intergenerational issues.  What do you do with customers who are new or old on the system?  How do you allocate the extra money that's been collected from a customer who is no longer on the system, or the opposite that comes out from that?


The third issue I think has to do with ‑‑ or a third aspect of this has to do with just the regulatory processes.


One can imagine that a process to allocate amounts in a variance account is probably going to be more heated, longer and more involved if there is a huge amount of money in that account as opposed to if it's a small amount, so I think that is another reason why it is preferable to come up with a forecast that you hope is going to be as close as possible.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stevens, just to follow up in the same area, is the company's position that the Board should not be entertaining the British Columbia PUC approach?  


MR. STEVENS:  I think the company's position is that it is not appropriate to make that decision in this proceeding, that there is insufficient evidence on the record.  But the company certainly takes no position, it would be -- on whether it is appropriate for a generic hearing to consider that, and the company would of course be an active participant in such a hearing.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And part of Mr. Quesnelle's point, this weather normalization initiative, can that be expanded to incorporate the degree day forecast methodologies; i.e., whether there should be a variance account associated with that initiative.  Can we add that variance account model into the normalization initiative?  


MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry, maybe I am a little confused by your question.  


I think when we have been thinking of a normalization initiative it has been an idea of whether it is appropriate to have a variance account model, or something like Terasen Gas has.  Our thought is the degree day methodology would be established in this case, but the question of how variances would be dealt with would be something that would be considered in the subsequent case.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I understand you now.  


Even though, as you pointed out, the lack of, I guess you call it consistency among the intervenors as to what ought to be the appropriate degree day forecasting model, if the Panel were in a position that it found it extremely difficult to make a decision - not that the Panel or the Board is shy to make those difficult decisions - but what would be your position if this Panel said, We will pick any one for now and let's set up a variance account for this fiscal year and no more until the matter is further reviewed; would the company have a position on that?  


[Enbridge counsel confer]  


MR. STEVENS:  I think, Mr. Vlahos, that it is an approach that could be adopted.  The company does have a few concerns with it.  First, as I've set out, I think in the company's view there is an ample record here to allow a decision to be made, and the company is not aware that that record is going to be particularly different or better in a subsequent proceeding.  


Secondly, there are some concerns as to how such a variance account would collect revenues and how they would ultimately be dispersed, and I would be concerned about the disagreements and the process that would have to be put in place to resolve those disagreements at a time that this account was to be cleared.  


I would question whether we would really be able to get consensus or buy-in from all parties about how the account would actually work, what would go in it, to whom the proceeds would be cleared, at what time, and in what manner, et cetera.  I am just concerned about the logistics in that respect.  


MR. KAISER:  But isn't it simply the difference between actual and forecast?  Can't that be calculated after the fact?  


MR. STEVENS:  It can be calculated after the fact.  


As I was speaking about the impact of weather on revenues, I raised the point that it may be overly simplistic to say that all overages or underages in terms of volumes are weather-related.  Because of that, there may be disagreements as to what the actual weather impact would be of a different number of degree days.  


Again, those are the sorts of issues I have no doubt would be dealt with in detail through a generic process, but there simply isn't any evidentiary record, nor has there been any real discussion in this case about how such a process might work.  


MR. KAISER:  I would have thought, from your perspective, from the utility's perspective, and other parties may not agree with this, that if, as Mr. Vlahos says, there is uncertainty about what forecast you used - you used the same one for all, or three different, or half of this or half of that; there are lots of them bouncing around here - and if, within that context the Board was of the mind to have the generic hearing that we have just discussed, if you knew there was a variance account that was going to protect you, it would reduce your risk at a minimum, wouldn't it, from us coming up with yet another wrong forecasting technique? 


MR. STEVENS:  I agree with you, I think there are certainly some attractive aspects to it.  I do recall when this issue came up during the hearing Mr. Ladanyi saying that he didn't think it would be good for him to be speaking about the company's policy on the stand.  I can go further than that and say as the company's lawyer, not even an employee of the company, it is not a particularly good idea for me to speak on the company's policies on these sorts of aspects. 


MR. KAISER:  I was just saying it would reduce the risk to the utility if the technique that Mr. Vlahos has suggested were put in place.  


MR. STEVENS:  I think at a high level that's right.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Further to that, Mr. Chair.  We have been asked to evaluate a lot of evidence that goes to the accuracy of these models, and we are arriving at variances.  Those variances are based on degree days.  


Your suggestion now that there are other things that would affect the volumes that would be difficult to pull out, are you suggesting there would be a different set of evidence we would look at to dispose of the variance account, different from what was looked at to judge the accuracy of these different models?  


MR. STEVENS:  I am not sure that that is true.  And I apologize if I created some confusion.  The point I was making was that, to the extent that anything to do with this variance account we are talking about is somehow driven off the company's total revenues, and ultimately the company's total return, and how that is impacted by weather, that there are other things going into the mix at that point.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Surely we would not be looking at the variance from expected revenues.  We would be looking at variance from expected degree days and how that flows to volumes.  That's what we have been looking at to date, difficulty seeing how it would become cloudy if all of a sudden it was to dispose of a variance account as opposed to what we have been looking at to judge the accuracy of these different models. 


MR. STEVENS:  I think you are right, sir.  If it is completely volumes-related, then degree days are an input into that and they could be isolated.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Just to add to that.  This would not be different from what the company is doing now when it normalizes data for purposes of presenting this to the Board for setting rates.  It goes through exactly the same exercise, where it normalizes the weather data, so that it can file it before the Board.  


[Enbridge counsel confer]  


MR. STEVENS:  I think that's a fair statement of what would happen.  The concern that I want to raise again is the company expects that there could be a huge level of scrutiny attached to what would happen to what might turn out to be a huge amount of money in this deferral account or variance account.  


It is just concerned of how that would be dealt with going forward.  Conceptually there are a lot of positive aspects to it, as we have set out, that would leave the details of course.


MR. KAISER:  That would also deal with the formula.  You recall in the Terasen case they didn't adjust it year on year.  They had a smoothing formula.  They were constantly smoothing it as they went on.  They just didn't make a year-on year-end adjustment and take the hit every year.  They had a rolling adjustment.


MR. STEVENS:  And I am sure, sir, that there are models that could be adopted that would work quite well, and hopefully those are the sorts of things that would be addressed through a generic hearing proceeding.


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess you were speaking to or the Chair was speaking, I guess, in terms of how you smooth out any variance that has been calculated.


Your concern, Mr. Stevens, is the calculation of that variance; right?


MR. STEVENS:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. KAISER:  But the calculation of the variance, as Mr. Quesnelle just said, it is the difference in degree days between actual and forecasted.  What could be simpler?


MR. STEVENS:  One would hope it would be very straightforward.  In a year where weather was quite different from forecast, one could also expect that because of the huge money at issue, that a lot of arguments would come up as to why it should be one way different or another way different.


We see that in the relatively small amounts in the deferral accounts that are at issue in this case.  Money gets people's attention.


MR. VLAHOS:  But either way, I mean directionally, assuming that, you know, the weather is ‑‑ you can take colder or warmer, from the company's perspective, that risk is taken away.  The question is whether all of the risk, 100 percent, can be taken away by the precision of that formula this first time around.  Isn't that what the issue is?  Isn't that what it boils down to?


MR. STEVENS:  I think that is where we would get to.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. STEVENS:  I'm just not certain whether we are there yet.


MR. KAISER:  Well, perhaps we will take the morning break, Mr. Cass, and come back and hear you.  

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:30 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:50 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Cass.  


MR. KAISER:  Not yet?  


MR. STEVENS:  I am afraid it is still me, sir. 


MR. KAISER:  I feel like a Russian doll.  You just keep popping up.      

MR. STEVENS:  We're saving Mr. Cass for the best.  


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  The next topic I want to speak to you briefly about is found behind tab 4 of the compendium and relates to the average uses in gas volume budget.  


Generally speaking, intervenors have not taken issue with very much of the company's evidence on these issues.  


In respect of the contract volume budget, the only party to make any comment on that is IGUA, who said that although they didn't take issue with the budget, it would have to be adjusted for whatever degree day methodology or methodologies is adopted, and of course the company agrees with that.  


Then that takes us to the general service volume budget and the average use models which underlie it.  Again, parties generally didn't take any issue with the average use models themselves.  The one point of contention that came out relates to the gas price input into those models.  It's that which I want to address and speak to today.  


Intervenors assert that the gas price forecast input that is used is too high and ought to be adjusted.  As you know, this input dates from August 2006, when the budget was put together.  There are really two aspects, to my reading, to the position taken by intervenors.  


One relates to the choice of what gas price forecasts should be used; in other words, where should it be taken from, what source?  The other relates to the timing of the forecast to be used; in other words, when should we choose as the time from which we will pull the gas for price forecast?  


Turning to the first of those, the question of what forecast should be used, in terms of what should be the source, the company explained in its evidence and testimony that consistent with its previous filings, consistent with the approach it has taken for the last number of years, it uses objective and unbiased forecasting information taken from the latest available gas price forecast from external and professional energy experts.  


These forecasts are based upon fundamental factors such as market dynamics, supply and demand, storage, et cetera, and they're widely used by oil and gas companies across North America.  


Turning to tab 21 of the compendium, in response to CCC interrogatory number 27, you will see the list of natural gas price forecasts which were available.  This is on page 2 on table 1.  This is the list of forecasts that were available at the time that the company prepared its gas volume forecast.  


What the company did at that point was it picked the most recent forecast, which was from April 25, 2006.  And you will see that there was a choice of two.  PIRA Energy Group is the source.  PIRA had a forecast for NYMEX futures and for Henry Hub spot.  The company chooses Henry Hub spot because it is more comparable.  There are more sources to look at, in terms of the Henry Hub spot price.  


What you can see from this list, though, in my submission, is that when the company put together its budget, it didn't cherry-pick the best possible forecast.  It didn't pick the forecast that worked best for its budget.  In fact, there were ten different forecasts available.  The company picked the lowest price increase forecast out of those ten.  


Now, VECC and Energy Probe say that the company should instead be somehow using the reference prices that come out of the QRAM applications as a gas price forecast input into the average use models.  


The company doesn't think that is appropriate or possible, frankly.  The company's average use models require a forecast of how prices will change during a test year.  As you know, in order for the company to file an application for the test year, it must put together the budgets many months in advance of the test year.  So if the company was simply to take the QRAM reference price that existed at the time of filing, there would be no reason to expect or think that that would be an accurate representation of what the price is going to look like by the end of the test year that is under consideration.  


Instead, the company uses forecasts from external price energy forecasters such as PIRA and the others listed on the table I have just taken you to, who provide annual gas price forecasts on a regular and objective basis.  


In the company's submission, if the QRAM reference prices were to be used, this would not, in any way, reflect the expectation of what's going to happen to gas prices during the test year.  


Simply QRAM reference prices are just a snapshot at a point in time of what the actual gas price is at that moment, and what would be charged over the next three months.  They're subject to change at the next year end.  By their nature they change four times every year.  So while QRAM reference prices are used as the basis for calculating gas supply charges during a particular quarter, they're not used after that time and they're not meant to reflect what is going to happen.  


In the company's submission, if these prices were to be used as an input into the average use forecasts, what we would have is almost like what we saw with the degree day model in terms of a Naive model.  We would simply be assuming that whatever the price is today is what it's going to be next year.  In my submission, that is not reasonable.  


So, the company submits that it is fair and appropriate and consistent with past and best practice that it should continue to use objective third-party price forecasts rather than QRAM reference prices when it is getting the gas price forecast input for the average use models.  


The second point raised by intervenors is that the gas price forecasts in this application, which date from the time that that budget was put together, April 2006, should be updated.  Intervenors assert that there have been material changes in the forecast price for gas in the time since April 2006, so it is appropriate to make an update.  


The company disagrees.  


First of all, the nature of forward year cost of service regulation is that all of the company's budgets are set on a forecast basis and then submitted to the Board for approval.  


Since the typical rate proceeding takes something like ten months from the date of application to the date of decision, it is always the case that there is more up-to-date information about many of the inputs into the budgets being considered by the time the Board hears arguments and renders a decision.  


If an applicant was required to update the input into its budgets at the time of argument, in my submission it would make the process unreasonably cumbersome, and arguably never-ending.  It would also render much of the prefiled evidence and the interrogatory responses and indeed the testimony moot and out of date.  


Now, it might be less cumbersome for the company to selectively update only a few budgets as price forecasts,   but again, in my submission it is not appropriate that the company should be required to update specific inputs into the budgets.  


This would result in a situation where some information is more current than others.  It would also present a misleading picture.  And in my submission, it is really nothing more than opportunism on the part of intervenors to single out for updating one of a multitude of drivers in the company's budgets, because that would ultimately drive down rates.  


One can be sure, or pretty sure, that intervenors would not be raising this issue of an update if they perceive that gas prices were increasing more than the company had forecast.  


In my submission, this sort of cherry-picking should not be encouraged or endorsed.  


I will provide a brief example.  In this case, if the intervenor argument was accepted and a more recent lower gas forecast was used by way of update, in isolation from updates to any other factors or input into the budgets, then the result would be misleading and unfair to the company.  


Now, this can be seen in the fact that while some gas price forecasts have indeed declined since April 2006, there have been other offsetting changes.  The most significant of these changes is the fact of the remarkably warm winter in 2006.  That winter produced an abnormally low number of degree days.  Currently, the 2006 degree day data is not included in the calculation of degree days for 2007, which the company has presented in this case.  


If the company was to do an update on that basis and include the 2006 degree days in the calculation of 2007 degree day forecasts, then regardless of what model is used as between the 20‑year trend, de Bever, Energy Probe or the Union methodology, then the degree day forecasts for the test year would be substantially lower than what the company is proposing.  But the company hasn't done this, as you know. 


But in any event, if this were to happen, if the degree days were to be updated, then it would likely more than offset the impact of using updated gas price forecasts, according to what I have been told.


Now, a related problem that arises with the intervenor proposal for updating gas price is the question of, Well, when does the evidentiary phase of a hearing end?  In their argument, VECC and Energy Probe rely on information from the company's April 1, 2007 QRAM application, which, in their submission, shows the gas prices are not rising.


This information was not available at the time the company's witnesses gave testimony on this issue.  It certainly wasn't presented or discussed in front of the Board in terms of its impact on gas volume budgets.


On the other hand, if you turn back to tab 21 and the third page behind that tab, you will see undertaking J3.6.  This undertaking sets out an update of the gas price forecast of the same publishers as the company used when it set its budget in April of 2006.


What this shows is that as of January 26th, 2007, PIRA was still forecasting a 14.4 percent gas price increase, 2007 over 2006.


If nothing else, it is clear that gas price forecasts are always going to be changing and that if the Board decides that it's going to rely on whatever projections or information are available today, the day of reply argument, then it can be certain that this information is going to be stale and the forecasts are going to be different by the date that the decision is rendered.


In the company's submission, the fairest approach and the approach that's consistent with what's happened before and what's been approved before is to reject the call for selective updates and rely, instead, on the consistent information that was available at the time that the company prepared its application.


Now, to the extent that the Board is inclined to have the company implement some updates, I have just a few additional comments to make.


First, in my submission, it's not appropriate to assume, as VECC and Energy Probe appear to, that gas prices will not increase and will, in fact, go down during the test year.   The information that I have just shown you set out on undertaking J3.6 confirms the ten different publishers or ‑‑ there's ten different forecasts from independent publishers, all of whom are saying that gas prices are going to go up by at least 7.8 percent, and all of these are forecasts dating from between October 2006 and January 2007.


Second, the company wishes to point out that the Board should approach the estimates in the intervenor arguments about the volumetric impacts of using gas price forecasts with caution.  These estimates are, we suspect, based at least in part on the company's shortcut approximations in undertaking responses of the impacts of using different gas price forecasts through the average use models.


What will happen after the actual decision in this case is the company will rerun its average use models, taking account of any changes that are ordered by the Board.  It is only through this process the actual volumetric and revenue deficiency impact of the changes of the inputs into these models can be determined with precision.


Third, in the event that the Board does determine that updates to the gas price forecast is appropriate, the company submits that this update should incorporate the company's own updated gas price change forecast that it set out and explained at undertaking J5.2.  That's found behind tab 22 of the compendium.


What you will see, if you turn to page 2, is that as of the date that this undertaking response was prepared, the company's most up‑to‑date information was that gas prices would rise approximately 15 percent in the test year, and that's to be compared with the 20 or 23 percent which was contained in the original filing.


Contrary to Energy Probe's assertions, this undertaking does set out a fair representation of the forecast gas price increases for the test year that would be an input into the average use models.  The company has used the same objective gas price forecasting sources as it has used in the past, and it's prepared these numbers on the same basis that it prepares its other forecasts.  


There is no subjectivity here and no attempt to prop up the number, as Energy Probe might suggest.


Finally, to the extent that the Board does determine that it is appropriate to update gas prices in this case, as an input into the average use models, the company submits that it is fair and appropriate in those circumstances that 2006 actual degree days be included in the determination of what the 2007 degree day forecast ought to be that will be used by the company.


If one is to be updated, it is only fair the other should be, also.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stevens, just one question.  I can't recall the evidence we heard, but was there a consensus that there is -- I guess there is a material, statistically significant variation in demand, given a change in price; in other words, the price was due to demand.  That discussion, was it -- is there an issue in anybody's mind, in the company's mind or the intervenors', that such elasticity is not material?


MR. STEVENS:  I don't believe, Member Vlahos, that anybody asserted that the impact of gas prices would be material on demand.  It is less material than degree days, but it is more material than many of the inputs into the average use models.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I believe I am next on deck, and I will be dealing with issues 3.12 and 3.13, which are deferral and variance accounts.  


There is only a couple that are actually the subject of opposition by intervenor groups, and I will turn first to the Alliance-Vector appeal cost deferral account.


One of the arguments made, and there were only several in opposition of the clearance of this deferral account, is the alleged lack of evidence put forward by the company to support the amounts recorded in the account.  


We're referring to documentary evidence, because we did have witnesses obviously that appeared.


All of the amounts, as stated in evidence, reflect the external legal fees incurred and the disbursements by the company in respect of the appearance and preparation for the Court of Appeal leave application, the actual attendance at the appeal before the Court of Appeal and the leave application to the Supreme Court of Canada.


In our argument, we noted that none of the intervenors explained why they did not request production of the documentation they say would have been necessary for them to examine the amounts recorded, and there was no response to that.  Indeed, they did have the opportunity, at the very latest, immediately prior to the company's witnesses attending or as an undertaking at the proceeding, but they did not ask for that.


We submit that it is somewhat disingenuous to suggest that the lack of production of detailed invoices and receipts and all of the paperwork that would underlie the amounts that the company paid is inconsistent with the nature of a cost-of-service rate filing, and it is not something that either the Board, the company or we believe the intervenors would support, in that it would extremely, to a great extent, add to the volume of material that would be presented in each case and something that is not desirable.


More importantly, perhaps, is the fact that if ‑‑ and it was CCC that raised this, predominantly, is that if the position that the alleged failure to produce all of the detailed paperwork underlying the amounts recorded in this account is sustained, it in fact, then, acts as a precedent or an incentive to other intervenors to sit back, not request the documentation, and then to argue at the end that there has been insufficient documentary evidence before the Board and, therefore, say you should reject the clearance of the accounts.  


And that, we submit, would amount to really procedural unfairness, in that the decision the Board should make should be on the basis of the record, not innuendos about what the record would be had the intervenors in fact requested it.


CCC and intervenors that opposed the clearance of this account also did not respond to an important point made by the company in its argument-in‑chief, which is to the reasonableness of the costs that are recorded in the account.  It's important for me to once again highlight that the costs that are recorded in there only relate to the external counsel's involvement in the leave application to the Court of Appeal, the Court of Appeal attendance and the leave application to the Supreme Court of Canada.  It did not include the initial Divisional Court appeal.  There are no costs or disbursements included in that account for those numbers.  The company submits that that goes to the reasonableness of the numbers that are there.  


We would also like to add to that as we interpret the decision - and we suggest CCC would agree with this, and I will explain why in a second - that based upon the Board's decision in EB-2005-0001 and the principles enunciated in that decision the company is at least eligible to have requested recovery of its costs in the Divisional Court appeal.  It did not do that, and we say, therefore, that speaks to the reasonableness of the costs there.  


In terms of CCC's position on that particular submission, CCC actually accepted in its argument and acknowledged that the company does meet at least some of the principles set out in the Board's decision in the 2006 rates case.  If that is true - and it's saying that of course in respect to the leave application of the Court of Appeal and subsequently - if it's true in respect of those levels of the appeals, it would also be true in respect to the Divisional Court appeal.  


Turning specifically to some of the submissions made by CCC, they first quoted the very first principle enunciated by the Board in its decision in the 2006 rates case, and I quote:

~"The question of the prudence of the expenditure is not dependent on the success or failure of the review pursued by EGD."

That's at paragraph 56 (a) of the Decision with Reasons.  Interestingly, after CCC quotes from the Board's decision, only four paragraphs later it invites the Board to violate that very principle.  Now, it is talking in this instance about the costs that have been recorded in respect of the company's involvement in the request for leave from the Supreme Court of Canada.  But it, in effect, states that by reason of the Supreme Court of Canada refusing leave, that the Board should automatically assume and take the position that the company should not be entitled to recover its costs.  In effect it is saying the success or failure of the leave application should determine whether or not the company is entitled or eligible to recover its costs at that level.  


It should be noted that the Supreme Court of Canada does not, as a matter of policy, issue reasons when a party applies for leave and it's not granted.  Therefore, there is no basis, there is nothing you can look at from the Supreme Court which would give any justification for the Board to deny recovery of the costs associated with that.  


To the contrary, it is the company's position and the evidence supports a finding that the company had a reasonably held belief that it would be entitled and would receive approval from the Supreme Court of Canada on the leave application.  There are two reasons for that, and these are the tests that the Supreme Court of Canada use which make them matters of public importance.  First of all, we did have conflicting opinions between the Divisional Court, which sustained the company’s position, and the Court of Appeal, which did not.  Secondly, there was an issue raised involving a regulatory body's use of hindsight in the determination of prudence, and that is an issue that has application across the country.  So the company did have a reasonably held belief that it would be granted leave.  


Another position taken by CCC, which we submit subverts the principles enunciated by the Board in its prior decision, is CCC's suggestion that the Board accept some but not all of the concepts which exist in the assessment of costs as between litigants before the Supreme Court of Justice.  I should note that certainly many of my colleagues over the years have devoted a substantial amount of their practice to litigation as between parties trying to recover their costs, and that's done in a mini-trial type procedure before an assessment officer of the court.  There are substantial texts that have been written on the subject.  One of them is Orkin on costs; that alone has in excess of 800 pages.  The Rules of Practice have pages upon pages of precedent cases that apply.  It is an area of quite some complexity.  As well, the law relates to different levels of the costs recoverable and CCC only referred to two, the first being the partial indemnity basis, which they are suggesting is appropriate.  They did mention but did not go into detail another level, which is a higher level, which is the substantial indemnity level, and they completely neglected one which is provided for under the rules, which is the full indemnity level.  Our submission simply is this, the Board should be very wary of trying to enter into the world of litigant cost assessments.  


The company submits that the costs it incurred retaining external counsel are under the broadly accepted rate-making principles recoverable in rates because they are a cost of doing business.  It was necessary for them to retain outside counsel and to respond to the Board's appeal, and it is, therefore, an appropriate expense under normal rate-making principles.  


CCC argues that, in effect, by reason of its inability to participate in the appeal process - this is at the Divisional Court and higher levels, that because of their lacking of funding somehow that should have a bearing on whether or not this Board should allow the company to recover its costs incurred.  The company obviously submits that we don't accept that.  But we also find it somewhat surprising, in that each of the ratepayer groups - in fact, all of the parties to any of the prior proceedings - are, in fact, properly and adequately represented in any appeal, and that the Board has the internal staff and resources.  It retains outside external counsel which did appear on the Board's behalf before the Divisional Court and Court of Appeal.  And it has the sophistication and expertise to support its prior decision.  


Therefore, the public interest is fully protected, without the need for other intervening parties to pile on from the perspective of the appeals.  Whether or not they would even be granted leave is another question, because the first thing I would imagine the judge would ask is,  why are you here?  Is it necessary?  Isn't the Board capable of doing it themselves?  


Finally, on this account, it should be noted that all of the costs that were incurred by the Board in terms of external counsel's fees will be ultimately passed on to the company and they will ultimately be flowed through to rates.  The company respectfully submits that responding to an appeal that was initiated by the Board, it should not be denied recovery of its costs, particularly when it knows that those costs incurred by the appellate regulator will in fact be recovered.  


The only other deferral account, sir, that is somewhat in issue, and I will be very brief, is the electric program earnings sharing deferral account.  While no intervenor opposes the clearance of the account, there was some concern expressed about the amount of paperwork that was produced in support of the amounts recorded, even though the amounts were very nominal.  


Just for the record, we want to indicate it will remain the company's practice, in future cost of service rate applications, that it does not plan on filing every piece of paper that supports all of the numbers that are recorded in an account.  Certainly it will respond to appropriate requests for production and I will make witnesses available to answer questions in respect to that.  But we don't believe that that is a criticism that really has any merit.  


The other point was that, as the Board did require in the DSM generic proceeding, in future years the internal costs that are incurred by the company will be done on a fully allocated basis, and in respect of external costs, which make up the majority of the costs that are recorded in that account, they have and will continue to be charged out on a full cost recovery basis.  


Therefore the company is not forecasting anything material in terms of the actual revenues that will be generated that will be net of those costs.  


There are two GDAR accounts, the 2005 and 2006 accounts.  There was no intervenor that expressed argument in support of not clearing those accounts, so it would appear that parties are on side with the clearance of those two accounts.  


There is the 2007 carbon dioxide offset credit deferral account, which is the establishment of an account that the company has requested that it be established.  No intervenor has suggested that that is inappropriate.  So we respectfully submit that approval is appropriate. 


In respect to the 2006 unbundled rate implementation cost deferral account, our only submission is that there appears to be perhaps on IGUA's part some confusion as to the difference between that and the 2007 unbundled rates customer migration variance account.  This latter account which I am referring to captures the revenue impact due to customer migration.


The unbundled rate implementation cost deferral account, both the 2006 for which there is no opposition to the clearance of the amount, and for 2007, it captures the costs associated with the implementation, not the revenue impact.  We just wanted to make that clear.  


Both the 2007 rate implementation deferral account and the rate customer migration variance account were the subject of a settlement agreement, and the amounts that are recorded in that will be the subject of Board review in the future and disposed of at that time.


Finally, the last matter, which actually is a settled one, as well, but it's the 2007 income tax rate change variance account.  We simply wish to address a brief comment made by SEC in respect of this variance account, which the company again has agreed to create as a result of the settlement proposal, which is adopted by the Board.


The wording of the approved settlement is very clear and states as follows:

~"It will capture the impact of any corporate income tax rate changes against fiscal 2007 Board‑approved taxable income (versus the company's forecast of corporate income taxes rates) that occur in 2007 as a result of provincial and federal budgets that are passed in the test year."  


The company's position and its understanding is that this clearly refers to only federal and corporate tax rates, which I understand are forecast at 22.12 percent and 14 percent respectfully.  These rates are identified in the evidence at D3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2, line 14.


To the company's knowledge, the federal budget does not propose any change in the federal corporate tax rate, although admittedly nothing in the budget is, as yet, in law.  So it is somewhat hypothetical and they remain at this time only a proposal, but we wanted to set out for the record that that is the company's position.


Sir, subject to any questions, those are our submissions on those issues.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, I have a checklist here and I had noted that VECC had a request - I just wondered whether you cared to comment on this ‑ that they should be also represented in the GDAR implementation stages, future stages.  Sorry, did you cover that, sir?


MR. O'LEARY:  I did not, sir.  I would appreciate an opportunity to speak to those back at the company, but would respond to that and we can perhaps address it after lunch.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, did you have something?  No?  Thank you.  Mr. Cass.



MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, that brings us to equity thickness.  


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to start now or did you want to have lunch, or what is your...


MR. CASS:  I'm in the Board's hands on that.


MR. KAISER:  How long will you be?


MR. CASS:  I'm not sure if I could do it within half an hour.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, let's try.



SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  In the written outline that has been marked as Exhibit K16.2, detailed references have been provided.  As Mr. O'Leary stated, I will not, except in certain specific instances, repeat the references that are provided in writing.


There is no specific order to the points of this reply argument on equity thickness.  It merely picks up on themes and arguments from various intervenor arguments and responds to those.  


The first area that is picked up on arises from submissions by Board Staff.  As the Panel is aware, Union Gas has a common equity ratio of 36 percent, which was one element of an overall package settlement approved by the Board.  


In its submissions, Board Staff argues for consistency.  It says that there is consistency in the electricity sector and that there may be some merit in applying a similar principle in the gas sector.


On this basis, Board Staff goes on to say that a 36 percent equity component for Enbridge Gas Distribution would be warranted.


The company submits, with respect, that this is not the appropriate way to achieve consistency, if consistency in the gas sector on this particular issue is seen to be a valid objective.


As discussed in argument-in‑chief, Enbridge Gas Distribution's equity ratio has not been re-examined by the Board since 1993.


During the 14 years that have passed, since the company's equity ratio was last examined by the Board, there have been many increases in equity thickness for other Canadian utilities.  These again are discussed in argument-in-chief, and the excerpt is at tab 23 of the compendium, but I don't think that we need to go to that.  I will come to items in the compendium later.


In the company's submission, it is obvious that as far as other utilities and regulators are concerned, there is much that has changed since 1993.  Given the amount of time that has passed since the company's equity thickness was last examined ‑‑ I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  


Given the amount of time that has passed since the company's equity thickness was last examined and given the considerable evidence and argument in this case on equity thickness, it is the company's submission that it is appropriate at this time for the Board to take a good look at the equity ratio.


To the extent that after its usual careful review of the evidence and arguments the Board makes a determination in this case of the appropriate equity thickness for the company that raises issues about consistency with Union, Enbridge Gas Distribution submits that the issue of consistency can then be addressed in a future Union case.


In other words, the consistency argument should not cause the decision in this case, which is the Board's first opportunity to thoroughly review Enbridge Gas Distribution's equity thickness since 1993, to be made to conform to a packaged settlement by Union.  Consistency should be addressed, if it's an issue for the Board, after the Board has made its determination based on the evidence in this case.


This brings me to the next subject of reply on equity thickness, which is comparison to other regulated utilities, aside from Union Gas.


In argument-in‑chief, the company presented a detailed comparison of its equity ratio and its level of risk opposite decisions of Canadian regulators since 1993 with respect to other utilities.  


It is submitted that this comparison showed clearly that since 1993, the company's equity thickness has fallen out of line with equity ratios approved by other regulators.


In Enbridge Gas Distribution's submission, intervenors did not even attempt to meet these comparisons head on.  Instead, they tried to side step this issue, as in the case of a submission by VECC about regulators playing leapfrog, to use VECC's word, and IGUA's argument that regulatory decisions of other tribunals are not of assistance to Enbridge Gas Distribution.


There seems to be no dispute, however, that one of the factors to be considered in the assessment of a utility's appropriate level of equity thickness is a comparison to the capital structure of other Canadian utilities.  For example, in its March 2nd, 2006 decision regarding Terasen's capital structure, which has been referred to in the evidence, the BCUC has an entire section on the capital structures of other Canadian gas distribution utilities.  


Professor Booth in his evidence confirmed that in that case, in the Terasen case, the BCUC had looked at the same factors as the NEB and the AEUB would look at.


In fact, Professor Booth's evidence in this case contains extensive discussion regarding other Canadian utilities and comparators, as does his evidence from other proceedings that's been referred to in this case.


The company's submission is that the failure of intervenors to address this issue of comparison head on leaves a gaping hole in the positions that they have taken on equity thickness.


The next area to be addressed as a result of intervenor arguments is risk.


VECC says, in its argument, that none of Professor Booth's evidence regarding business risk was challenged.  Now, perhaps Enbridge Gas Distribution took an approach that was more subtle than a confrontational challenge to Professor Booth's evidence, but there is no doubt that a considerable amount of discussion of risk occurred when Professor Booth was cross-examined.  


It is true that Professor Booth believes that Canadian utilities have a very low risk, but as discussed in argument-in-chief, he seems to be virtually unique in the low level of risk that he ascribes to Canadian utilities.  


Nevertheless, while there is a difference of opinion in this case about level of risk, Professor Booth did accept the existence of many of the same risks for Enbridge Gas Distribution that were identified in the evidence of other witnesses.  To take some examples of the risks that were discussed during cross-examination with Professor Booth, he agreed that Ontario gas LDCs are exposed to risk related to the business environment.  He agreed that in contrast to a company like Terasen Gas, Ontario LDCs are subject to volume variances.  He agreed that although equity investors can diversify to remove weather risk, that weather is a risk for a gas LDC insofar as the debt markets are concerned.  In fact, he said that Enbridge Gas Distribution is riskier than TransCanada Pipelines, and in this regard, he said that Enbridge Gas Distribution has more shorter term risks because of the impact of weather on the rate of return.  


Also, Professor Booth agreed that exposure to bypass is a relevant consideration in the assessment of risk.    


Now, on the subject of bypass, there surely cannot be any doubt that in Ontario the risk of the gas distribution utilities has increased because what used to be a potential for bypass has been turned into a reality by the Greenfield Energy Centre decision.  


One can argue about the amount of the increased risk, but in Enbridge Gas Distribution's submission, turning that potential into a reality surely is an increase in risk.  In fact, some intervenors have put forward different arguments to try to minimize this increased risk.  


One of those arguments that intervenors made to minimize the impact of the increased risk related to bypass is that through the NGEIR proceeding, Enbridge Gas Distribution developed a bypass competitive rate.  What these arguments overlook, though, is that in order to come up with a bypass competitive rate, Enbridge Gas Distribution had to squeeze to the minimum the contribution to the system that will be recovered from customers who qualify for the rate.  In other words, the very development of these bypass competitive rates on such a basis itself represents an increased risk for the utility.  


CCC's argument was that according to Professor Booth the Green Energy Coalition decision may not be wide-ranging in its effect.  I emphasize the word "may."  In any event, though, the point is that the GEC decision has opened up the potential for bypass, and whether or not the decision    will be wide-ranging in its effect is for future Board panels to decide.  


The fact that there is uncertainty about where future panels will take this decision is, itself, part of the risk for Enbridge Gas Distribution in relation to bypass.  


A similar point can be made about incentive regulation.  SEC argued that incentive regulation frameworks do not materially affect risk.  Enbridge Gas Distribution does not know how that statement can be made without knowing what the actual framework is.  The particulars of the incentive regulation framework under which the company will operate are not yet known.  Even when the framework has been established, there will be uncertainty about the outcome of the company's efforts to operate under a new framework.  


So, the uncertainty about incentive regulation is an uncertainty about what the regulatory framework will be, first, and, second, what the outcome of Enbridge Gas Distribution's efforts to operate under a number framework will be.  


IGUA had quite a different argument than I think any other intervenors on assessing business risks.  IGUA argued that the take-off point for assessing changes in business risks is 2006.  IGUA says that since a 35 percent equity ratio was part of the company's approved capital structure in 2006, the company must show material changes in risk since then.  


IGUA went so far as to say that changes in business risk between 1993 and 2000 are irrelevant.  Presumably this is the basis upon which IGUA more or less ignored Dr. Carpenter's evidence with respect to Enbridge Gas Distribution's increased business risk.  


The company submits that this approach advocated by IGUA can't be correct.  According to this theory, if there was a small increase in risk every year, eventually amounting to a material change in risk after several years, the Board would never be able to take this into account in considering equity thickness.  The Board could only look in isolation at each small year-over-year change in risk, because according to this theory, only changes since the previous year's approval of a capital structure could be considered.  


I note in passing here as well that in the event at some future point the issue is one of decreasing risk -- I don't know at what point that might come up or the prospects of that, but presumably IGUA's argument would then work in reverse in a scenario of decreasing risk.  In the event that there was a small decrease in risk year after year, not material in any one year but over a number of years cumulatively being material, IGUA's argument apparently is that the Board could not look at the year-over-year change in risk -- or could only look at, I'm sorry, the year-over-year change in risk, which on its own is not material.  


Again, this theory can't be correct.  


Another point is that it effectively means that parties should litigate every possible regulatory, every issue, every year.  Otherwise the conclusion would be reached that failure to litigate an issue prevents a party from raising anything about that issue other than changes that have occurred from the last case to the current case.  


This brings me to another argument made by IGUA.  IGUA argued that the existence of weather risk cannot justify an increase in the equity ratio.  Later, IGUA asserted that the calculations in Exhibit K7.4 - which I will come to - use weather risk to depress earnings when weather risk should have no bearing on these matters.  


In fact, as I have already mentioned here, IGUA's own witness, Professor Booth, accepted that weather risk is a relevant consideration in this context for debt holders.  


Enbridge Gas Distribution does agree that the weather forecast does not affect business risk, as business risk relates to equity investors, if one assumes a balanced methodology for forecasting weather.  


The weather does, however, affect interest rate coverage, and thus it affects access to capital markets which are relevant to equity thickness.  


On this point, IGUA, like other intervenors, failed to respond to the company's core submission about weather risk and interest coverage ratios.  


As the Board will recall from argument-in-chief, Enbridge Gas Distribution explained that by 2006 its EBIT margin over 2.0 times interest coverage on a normalized basis had declined to $16.8 million dollars.



The point is that the financial covenants look at EBIT coverage on an actual basis, and so the normalized coverage ratio has to allow some flexibility for what might happen with weather.  


The margin had declined to $16.8 million by 2006, but since 1993 the average annual impact of weather on EBIT has been $35 million, more than twice the margin that was left by 2006.  This was not addressed by intervenors.  


Professor Booth fully understood the implications of the squeeze on margins, because he recalled an earlier instance when Consumers Gas, as it then was, encountered a period of significant problems in financing because of the effect of weather on the company's return and interest coverage ratio.  


Notwithstanding this evidence of an expert witness that IGUA, among others, had sponsored, IGUA ignored Enbridge Gas Distribution's point about weather risk and interest coverage and attempted essentially to assert that weather risk should have no bearing.  


The next area that I would like to cover is some submissions that have been made about Enbridge Gas Distribution's witnesses.  


I almost hesitate to have to do this because it seems to be something that comes up almost every year in rate cases, but the company is very concerned about some of the submissions that have been made about witnesses.  In the context of equity thickness, CCC alleged that Professor Booth's evidence reflected two characteristics missing from Enbridge Gas Distribution's own evidence, independence and professional authority.


With the greatest of respect to CCC, that statement is an unsupported and blatant insult to Dr. Carpenter.  There is absolutely no reason to think that Dr. Carpenter's evidence is any less independent or carries any less professional authority than the evidence of Professor Booth.


In fact, CCC didn't even make any attempt to provide any reason or justification for an astonishing assertion that Dr. Carpenter's evidence was missing independence and professional authority.  


I submit that CCC's statement is also insulting to Mr. Boyle.  Mr. Boyle, who was described by IGUA as a treasury official in Enbridge Inc., is, in fact, the treasurer of Enbridge Gas Distribution and the Assistant Treasurer of Enbridge Inc. 


The evidence reveals that in this capacity, he has regular day-to-day responsibilities that cause him to be in direct interaction with others in North American capital markets.


He went into some detail about his day-to-day activities.  He explained that he deals with people in the debt capital markets on at least a weekly basis, if not sometimes on a daily basis, depending on the imminence of a debt issuance. 


He deals with the credit rating agencies typically on about a quarterly basis and engages in updates and discussions with them on the credit profile of Enbridge companies in both Canadian and United States debt markets.  


He deals with the debt sales people at the investment banks, again, on more or less a weekly basis or even a daily basis, if Enbridge is looking at a debt issuance.  He deals with bond traders when Enbridge is looking to determine what is happening in the market.


In Enbridge Gas Distribution's submission, there is absolutely no basis for the suggestion that Mr. Boyle's evidence carries less professional authority because, rather than teaching at a university, he engages in constant direct interaction with the capital markets.


Expert consultants don't attend Mr. Boyle's meetings with the credit rating agencies.  They don't participate in discussions with bond traders, or become involved in his other capital market activities.  


The company's view, quite simply, was that it would have added nothing to this proceeding other than greater cost and more hearing time for Mr. Boyle to pass on to a capital markets consultant all of the information that he has learned from his regular work in the capital markets so that the consultant could then be in a position to testify about the same facts in separate evidence.


Again, I wish to come back to the general statement about comments that have been made regarding witnesses in this case.  To use Mr. Boyle as a continuing example, there was a suggestion in IGUA's argument that I will come to later that somehow implies a lack of credibility in Mr. Boyle's evidence because he's from Enbridge Inc., which allegedly will profit from this increase in equity thickness.


In my submission, witnesses who come from the company and from Enbridge Inc. to testify in these cases shouldn't be subjected to these types of aspersions on their credibility, except in the absence of a real credibility issue that needs to be addressed.  The Statutory Powers Procedure Act I think does contemplate a procedure to be followed when there is a real credibility issue.  


These are people who have regular jobs back in the office and, in my submission, are very dedicated and hard-working employees.  They are not ‑‑ aside from expert witnesses who may be retained from time to time and testify before the Board, they are not professionals in coming and bandying words with lawyers.


So to the extent that the lawyers find themselves unhappy with the evidence of these particular witnesses, that can be dealt with on the merits of the evidence.  It does not, in my submission, require attacks that question the credibility of hard‑working people doing their best to help the Board with the issues.  


I'm sorry for dwelling on that, Mr. Chair, but it is something that Enbridge Gas Distribution takes very seriously.


This brings me to something that is a very important element of the discussion around equity thickness, which is the evidence that the Board has heard regarding the squeeze on the company's interest coverage ratios.


A number of intervenors argued that the interest coverage squeeze is a temporary problem.  It's at this point, Mr. Chair, that I will start from time to time referring to some of the documents in the compendium.  The first of these would be at tab 24 of Exhibit K16.1.


The table at tab 24 of the compendium is an extract from the prefiled evidence on this issue.  The main point for bringing it forward at this time is just to show to the Board that in relation to the calculation of EBIT interest coverage, there has been a trend since 1993.  


Certainly the trend has not always been in the same direction, but it is a distinct trend towards a declining interest coverage and towards a declining margin, as referred to in column 4.


This in itself indicates that the issue of the squeeze, if I can continue to use that word, is not a temporary problem.


Now, while I am at table 4, I wish to emphasize, again, that the coverage ratios for the purposes of the financial covenants in the trust indentures are calculated on the basis of actual EBIT.  The presentation here is normalized, allowed utility EBIT.  


There seemed to be some arguments that appear to have missed the fact that the calculation starts with normalized allowed utility EBIT.


Again, what Enbridge Gas Distribution has done with this calculation is then take it one step further to column 4 to show how much margin that calculated EBIT coverage allows over two times, because that margin has to be able to accommodate weather in light of the fact that the financial covenants take account of actual EBIT.


Now, the other point or another point on this issue or this contention that the -- what I am calling a squeeze on the coverage ratio is temporary is that if interest rates continue to decline, as they have over the last number of years, the squeeze on interest coverage ratios will continue and Enbridge Gas Distribution's credit will continue to weaken.  That is the evidence.


In order to be able to conclude that the problem is temporary, one would need to know - to know - that interest rates are not going to continue to decline.


With the greatest of respect, the company submits no one involved in this case is in a position to say, with certainty, that interest rates will not continue to decline.  As Mr. Boyle stated in his evidence, and I am quoting here:

~"This is not a temporary situation the company can assume will correct itself based on a particular forecast assumption.  The company must be prepared for all reasonable interest rate and business risk scenarios and take appropriate action."


In other words, and again this was discussed in the evidence, the prudent approach, rather than assuming one scenario under which the problem is temporary, is to plan for a range of scenarios.


As Mr. Boyle said, a financing plan can't be based on one specific set of assumptions.  This is not a situation in which it is appropriate to determine the issue on the basis of the minimum that Enbridge Gas Distribution can get away with in one particular scenario.  


The prudent approach is to plan for a capital structure that will allow the company a reasonable opportunity to weather a reasonable range of future outcomes.


Undoubtedly these financial covenants are put in debt instruments for a reason.  While the nature of particular covenants may vary, generally they signal an impending problem that needs to be addressed.  


In fact, one could say that when the point of non‑compliance with a financial covenant has been reached, the situation has already gone past the point where there is any doubt about the need for it to be addressed.


IGUA had some arguments based on its proposition that some of Mr. Boyle's calculations are theoretical, and I now will turn to submissions in response to that proposition.


IGUA's assertion, to put it in some more detail, was that the company's calculations are theoretical calculations only and do not reflect the actual utility normalized earnings for any of the years shown.  


IGUA went on to say that the interest rate coverages to be considered for rate-making purposes should be the EBIT derived from actual, normalized earnings before taxes for the stand‑alone utility.


With all due respect to IGUA, it has put forward propositions that are incorrect and that do not take into account some basic principles of regulation in a forward test year.  The company collects in rates an EBIT amount that is based on OEB allowed amounts on a forecast basis.  The company's so-called actual EBIT arising from its cost of debt preferred shares and equity can only be determined by looking at the forecast capital structure components.  


What IGUA has done incorrectly in its argument is it has tried to use actual capital structure figures to calculate actual EBIT coverage.  This doesn't work, because there is no variance account for the cost of capital forecast differences.  In other words, IGUA's attempt to analyze the evidence overlooks the basic regulatory construct under which revenues and EBIT are based on forecast costs.  


Now, as an aside, to the extent that the actual cost components are close to forecast levels, the magnitude of errors in IGUA's calculations may be relatively small.   There does appear to be a coincidence of IGUA's numbers for 2006 being very close to or the same as the company's calculations.  This is at least partially due to the magnitude of the variances in that particular year.  


This then brings me back to Exhibit K7.4, which I did say that I was going to come back to.  That is at tab 31 of the compendium.  


Exhibit K7.4 goes through a series of adjustments, but as the Board can see, it starts out at the left-hand side with EBIT and interest expense calculated on the basis of OEB normalized allowed.  


Again, I emphasize the word "allowed."  Enbridge Gas Distribution submits that the starting point in the forecast, the proper starting point in this calculation with respect to EBIT coverage is the forecast capital structure reflected in OEB allowed capital costs.  


While IGUA perceives this to be a theoretical number, it is the basis of the EBIT that the company will actually receive in its revenues.  Thus IGUA's claim that these so-called theoretical calculations have no relevance to the determination of the interest coverage ratio for the stand-alone utility is simply not correct.  


Now, looking at Exhibit K7.4, one can see adjustments going across the page.  The first set of adjustments that can be made is for actual EBIT variances from forecasts as a result of weather and as a result of other adjustments that need to be made.  I won't read out in detail Exhibit K7.4, but the Board can see the effect of making those adjustments to get to total Ontario utility results, which results in an EBIT interest coverage margin of 1.84 for 2006.  Then Exhibit K7.4 goes through another set of adjustments, to take it from the utility to the legal entity.  Consolidated legal entity, I should say.  So there are other adjustments that occur to arrive at the consolidated legal entity figures that are the basis of the trust indenture financial covenants.  Some of the adjustments to arrive at the consolidated legal entity figure are positive and some are negative.  


In 2006, as it happens, these offset each other and the actual consolidated EBIT coverage is the same 1.4 as the utility result of 1.4.  


Also on the issue of using normalized results, again I have attempted to explain - and I apologize for harping on this - but I have attempted to explain why the company presented EBIT ratios on the basis of normalized allowed utility EBIT.  However, again, the financial covenants are based on actual EBIT coverage.  IGUA argues that the Board should look at the normalized actual utility EBIT coverage in assessing the company's credit profile.  The company submits that this is neither reasonable nor appropriate, because Enbridge has to deal with the real world circumstances which involve financial calculations and covenants that require the use of unnormalized figures.  In other words, actual EBIT coverage.  


The company can't ignore reality in these calculations just because it doesn't like the outcome and it must deal with a situation which requires that weather impacts be taken into account.  


Mr. Chair, I realize I am already over my attempt to do it in half an hour.  Do you want me to continue or break for lunch?  


MR. KAISER:  It is entirely up to you.  


MR. CASS:  I am happy to continue, Mr. Chair, if everyone else is, and get this done before lunch.  


MR. KAISER:  Fine. 


MR. CASS:  The next subject I wish to come to is the issue of the potential for a credit downgrade.  


In reliance on schedule 16 to Professor Booth's evidence, VECC argued that it is difficult to envision that a credit upgrade would come close to the company's prediction that over the long term increased equity costs will be offset by lower costs of debt.  More broadly than that, VECC also argued that in proposing greater equity thickness the company picked the most costly solution.  


First, the company does accept that equity is the most costly form of capital.  Equity carries higher risks to its holders than debt, which requires compensation in capital markets.  


There is a reason for including this form of capital in a company's capital structure despite its cost.  This is very important capital that is key to a company's financial integrity.  


VECC's reference to the impact of a credit upgrade, unfortunately - and again I say this with respect - misses the point of Enbridge Gas Distribution's proposal with respect to the increase in equity thickness.  


At no time that I am aware of has the company said that it expects the proposed increase to result in a higher credit rating.  I have included, at, I think it is tab 21 of the brief, the very first page from Mr. Boyle's prefiled evidence on this subject.  I'm sorry, I am getting my numbers confused.  It is tab 25.  


I included this to make abundantly clear that the company has never hidden its view in this regard as to potential impacts on its credit profile.  


At the conclusion of the first paragraph of the prefiled evidence in this area, the Board will see the statement that the increased business risk has occurred at the same time as a dramatic decline in the company's financial strength, resulting in, one, a challenge to the company's ability to raise term debt when required; and two, a real risk of a further downgrade in the company's credit rating.  


The issue from the company's perspective was never about achieving an upgrade.  It was about the potential for a downgrade.  


Now, as I recall, there was some suggestion in intervenor arguments - I don't have a reference for this; it is just a recollection - some suggestion about a lack of evidence on a downgrade.  I have referred the Board to this paragraph to bring out that there was no secret about the company's position that the risk was of a downgrade, but there certainly is other evidence around this risk of a downgrade.  Just as an example, I can refer the Board to Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 9, which from pages 19 over to 21 engages in a discussion of the risk of this downgrade.  


The point is that in assessing the potential increased cost of debt as opposed to the increased cost of equity, it is the concern about a downgrade that has to be taken into account.  


At tab 26 of the compendium, I have included an excerpt from Dr. Booth's evidence examination-in-chief.  I won't read it all.  I will read excerpts, if the Board doesn't mind.  It covers pages ten to 11.  Starting at line nine on page 10, Dr. Booth refers to his prior testimony, schedule 16, which I will be coming to, and how that shows the spreads on triple B- and double A-rated companies over equivalent term long Canada bond yields.  


I am reading those words the way they appear on the transcript.  He says they give an indication of what the yields savings would be if you increased the quality, increased the bond rating of the company's debt.  He goes on to say his understanding was that Mr. Boyle was implying that if you go from 35 to 38 percent common equity ratio, then you could get a 25 to 50 basis point reduction in the yield on Enbridge's debt.


Then over to page 11, he says at line 7, regardless of that, the substantive issue is:  What sort of change would it take to generate a 25 to 50 basis point reduction in Enbridge's debt in the capital market?


His conclusion is, if we look at these spreads, to get anywhere close to that sort of a reduction, Enbridge would have to be basically a double A-rated utility.  


Then just at line 21, he says:  

~"I just don't see Enbridge jumping to a double A based upon a 3 percent change in the common equity ratio."


The 25 to 50 basis points does not come from Enbridge anticipating an upgrade if the increase in equity thickness is granted.  Enbridge does not anticipate any such upgrade.


Schedule 16 of Dr. Booth's evidence is at the next tab of the compendium, tab 27.  Enbridge Gas Distribution's concern is about a downgrade.  It is readily apparent, from the right-hand side of Dr. Booth's schedule 16, what his evidence is as to the current difference between a triple BBB-rated debt and an A debt.


If Enbridge Gas Distribution were to be downgraded, it would go to BBB.  It is a little hard to relate the right-hand side of the page across to the scale over on the left-hand side, but I suggest to the Board that it is very close to the top end of the range Mr. Boyle was talking about.  


Mr. Boyle referred to 25 to 50 basis points, and Professor Booth's schedule 16 is showing a current spread of basis points that looks very, very close to the 50.


The next subject that I wish to address was an argument by IGUA in relation to equity thickness that had to do with depreciation rates.


IGUA argued that Enbridge Gas Distribution has higher depreciation rates than Union Gas, which provide additional interest coverage calculated on the basis of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, so‑called EBITDA.


Mr. Boyle explained, of course, that the company's coverage ratios are determined on the basis of EBIT.  The fact that Enbridge Gas Distribution would achieve additional interest coverage if its ratios could be calculated on the basis of EBITDA, in my submission, is of no assistance, because that is not the basis upon which they're calculated for the purposes of the trust indenture.


In addition, a comparison of the company's depreciation rates to those of another utility such as Union Gas does not in any way advance the discussion of equity thickness.  A company's depreciation rates are a function of its particular asset base and the rate of depreciation required to amortize those particular assets over their useful life.


The fact that one company has different depreciation rates than another is simply a reflection of a fact that the appropriate remaining period for amortizing its set of capital assets is different.  


In each case, the company uses the appropriate amortization period and the appropriate depreciation rate for its particular vintage of capital assets.  This has nothing to do with equity thickness.


The point was brought up with Dr. Carpenter ‑‑ was brought up during cross‑examination of the Enbridge panel and Dr. Carpenter addressed it.  He explained that when two utilities have assets -- may have assets with different associated lifetimes, over the long‑term horizon the risks that equity investors would face with respect to the return of the investment in these two different sets of assets will be the same.


In this regard, he referred specifically to a decision of the NEB in the case called ‑‑ with the docket number RH‑2‑2004 at page 46.  This was Dr. Carpenter's specific reference to the case.  He did not read from it.  He referred to that page.


What it said there is -- by the NEB is that the assessment of cost of capital should assume that depreciation rates reflect the best assessment of economic life of the pipeline.  Resetting depreciation rates to reflect a new best estimate of economic life does not, by itself, reduce business risk.


The company submits that it is an even stronger point, that if resetting one company's depreciation rates to give effect to a new best estimate of economic life does not reduce risk, then the fact that differences exist in depreciation rates between companies that are attributable to differences in the assets of the two companies most certainly doesn't have an effect on risk.


The next area that I wish to address, and I did say that I would be coming to this, is the suggestions that have been made implying some motive behind the request for an increase in equity thickness because of a potential benefit to the company's shareholder.


A number of intervenors, in fact, base their arguments on the premise that an increase in equity thickness is a benefit to the shareholder.


One example I have referred to is IGUA, which contends that the Board should be wary of the company's proposal which, according to IGUA, is based on interest coverage calculations provided by an official of Enbridge Gas Distribution's parent company, which will benefit if the proposal is approved.


In its decision in the generic ROE case several years ago - that's RP-2002‑0158 - the Board did have some comments about Ontario gas utilities attracting capital at the parent company level.  The Board said that should it be the case that Ontario gas utilities are unable to attract equity capital by virtue of competition at the parent company level, this would be of great concern to the Board.  


The company has taken heed of the Board's concerns in that regard, and so has its ultimate shareholder, Enbridge Inc.  However, the fact that Enbridge and its shareholder are heeding the Board's concerns about competition for capital at the parent company level should not in any way be turned into a suggestion that the shareholder is seeking to achieve a benefit from a proposed increase in Enbridge Gas Distribution's common equity.


Just for the purposes of making an illustration of this, I included in the compendium at tab 29 an extract from Enbridge Inc.'s annual report that was in the evidence for this case.  It is a 2005 annual report, but that is what is on the record for this case.


Three pages in, at tab 29, the Board will see a set of five‑year consolidated highlights.  There is a category there of "financial ratios", the first of which is "return on average shareholder's equity".


Looking at the period from 2001 to 2005, one need only glance at this to see that Enbridge Inc.'s average return on shareholder's equity consistently exceeds the approved return that it earns on equity invested in Enbridge Gas Distribution.


Again, I don't mean by this to suggest, in any way, that Enbridge Inc. is not heeding what the Board said in the generic ROE case about the attraction of capital at the parent company level.  However, these are the facts that we must address in the context of these suggestions that the parent company is looking for a benefit.


In fact, Mr. Boyle addressed it specifically in his evidence.  He testified that the increased equity in the company is not necessarily the best use of equity capital for the shareholder, but that it was important to maintain the credit of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


It is also important to remember in this regard that the company's proposal for increased equity has targeted the least amount of equity that will bring its interest coverage ratios into an acceptable range.


This premise that the proposed increase in equity is put forward as a benefit to Enbridge Gas Distribution's shareholder and that somehow this affects the credibility of Mr. Boyle's evidence is contrary to the evidence in this case.


On a somewhat related point, VECC interpreted Enbridge Gas Distribution's evidence and perhaps its argument-in-chief as well to mean that the decline in interest rates that has occurred in recent years, coupled with the application of the ROE formula, had resulted in a windfall for ratepayers. 


It is unfortunate if Enbridge Gas Distribution gave the impression that it was trying to describe a windfall for ratepayers.  That was not a word that I recall the company or its witnesses using at any time.


Mr. Boyle did address this in the evidence that I have included at tab 30 of the compendium.  Again, I won't read it all.  However, there are a couple of extracts from pages 16 across to 18 that I would like to bring to the Board's attention.  


At the top of page 16, Mr. Boyle did point out that the decline in ROE from lower interest rates is not a bad thing, of course.  He pointed out that it is generally good for both utility customers and shareholders, and he explained why that is the case.  


He then went on to say that:  

~”These interests need to be balanced against the interests of the debt holders who provide 60 percent of the capital required to fund the company's asset base.”  


At that point he went on to help provide perspective to the company's request for the increase in equity thickness to make some submissions about what has happened with the cost of capital over the years, and how there has been a benefit to the ratepayers from that.  


Again, the effort was to put into perspective the company's request in equity thickness, not to somehow imply a windfall for ratepayers.  


This is confirmed by the conclusion of Mr. Boyle's evidence on this point at line 15 on page 17, where he says:

~"The net effect is that the cost of capital for ratepayers in 2007 is virtually unchanged relative to 2006, with the increased equity thickness to 38 percent and the financial strength of the utility is materially improved."  


The effort, again, was just to put in context the impact of the change in equity thickness opposite what ratepayers have experienced by way of decreased cost of capital.  


I also mention while I'm at this reference that over on page 18 Mr. Boyle makes the point that I have just referred to, that the request made for an increase in common equity has been limited to what the company sees as the lowest amount possible.  


At the top of page 18, the Board will see Mr. Boyle's testimony to the following effect:  

~"Enbridge recognizes that the proposed increase in equity thickness appears to lead to higher customer rates.  However, this is only a near-term effect, and in the long term, Enbridge strongly believes that the ultimate costs to the ratepayer will almost certainly be much higher if it continues to let the company's credit quality decline."


Then at the end of that paragraph:   

~"The company has carefully considered all of these factors in order to limit the increase in common equity to the lowest amount possible to achieve the necessary improvement in its financial strength."


That then brings me to the final area that I wish to respond to in respect of equity thickness.  


Certain parties, I think most notably VECC, have argued that the company's current difficulty is a bond problem that should be solved in the bond markets.  The company's submission is that bonds and equity together are two key components of the overall capital structure that cannot be divorced from one another in the manner suggested by these arguments.  Achieving the optimal capital structure is a matter of finding the right balance of debt and equity.  When a company encounters difficulties in the debt market, it is quite incorrect, in the company's submission, to think this must always be a debt issue to be solved in the debt markets.  The solution may well be to find a better balance between debt equity.  To illustrate this, I take an example.  It's certainly nothing to do with this case but an example used for illustration.  


Suppose a company meets with financial difficulties such that its equity is eroded to nothing, leaving it with 100 percent debt in its capital structure.  VECC's argument would suggest since the company has 100 percent debt and no equity its problems are debt problems and not equity problems.  But the simple fact is that debt and equity are interrelated and it is quite likely that the solution for a company with 100 percent debt is one that will be found in the equity markets.  


The decision of Enbridge Gas Distribution's management that it needs to find a better balance between debt and equity in its capital structure is strongly supported by the evidence in this case regarding events and activities in the capital market.  As was canvassed in argument-in-chief, there's been a clear trend in regulatory decisions across Canada towards higher levels of equity for Canadian regulated utilities.  


Mr. Boyle also testified that the parent companies of utilities have been increasing their equity thickness over time because they have realized that it is actually cheaper to increase equity and maintain or improve credit quality than to allow credit quality to deteriorate.  


I apologize, Mr. Chair, for going so far beyond the one-half hour, but that does conclude the submissions I wanted to make in reply on equity thickness.  


MR. KAISER:  Let's take the lunch break at this point and come back in an hour.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:23 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 2:30 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I had concluded reply submissions on equity thickness.  Unless there are any questions, I think Mr. O'Leary would be addressing fuel switching next.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I may, just before that, respond to Mr. Vlahos's question, who asked what the company's position was in respect of a request made by VECC in its argument at 3.13.10.  


Mr. Vlahos, it was on our checklist, as well, but I hoped I would be able to say more to you than just that the company's position is that we're unopposed.  In fact, if my understanding is correct, because it is a Board-constituted group through the compliance office, we would actually support VECC being included as part of that, but it is not really our call on it.  But that would be the company's position.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it is the compliance office that is ‑‑


MR. O'LEARY:  That is my understanding, sir.


Turning to issues 3.2 and 3.3, Mr. Chair, the text of most of what I am about to say is found at tab 7 of the compendium, and, in the interests of time, seeing where we are today, I am going to try and simply highlight the key points in there.  


If I could encourage you perhaps to view it as titillating bedtime reading, to take it with you over the weekend to enjoy tab 7 later, but I will just touch on the highlights here.


First, I will turn to a brief review of the ratepayer group submissions, which are similar to or supportive of the company in response to the submissions by GEC and VECC.


CCC expresses concern at paragraph 130 of its argument about the GEC and Pollution Probe proposals reinstating a cumbersome and inefficient audit and evaluation process, one which has been simplified and refined as a result of the DSM generic proceeding.


I should point out that unlike the DSM process, where the company looks to recover an incentive payment through the SSM, looks for lost revenue through the LRAM and it looks for recovery of any over-spending through the DSMVA, load growth and fuel switching initiatives do not have and do not need any sort of incentive or recovery mechanisms.


There is, therefore, no need for an audit and evaluation process for such activities.  As noted by IGUA in its argument at paragraph 142, there is an inherent incentive for the company to over-achieve in respect of fuel switching programs, because this will increase revenues, whereas if it under-achieves, then it is not going to achieve the revenues that it had hoped to achieve. So IGUA correctly notes that fuel switching does not require the same level of scrutiny as you would see on the DSM side.  


CCC also makes a point, which is factually correct, and that is that there is a lack of evidence on the record supporting a finding that the company can cost effectively spend the additional $11.5 million that has been proposed by GEC.


To the contrary, the company's witnesses repeatedly stated that before undertaking significant fuel switching initiatives, it would be necessary to analyze the extent to which existing infrastructure can support such spending.  And this, we submit, is only common sense.  


For example, it is appropriate to first determine the incentive levels that would be required to achieve the targeted levels, and it is also appropriate to examine the ability of suppliers and installers to meet the expected increase in demand that would result from increased spending before you do it.  Otherwise, intuitively your attempts may actually be counterproductive.


CCC and IGUA both expressed opposition to the proposal by GEC and Pollution Probe for the establishment of a fuel switching variance account.  Obviously we agree with that and share in their observation that it is not consistent with an envelope approach to determine EGD's overall O&M budget.


IGUA adds in their argument that they see no reason why the fuel switching budget should be treated any differently than the other line items included in the global other O&M budget.


What GEC and Pollution Probe seem to forget is that the company has on prior occasions overspent its entire O&M budget, which means that even if a small portion of the opportunity development budget is not spent in a ‑‑ in that type of a year, it should not be looked on in isolation, and, most importantly, it cannot be said that the shareholder has benefitted in those circumstances.


Each of IGUA, HVAC and CCC appear to accept the company's position and evidence that the total resource costs -- the TRC test is not appropriate for load growth initiatives.  IGUA states specifically that to limit growth activities to only TRC-positive programs is unnecessary and inappropriate.  


HVAC apparently agrees with this, stating at paragraph 3.33 of its argument that the TRC test is not the sole arbiter of what customers should be allowed to purchase and what the company should be allowed to promote.


Now, HVAC does go on to propose a material harm test.  I won't get into our views as to what that methodology would entail, because there are no details to it, but I should ‑‑ it is important to note that neither HVAC nor any other intervenor has adduced in evidence or even argued that the company's promotion of the programs it proposes in evidence would, in any way, lead to a material harm to ratepayers.


Indeed, it is quite the opposite.  In almost every instance we show that these programs will have a net positive value.


CCC rounds out the course of opposition to the TRC test being used exclusively or as a substitute or even jointly with the net present value test, saying that it is not necessarily the only test that measures the cost‑effectiveness of programs.


The importance of that, sir, is that what GEC and Pollution Probe are proposing is not an either/or type of proposition.  They are saying that it is an absolute, as you must have a TRC positive.  Regardless of how positive the NPV test is, you must have a positive TRC; otherwise, that program can't proceed.


There was some suggestion in the GEC argument that where there are avoided costs -- and you may recall from the evidence that at times the witnesses indicated that the company did not go to the full extent and try and calculate every recorded cost, and they have suggested - GEC - that this may not be appropriate.  


On the surface, this appears logical, in many instances, but we submit it is not reasonable to go to that length of an analysis for a number of reasons.


What GEC made no mention of is the complexity and the time and the considerable cost that would be involved in trying to undertake analysis of the detailed nature that would be required and the robust research and validation activities that would be necessary to follow.


Even with research and validation, it is likely that there would be many differing opinions as to what the appropriate input values should be.  This would truly lead to the type of lengthy and contentious debate that we have experienced previously in DSM proceedings.  


I should probably give you a brief example.   If you take a simple natural gas fireplace installation - this is a type of program that we understand GEC and Pollution Probe consider undesirable - to complete a robust TRC calculation, the company would need to know if the installation was replacing a wood, propane or electric fireplace or possibly space heaters from any of those respective fuel sources, or perhaps replacing nothing at all.  


The company would also need to know the purpose behind the appliance installation.  Was it for ambiance, primary heat, supplementary heat, zone heating during the colder months?  


What the company is submitting here is that it would not only need to know the technical aspects of the base case, but also the usage, the intended usage, by the customer as well.


 In other words, it would need to know customer behaviour.  So we are going to that type of depth of detail to try and come up with a TRC analysis, which, at the end, the company submits is really of no benefit to ratepayers, because if you have shown that it is a positive net present value to ratepayers, why take the next step?


The company did provide in evidence TRC calculations in response to an interrogatory, but they were never developed with the rigour that would be required if they were used as a mechanism to deny the company the opportunity to pursue added load through legal and profitable appliance installations. 


And the same myriad of customer-specific applications and factual circumstances would apply on a whole host of other type of appliances.  Another example, sir, I won't go into would be a gas barbeque that could be displacing a stove that is electric or propane, charcoal, electric, wood burning, outdoor barbeque or pit.


So the submission sir, is that the multitude of factual situations, specific to each customer, demonstrates something in addition, and that is the inappropriateness of GEC and Pollution Probe arguing that it is socially undesirable for the company to promote any particular appliance or application.  


If we use the example of a home that already has electric baseboard heat and a wood-burning fireplace, which is something that is quite common, surely GEC and Pollution Probe would acknowledge that the installation of a gas insert which displaces the electric baseboard heat and also the particulate matter that comes from a wood-burning fireplace, that that should be encouraged.  Yet if you use their analysis, that is socially undesirable; and yet the effect of that would be, where the company is no longer promoting programs that involve natural gas fireplaces, you might, in effect, discourage that home owner from taking the steps to put in the natural gas insert and, therefore, not achieve those benefits.  


Finally, CCC, IGUA, expressed a concern consistent with the company that the proposals by GEC and Pollution Probe would in effect amount to micromanagement.  We of course share that concern.  


Several comments now which are specific to the GEC and Pollution Probe arguments.  First, neither filed any evidence, neither produced a witness at the hearing that supports either the propositions they're advancing or to discredit the company's position.  In effect, they're asking the Board to make a ruling as a matter of policy, and we submit that what they are asking you to do is substitute the policy of the Board of their views for what should be coming from the government of Ontario.  


GEC, without consideration at the beginning of its argument to the impact on the company's ability to operate safely and efficiently, suggests that the monies they are proposing be spent on fuel switching and other activities which they favour, which total $26.1 million, could be taken out of the other O&M budget. You will recall that the other O&M budget, in the settlement proposal which you approved, is 181 million, and they're suggesting that that amount, the 26.1, be placed into -- or unspent amounts be included in the variance account.  If you deduct that from the 181 million, you arrive at a net amount left of 155.4 million, and that is the amount that would be available if you follow the GEC proposal for the company to operate efficiently and safely over the course of the year.  


Of course, there is no evidence that the company could operate with so limited and other [sic] O&M budget, and, indeed, it's important to note that neither counsel for GEC nor Pollution Probe ever asked any of the company's witnesses whether they could live with another O&M budget, which in effect would be $155 million plus whatever we would then spend on fuel switching and some market-related O&D activities.  


It is also important to note that GEC and Pollution Probe repeatedly argued that their position was consistent with government policy.  I won't go into this in any detail, other than to state that if you look closely at their arguments, there is no specific act, there is no specific regulation, there is no specific guideline, and there is no statement by a minister or other government official which would, in any way, suggest what they're proposing in terms of restricting the company's ability to support various appliances and the programs that were put forward.  


Lacking an ability to reference any regulation or policy, what ultimately GEC had to resort to was to make statements such as the following, which they made at page 3, in respect of those types of, as they describe it, undesirable programs, which really is the support of certain natural gas lawful appliances.  They describe it as, and I quote, "on the face of it, unnecessary and energy-inefficient."


These words are the extent of their evidence on that point.  You might ask, why would they come to that conclusion?  They state at page 4 in respect of pool heating: 

~“Pool heating is not necessary, and in any event solar heating alternatives are a superior, competitive and readily available alternative to oil, electricity or gas for this use."


Again, there is no evidence to support that.  There is no scholarly paper that was referenced or attached, and no witness appeared, but this is what they have stated, and they're essentially asking you to accept on faith that that is the case and to order the company to discontinue supporting various programs.  


The logical extension of what they're proposing is that the Board should also be invited to prohibit the company from supporting any manufacturer or importer of these products from participating in any other sort of program that is supported by that company, including perhaps DSM initiatives.  While GEC did not express this in their argument, it would certainly be inconsistent if they were to allow the company to support the manufacturers of these undesirable programs, yet to say they couldn't support the ratepayers who purchased them.  


We also note that GEC pointed to a frivolous non-existent activity, outdoor gas flares, which simply don't occur, and they suggest that is the reason why the Board should burden both the company and ratepayers with the additional unnecessary test for load growth initiatives; namely, the TRC test.  


I should add that the TRC test, of course, does not value the incentives that are paid out, and hence you cannot use the test to assess the impact on rates.  So if there is a large increase in the fuel-switching budget, the TRC test does not indicate the impact on rates.  


Finally the Board should be mindful of not discarding careful and appropriate planning in the pursuit of results which may generate results a short time earlier, but which are not cost-effective and as market-responsive as they should be.  The company continues to work with the OPA and other stakeholders in the development and roll out of appropriate CDM programs, and it does not believe that throwing money at additional fuel switching in the 2007 test year will advance matters.  


We therefore respectfully suggest, sir, that the budget in the proposed settlement of 181.5 million not be changed, and the Board not restrict the company's flexibility to prioritize spending or prohibit specific load growth programs.  


The final area I am going to briefly address is VECC's argument in respect of low-income fuel switching, and VECC has argued that the $925,000 which the company has proposed to spend as a result of an interrogatory number 29, which was filed in November, that that should be fixed, and eve, though the company has now agreed to a lower other O&M budget, that the 925 should remain.  


Our position in response to the VECC's position, there are really four points.  Their argument really boils down to two:  first, that low-income ratepayers need more financial assistance; secondly, they argue that the company's hands are tied as a result of the settlement in the DSM generic proceeding.  


Our full responses are simply these.   First of all, the DSM generic proceeding did not tie the company's hands in respect of this proceeding.  If you look at the wording of the settlement itself, which is found at pages 32 and 33, which is Exhibit 6.6 of the Board's Decision with Reasons, and it was filed as an exhibit in this proceeding as well, but what was stated is that the utilities agree that by the establishment of this spending level floor - that's the 14 percent that was agreed to in the DSM proceeding - they will not, as a result, reduce planned DSM spending.  


Our interpretation of that is that when that agreement was made and when it was filed with the Board, which was in July of last year, that as a result of that agreement there would not be any change in planned spending at that point.  The application in this proceeding was not even filed until the second or third week of August, and indeed the specifics of what the company was proposing to spend in terms of low-income spending was not even filed in evidence until the interrogatory response that I referred to that was filed in November.  So the DSM proceeding, the settlement there predates all of the record that we have here.  


Our respectful submission is that to suggest that something you have agreed to earlier, as of a particular date, cannot tie your hands down the road, and certainly that's not the wording that appears in the DSM agreement.  As well I should point out that in the interrogatory that was filed - this is where the $925,000 appears - what the company states is, and I quote from an interrogatory at Exhibit I, tab 24, schedule 29:  

~"All of the details of the company's low-income water-heating fuel-switching program have not been established.  At this time the proposed budget is 925."


So even in November last year, the company had not settled on the number.  Subsequently, as you know, the company agreed to the lower O&M budget and has said that it will have to adjust its spending across the board, including perhaps in this area, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there?


MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly, sir.


MR. KAISER:  The settlement agreement, I take it, doesn't micromanage what costs you cut and what costs you don't cut?


MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of the settlement in this proceeding or the DSM proceeding?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, in this proceeding.


MR. O'LEARY:  That's our interpretation.


MR. KAISER:  What was it, a 10 percent reduction or thereabouts?


MR. O'LEARY:  Closer to 20.  About 19, I believe, yes. 


MR. KAISER:  So if there was a pro rata reduction, we would be talking about 20 percent of the 925?  


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, if it was a pro rata, sir.


MR. KAISER:  I take it you don't have any views as to whether you are going to apply that reduction to this amount, or not?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, the witnesses indicated that they weren't, at this point, in a position to respond to it, because they had to look at other priorities and where they would have to cut in other areas.  So that was a question that was asked a number of times.


What you may recall the panel did do is they said, in response, because I believe you asked a question similar to the one you just asked me, they said that they would indeed apply a 14 percent floor, and that's 14 percent of all of the monies that are spent on the residential fuel switching would be spent on low‑income.


That is consistent with the agreement on the DSM side.  That is important, because it achieves the very purpose of having the floor there.


On the DSM side, you should start there to understand where they came from.  On the DSM side, the complaint or the concern is that you have low‑income ratepayers that can't afford to participate in DSM programs and, thus, they are still -- because they're ratepayers, they are contributing to the DSMVA, the LRAM, the SSM and the O&M, and yet they're not participating.  


So it was ultimately agreed, and the 14 percent was the number that was agreed upon.  It may not be -- it may be a little too high.  It may be a little too low, but it was a number agreed upon to represent low‑income.


By directing 14 percent to that, we know that they are then receiving their proportionate share of the spending by the company.


On the load growth side, low‑income ratepayers are not in the same situation, because they're not paying towards DSMVA or an SSM or an LRAM, because it doesn't exist, but they are benefitting from the load growth.  


Because we know that increase in load will over time have an impact, a positive impact on rates, they benefit from the load growth initiatives, whether they're directly to them or not.  But by ensuring that we spend 14 percent on low‑income, then we know that their participation rates will be about equivalent to their numbers as a proportion of the total residential rate class.


MR. KAISER:  The 925 came out of the 14 percent; right?


MR. O'LEARY:  The 14 percent ‑‑ no.  The 14 percent would be of the total residential budget, which is more than 925,000.  I would have to get that number for you, sir, but 925 comes out of the total budget.


MR. KAISER:  Is it 14 percent of the total budget?


MR. O'LEARY:  It would be 14 percent of the amount that the company would spend on the residential rate class, the Rate 1 rate class.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Which I could get you the number for.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have something?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just mathematically.  You mentioned a percentage reduction.  I think the total budget was 200 million and the agreed-upon budget is 181.5.  So it is approximately a 10 percent reduction.


MR. KAISER:  That's what I thought.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


In terms of the percentages that you were just speaking about, the current proposed fuel switching budget is a percentage ‑‑ for low‑income is a percentage of the total residential budget, approximately 30 percent of the total budget.  So about 30 percent of their total fuel switching budget is low‑income right now.


MR. KAISER:  As opposed to 14 percent.


MR. BUONAGURO:  As opposed to the proposal of 14, yes.


MR. KAISER:  How did you get the 30 percent?  I thought the decision was 14 percent, just that fuel switching got a bigger piece of it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  They're filed ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  The total was 14 percent and fuel switching ended up being 30 percent?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, no.  The 14 percent relates to the DSM decision.  Their applied-for fuel switching budget for low‑income as a proportion of the total fuel switching budget for residential is 30 percent.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Okay.


MR. O'LEARY:  I do stand corrected that the reduction was from 201 million down to 181, which is about $19 million.  It was 19 million, not 19 percent.  So it is closer to 10 percent.


But the importance that the company witnesses were stressing is that if it ‑‑ and it intuitively makes little sense.  


If the company has to reduce its spending on fuel switching across the board, why does it intuitively make sense that there be one subset of a rate class that is exempt from that and they not see the same decrease?  


So long as, in the end, they receive 14 percent of the spending on the residential rate class, then they are receiving the same proportionate degree of spending there as they are in the DSM side, as it is agreed they represent in terms of real numbers in society.


MR. KAISER:  So you would argue that the intent of the original decision is being honoured?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  Sir, the only other point we would make is that from the perspective of other ratepayers, if you go beyond the 14 percent, they might view that as a cross-subsidization within the rate class and, therefore, inappropriate.


Subject to any additional questions, sir, those are our submissions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just for clarity, Mr. O'Leary, I am sure I can go back and look at it, but just while I am thinking of it now, in the generic DSM decision -- or settlement, rather, how was fuel switching treated, that it was parked off -- and there were comments on it, and you may have referred to it just now, but what were the comments on how DS ‑‑ sorry, fuel switching would be pulled away from the DSM plan and treated going forward?  Is there something specific on that?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it was an issue that was on the issues list, you will recall, Mr. Quesnelle.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  The parties agreed, if memory serves, that it was not a matter that should be considered in the context of the DSM proceeding.  So there actually was an agreement that it would not be dealt with there.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's how it was left?  There wasn't any treatment consideration as to how it would be dealt with outside of the ‑‑


MR. O'LEARY:  I don't recall anything in addition to that, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, the 14 percent on the connection with the fuel switching, that came about because of the Chair's questions; is that the connection?  It wasn't the original evidence, no percentage?


MR. O'LEARY:  No.  There was a question asked and it was my recollection -- by the Chair, and then the Panel following a break did come back and volunteered the 14 percent, believing that that would respond to the concerns of VECC and any other low‑income group that was looking for some assurance that there would be sufficient monies directed towards that group.


MR. KAISER:  That was a floor, as I recall?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, it is, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, are you up?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, just before my friend gets launched on EnergyLink, I was wondering if I could just ‑‑ I wanted to get your permission to withdraw, but I was just wondering if I could make a couple of points before I do that. 


I attended here today for really two reasons:  One, to assure that the arguments in reply to IGUA is argument not based on a misunderstanding of what IGUA had said in its written submissions, and, secondly, to respond to any questions the Panel might have of intervenors with respect to matters that you have questioned Enbridge about during the course of the reply argument.


On the latter point, obviously you have had no questions of intervenors and I am delighted with that result.  Anything that is said with respect to EnergyLink is unlikely to prompt any questions to my client.


But there were two points in my friend's reply argument where I believe he's misdescribed IGUA's submissions, and I would like to have your permission, if I could, to take two minutes and just flag those ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.


MR. THOMPSON:  ‑‑ those for you, and then with that, I would seek your permission to withdraw.  One of them pertained to the degree days submission, and that is at tab 3 of the compendium.


At page 14, at the bottom of the page and over on the top of page 15, counsel for Enbridge has characterized IGUA's submissions as a suggestion that the current Board‑approved degree day methodology for Enbridge Gas Distribution is something called the adjusted de Bever methodology.


I don't think it is fair to characterize what we described that methodology to be as Board‑approved.  What we did characterize it as was the currently used method for determining EGD's degree days, and it produces the degree days that are embedded in existing rates of 3,745.  The phrase "currently used" was derived from the Board's business plan, and you will see that quoted in our argument on behalf of IGUA.  The Board plans to conduct a review of the currently used methods.  That was the characterization and the rationale for the characterization that is contained in IGUA's argument.  


On this point, I take and accept EGD's argument that we did not adjust for the regression formula, so that the "currently used" method, if applied in 2007, would be 3,750 compared to the 3,745 embedded in rates.  


The only other point where I think there's been a mischaracterization of IGUA's submissions is with respect to the equity ratio submissions, and here at page 6 of I guess it is Exhibit K16.2, at the bottom of the page, Enbridge submitted:  

~"IGUA has incorrectly tried to use the actual capital structure figures to calculate actual EBIT coverage."


I submit that is probably not a fair characterization of what we did.  What we did was used the capital structure for the stand-alone utility EGD presents in its historic and Enbridge year financial exhibits, and that is supposedly EGD's presentation of normalized utility results.  


Why did we do this?  Well, because EGD bases its claim for equity thickening on normalized EBIT to 2006.  Where we part company with EGD is they would use what I call a theoretical normalized "allowed" EBIT, where we suggest that the appropriate EBIT to use is actual normalized EBIT.  


With those two points of clarification, I believe that those are the only things that it' appropriate for me to comment upon with respect to the reply argument to date.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate the opportunity to interrupt my friend to present those points.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.  


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I was about to embark on argument with respect to EnergyLink and bill inserts.  In order to save some time, I am going to skip over the first couple of pages of the written outline that's been marked as Exhibit K16.3.  


The point that Enbridge Gas Distribution is submitting in those first couple of pages of the written outline is that a prominent feature of the debate on both EnergyLink and the bill inserts is that competing private interests have come forward in this case essentially to contest their particular positions before the Board.  Again, I won't go over everything that is in the written outline.  I know that the Board can read that.  


If I may, I would like to start at tab 32 of the compendium, Exhibit K16.1.  This is simply in relation to the point about the competing private interests putting forward their particular positions on bill inserts.  I will then come to a similar point with respect to EnergyLink.  


At tab 32 are some extracts from the argument submitted by Direct Energy.  I would ask the Board, in particular, to turn to page 11.  


These are submissions by Direct Energy about bill inserts.  The Board can see, starting at the top of page 7, the submission that one of the HVAC witnesses, Mr. Luymes, representing Ozz Corporation, contrary to the initial position taken by Ozz in the prefiled evidence, which could be described as altruistic, confirmed in his testimony that his company does not want to use the bill insert service and that Ozz would stand to gain if its main competitors in the water heater segment of the market, Direct Energy and Union Energy, were denied access to the service.  Direct Energy goes on to submit that this so-called tactical position of competitors such as Ozz should not have any bearing on the Board's determination.  


Similarly, this argument goes on -- again this is with respect to bill inserts.  In the middle of paragraph 30, there is a discussion of the position of HVAC members:

~”Direct Energy believes that the HVAC members who are opposed to inserts have taken this position as the best means of undermining the insert settlement.”  


Then at the bottom of page 11, the last sentence of paragraph 31, starting at the bottom of page 11:

~”Disallowing the continued use of inserts on the basis of tactics and speculation from competitors who do not have any interest in using a service would not be in the public interest.”  


Again, I bring this forward to make the point that here, in respect of bill inserts, what the Board is seeing is that much of the debate amongst the private interests that the Board has heard really has to do with the competing interests of those parties more so than the public interest.   


The same, in my submission, can be said with respect to EnergyLink.  Again, I won't go into detail.  However, to take the position of HVAC, for example, the HVAC Coalition was quite frank, actually, in its initial filing, which is Exhibit L26, about the views with respect to EnergyLink.  


For example, at page 7 of Exhibit L26, this evidence says:   

~”The results of this industry survey suggest that the industry has strongly divergent views on the appropriateness of the EnergyLink program, with some embracing it with open arms and at the other extreme some seeing it as a major threat to a vibrant industry."


What we have is the HVAC Coalition coming forward from a position of knowing that there are these divergent views on EnergyLink.  In the context of that, it is in my submission quite interesting to look at what position HVAC Coalition put forward.  That is the purpose of the information or the matters, the items from the record that have been provided at tabs 33 to 35 of the compendium.  


At tab 33, there is an excerpt from the cross-examination of the HVAC panel where Mr. Luymes was asked, page 174, line 17:   

~"What is the mandate that you've been given by the board of directors of the HVAC Coalition?  Is it to oppose EnergyLink at all costs?  Is it to make a case for improvements?  Or is it something else?"


A little bit of discussion ensues and then the answer is:   

~"The instructions from our board were to oppose it in its current form.  So I think that it would be fair to say that there might be some room for consideration of how the program might be improved, but we don't have any specific instructions on what those improvements should be, just that the program in its current form is unacceptable."  


Then the question was:   

~"And you didn't seek instructions from the Board as to what sort of improvements might make it acceptable?"

The answer was "no." 


Now, the Board will probably recall that the examination came back to this subject - this is what appears at tab 34 of the compendium - and an undertaking was eventually given.  


Now, the extract at tab 34 covers pages 149 to 153 from I think it is volume 12 of the transcript.  I won't read it all, but in the middle of page 149, the question came back to the statement that was made about room for consideration of how the program might be improved.  


And the question was asked:   

~"Well, what are the elements that you would accept and build on in order to improve it?"

And there was some discussion carried on, and Mr. Luymes answered in a straightforward fashion: 

"There is no question about that."

Over at line 17, at page 150 he talks about the need for some time and a process.  Then he says:  

"Are we willing to work with the utility to many" – I think that was probably a typographical error – "improve the program?  Absolutely."  


Then at the bottom of the page again, the question was put on the basis that the utility would like to see the elements of the program that you would build on to create these improvements that you would like to see and then describe the improvements.  And Mr. Luymes said, "All right," and so on. 


In fact, Mr. Chair, you yourself added to the undertaking, because you asked what sort of assurances HVAC might be looking for in relation to Enbridge Gas Distribution operating its program.


Now, the actual answer to the undertaking is at the next tab.  It is at tab 35.  I won't dwell on this answer.  The Board can form its own conclusions.  This answer expresses HVAC Coalition's view that the program is fundamentally flawed.  The improvements it would like to see would be to remove those flaws. It then goes on to describe what it says are four key flaws.  


Despite what Enbridge Gas Distribution perhaps somewhat naively thought was a real enthusiasm or at least appetite to come back with improvements, ways of improving the program, and despite the repeated effort to make sure that the answer would talk about the elements of the program that could be built on, the response was this answer about four key -- allegedly four key flaws.


In fact, if you look at the answer ‑ again, I won't read the entire answer - it reads in a similar fashion to the HVAC argument.  Point number 3 is the program has a number of components that would allow EGD to be the regulator of a competitive industry.


Well, that is not a statement of fact.  That is an argument.  That is an argument that HVAC made at the conclusion of this case that I will be referring to later on.


Anyway, the point of all of this is that this debate that has occurred as a result of the private interests that are being advanced in this case is in no way illegitimate.  I am not in any way attempting to suggest that it is not legitimate for commercial interests, for commercial businesses to advance their best interests.  That is what they're supposed to do.


The submission I am making to the Board is that this type of debate, in my submission, does not really help the Board get closer to the ratepayer interest and the public interest.  What we have here is private interests competing to have their agendas, if I could use that word, brought ‑‑ their agendas met through the use of the regulatory process.


Now, having said that, I have to concede that the perceptions of parties acting in a self-interested or opportunistic fashion run the other way, as well.  The merits and the public interest of both the EnergyLink issue and the bill inserts issue have been clouded in this case by perceptions that Enbridge Gas Distribution or the Enbridge Group of Companies is acting in a self-interested fashion.  That, I think, is clear from the arguments that the merits of the issue have been clouded by that perception.


Specifically, I am referring here to the argument that EnergyLink is a program that is put forward as a platform for activities of an affiliate of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


In argument-in‑chief, the company explained that concepts like EnergyLink, opening the bill to natural gas service providers, and financing of natural gas appliances have a common goal.  The common goal of these concepts is to assist in building natural gas load.  


Given this common goal, it shouldn't be a surprise that these concepts are addressed together in documents that have been produced by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


However, it seems to be these documents, at least in part, that have given rise to these suspicions about a platform for an affiliate.


Just to expand on the point a little further, I think it is clear on the evidence in this case there is a fundamental market barrier as a result of the significantly higher upfront capital costs for gas appliances compared to electric appliances.  


Even HVAC Coalition in its argument talks about this problem, that when water heaters are purchased rather than rented, there is a significantly higher cost for an installed gas appliance than for an electric.


Regardless of what the program is that might be under consideration by the utility, by Enbridge Gas Distribution, this is a market barrier that needs to be addressed.  On‑bill financing is a way of dealing with the higher upfront capital costs of gas appliances and equipment.


So, in my submission, it should not be surprising or give rise to these suspicions about affiliate activities that the utilities' ideas about how to build load have to address financing as a means to address the market barrier of high upfront capital costs.  


But this doesn't mean that the utility is doing this as a platform for an affiliate or a platform for an affiliate's financing program.  It is the utility's recognition that, whatever programs it might look at in relation to building load, they are not going to function as well as they should if nothing is done to address the problem of high initial capital costs.


In the view of Enbridge Gas Distribution, the perceptions that have been formed about the utility's opportunism in relation to EnergyLink are actually ironic and unfortunate, because the utility sincerely believes that this is a situation where its goals are closely aligned with the ratepayers' and with the public interest.


Yes, it has to be said there is a shareholder interest.  It is in the interests of the shareholder, as it is in the interests of the ratepayer, that Enbridge Gas Distribution pursue efforts to increase gas load; but there are other interests at stake that go more broadly to the public interest.


One of these is the interests of the ratepayers, the shareholders and presumably everyone's interest, other than those who are in the business of competing with natural gas, in seeing that consumers of gas get good customer service.


In evaluating what constitutes good customer service in the context of this case, it is my submission it is very useful to look at the survey evidence that the company filed.  It is worthy of note that in their submissions, none of the intervenors that I am aware of have in any way questioned the credibility or reliability of this survey evidence.  In fact, in connection with the bill inserts issue, a number of intervenors used the survey evidence on bill inserts in their arguments.


On EnergyLink, not as much attention was paid to the survey evidence.  In fairness to VECC -- this isn't reflected in the written outline of argument, but in fairness to VECC, VECC did comment on the survey evidence with respect to EnergyLink and said that ‑‑ made the submission that customers continue to look to Enbridge Gas Distribution as a source of information is confirmed by the customer survey information.


So what does the survey information say?  That information is at tab 36 of Exhibit K16.1, Mr. Chair.  If I could ask the Board to start, in particular, at question 9 of the survey, that's on page 5 of the material found at tab 36.


The Board will be able to see that in question 9 the customers were asked:   

~"If your furnace or water heater needed servicing, what company would you call to come and perform any necessary work?"  


The highest answer by far was Enbridge/Enbridge Gas Distribution at 46 percent.  There was also a reference to Consumers Gas at 1 percent.  This is the company that customers would call if their furnace or water heater needed servicing.


At question 10, they were asked:  

~"If you were looking to purchase a natural gas appliance or equipment for your home or to have one serviced, how would you go about finding a contractor/retailer?"


Nineteen percent of people said, Call Enbridge/ Enbridge Gas Distribution.  A little further down, 2 percent said, Call the gas company/supplier.


A little further down, 1 percent said, Visit Enbridge website/Enbridge Gas Distribution website.


And then further down, not even 1 percent responded that they would visit the HRAI website.


On the next page at question 11, these customers were asked: If they were looking to purchase a natural gas appliance or equipment for their home or to have one serviced, how much would they rely on each of the following sources when looking for a contractor/retailer?  The first box indicates 70 percent would rely on Enbridge Gas Distribution, either a great deal or somewhat.  


I won't go through the rest of that survey information, but it is there to see, and it would be apparent to the Board that Enbridge Gas Distribution stands very, very high in terms of the sources that people would go to when looking for a contractor or a retailer.


Then over at page -- sorry, at page 8, question 13, the customers were asked, if they were looking to purchase a natural gas appliance/equipment for their home or to have one serviced, to what extent would you trust each of the following sources to provide you with reliable and credible information? 


Seventy-five percent in this case indicated that they would trust Enbridge Gas Distribution for a reliable and credible information either a great deal or somewhat.  


Again, that can be compared to the other sources that are referred to in the answer to the question.  


Then the questions start to get more specifically about the extent to which a referral program would provide a customer service.  That can be seen over at page 10, question 14.  Question 14 is:   

~"If Enbridge offered a free referral service that would provide you with referrals for qualified contractors and/or retailers of natural gas products and services, would you be interested in using this service?"  


Sixty-nine percent of people said "yes."  


The questions become more and more detailed as one works one's way through this, and eventually one can get to question 19, which also is getting much more directly to the extent to which this type of service would provide customer satisfaction to the natural gas consumers.


At question 19, customers were asked:  

~"Now that we have discussed the referral service in more detail, if Enbridge offered this service, how likely would you be to seriously consider using this service for your next natural gas product purchase or service needs?" 


You will see there a reference to top 2 box at 41 percent.  The top 2 box is the "very unlikely" and "extremely likely."  Those in the category of being very likely or extremely likely to use this service came to 41 percent.  In addition, another 36 percent were somewhat likely to use the service.  


Finally on the survey, I take the Board over to the next page, which is page 14, and question 22, to round out the information that was garnered from customers on this subject.  


Question 22 is:  

~”Regardless of whether you used the referral service or not, would Enbridge offering this service have an impact  on your overall impression of the company?  That is, would it make you much more favourable, somewhat more favourable..." et cetera.


Again, the top 2 box categories, which are in this case "much more" and "somewhat more favourable," were 54 percent.  The point is this is an element of customer satisfaction for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Even for those who wouldn't necessarily use the service, 54 percent considered this was something that would either somewhat more or much more favourably affect their impression of the company.  


There is more evidence on this.  I won't dwell on it extensively, but I would ask the Board also to turn to the next -- I think it is the next tab of the brief, which is tab 37.  It refers, I believe, if I am in the right place, to some more of the customer research.  


This is the business case for EnergyLink.  I will be referring to this at various times in my submissions, particularly in relation to this point about customer service, but at the bottom of page 6 of the business case at this tab, there is further discussion about concept testing of the EnergyLink program.  Under the heading Concept Testing, it indicates that:

~"The EnergyLink program concept was tested with customers in January 2006.  Both the EnergyLink referral program and a fixed price installation service were well received, with customers indicating that this was a logical service for EGD to offer and a service they would use.  

The key to success, however, is EGD taking accountability and standing behind the EnergyLink contractors.  As a result strong business processes around prequalification, performance monitoring and customer dispute resolution have been strengthened to ensure customers can meet customer expectations."


If I can pause there to digress, and I will come back to this later, this is about customer service and meeting customer expectations.  It is not about controlling or certainly not about regulating an industry.  This is all about what Enbridge is trying to do to ensure customer satisfaction of consumers of natural gas.  


To conclude the reading from this passage:

~”Consumer feedback also indicated a strong preference for naming the program EnergyLink over other tested choices, Energy Connect, Inconnect and Inline."


Looking at those choices, and this was an issue that I intended to come to later in my submissions, even looking at the names that were put to customers and the name that was ultimately chosen, this wasn’t about regulating contractors or putting an HVAC seal of approval on contractors.  All you have to do is look at the name EnergyLink and the other proposed names.  This is about helping customers make a connection.  It’s about customer service and customer satisfaction as well as building.   


Now, the customer service orientation that arises from the company's market research is clearly spelled out in this business case.  Again, I won't read everything.  The Board could turn back to page 5 of this tab 37.  The first full paragraph of page 5 addresses the customer satisfaction issue.  It says:   

~”Areas of improvement for customer satisfaction include improved customer service quality, reliable service with no interruptions, lower cost and prompt response..." 

- that's also something that I will come back to – 

~"...In addition customers want improved information on who to contact in case they were unable to resolve the problem."

It goes on to discuss what the witnesses said in evidence as to their current practice for EnergyLink in doing their best to meet these customer expectations and customer requirements.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, can I stop you there.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Over on the previous page, it says:

~"EGD's market clearly shows customers want assistance in navigating the energy marketplace."  


Where is the question in this survey that points to that conclusion?


MR. CASS:  I don't know that that is based on the survey, sir.  I couldn't say that. 


MR. KAISER:  Oh, okay.


MR. CASS:  I don't know. 


MR. KAISER:  That's some other market research, is it?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I simply don't know what the market research is that underlies that.  It could be the survey.  I don't know.  I was actually going to come back to the strategic drivers, but not in response to that particular question.  I don't know that there is evidence on the record that specifically links what market research underlies what particular part of this business plan.  


I would point out on this point about customer service that intervenors representing ratepayers do seem to accept the customer service aspect of EnergyLink.  I don't want to overstate what these parties have said, so I will try to be careful to essentially read what I believe to their words:  

~"VECC said that it does not disagree that an enhanced referral system located in the utility could be of benefit to customers, to the extent that it provides the 25,000 or so unsolicited calls from customers with referrals to qualified service/installation."

Then the word is "customers", but I suspect it is probably meant to be contractors.  CCC said it would seem reasonable to assume that those 25,000 callers would benefit from receiving the names of three qualified contractors that may be able to meet their needs.  At least to that extent, these intervenors representing ratepayers do see the customer service aspect of this program.  


Now, not only did Enbridge Gas Distribution view EnergyLink as aligned with the interests of consumers in receiving better customer service, it also saw EnergyLink as aligned with the public interest in other ways.  This is going to take me to talking a little bit about the arguments of GEC and Pollution Probe.  I say at the outset those arguments are not completely supportive.  There are limitations which I will come to.  However, in Enbridge Gas Distribution's submission, its view about the alignment of EnergyLink with public interest goals, subject to the limitations I have referred to, is confirmed in the arguments of GEC and Pollution Probe.  To take GEC, for example, it states that:

~"Customers often are faced with urgent buying decisions such as the replacement of an electricity or oil-fired furnace or water heater and they do not have the opportunity to shop around."  

GEC says that:

~"A convenient and quality regulated referral service would assist customers and thus assist DSM and fuel-switching efforts."


Now, this is a point by GEC that I think should be expanded upon.  When a customer with a furnace or water heater fuelled by electricity or oil is faced with an urgent decision because of a failure of the equipment, the need for prompt and efficient service to assist this customer to make a decision in favour of natural gas is obvious.  The Board has heard from the evidence that EnergyLink is designed around prompt and efficient customer service including a callback on a referral within one business day.  There is no evidence of anything else in the marketplace that provides this prompt and efficient service that is so important when that consumer has to make a decision on an important ‑‑ on an urgent basis.  


I asked the Board also to think about the other aspect of this.  The other aspect is the consequences of the failure to provide a prompt response to direct that customer towards natural gas.


If, by reason of failure to get information about gas solutions to address an urgent need, the prospective customer ends up making a decision in favour of a non‑gas furnace or water heater, the chance to move that customer to gas is probably lost for the life of the new piece of equipment.


Now, Pollution Probe says that it's a strong supporter of EnergyLink because EnergyLink will facilitate fuel switching.  As I said, these two parties support EnergyLink, but they in their submissions do not support it for the promotion or encouragement of uses that they consider to be inefficient.


This is similar, I think, to their position with respect to both bill inserts and billing services where they, even on the billing services aspect of open bill, which was a settlement, they did reserve the right to make this argument.


GEC says that these services should not be made available to promote what it calls inefficient end uses.  Pollution Probe expresses a similar point of view in its argument.


Now, in this context of EnergyLink and billing services, in my submission it is important to remember what we're talking about.  First, with respect to billing services, the full settlement on billing services allows third parties to bill charges on the Enbridge bill.  This isn't about what Enbridge Gas Distribution is putting on the bill or promoting.  This is about what third parties can put on the bill.  


The partial settlement on bill inserts, similarly, would allow third parties to include stuffers in the bill envelope. 


Now, the issues around open bill in this case arose directly out of the Board's decision in the 2006 case.  And in that decision, at paragraph 9.5.4, the Board said that any bill access should be on a non‑discriminatory basis.  


In our submission, this proposal by GEC and Pollution Probe to exclude certain products or services on the basis that they have described is contrary to the Board's direction, because it does discriminate among third parties looking for bill access.


Now, to come to EnergyLink, again, it is important to think about what EnergyLink is.  It's a referral service.  It connects customers looking for particular products or services with appropriate service providers.  Surely Enbridge Gas Distribution should not say to customers that it will refuse to help connect them with service providers if they're looking for particular products.


In this regard, the Board can have reference, I think, to the submissions that Mr. O'Leary has already made with respect to fuel switching and the TRC.  I won't repeat any of that.


The point that I wish to make here is that it is one thing when the connection through EnergyLink with the service provider is made for the service provider to be in a position to discuss efficiency with the customer.  That is certainly one proposition that could be debated.


It's quite another thing, in my submission, for Enbridge Gas Distribution to simply refuse to help the customer connect with the service provider.  EnergyLink is about a customer connection.  If these submissions were accepted, apparently Enbridge Gas Distribution would have to refuse to accept those types of referrals through EnergyLink.


In my submission, this would do nothing to encourage efficiency.  At the very best, it is going to leave the customer to his or her own devices, which is more likely than not going to mean that less attention would be paid to efficiency.


The second part of it is that it may in fact simply drive the customer to some other solution that is not a gas solution.


So, in my submission, these limitations proposed by GEC and Pollution Probe are not appropriate and should not be required by the Board.  


To come back to the point that I was making, though, subject to these limitations, GEC and Pollution Probe support EnergyLink, and their support is based on the role that EnergyLink plays in advancing public interest goals by assisting fuel switching to natural gas.


Now, as I've said, unfortunately the role that EnergyLink has in advancing public interest goals has been clouded in this case.  I really stress that that is very unfortunate.


It has occurred because of this perception that EnergyLink has to, in some way, be a platform for an affiliate of Enbridge Gas Distribution to develop an income stream.


MR. KAISER:  Just on that point, Mr. Cass, where did we end up on that?  You will recall there was great suspicion that this was all a plan by Enbridge to get into the financing business.  At the end of the day, did we hear that any party could use the bill to provide financing for these appliances?


MR. CASS:  Yes, we did, sir, and I will be ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  There was another theory that regardless of who was providing the financing, your client or the parent, your client was going to take a cut as sort of an agent.  Did that ever ‑‑ did we ever clarify that?


MR. CASS:  I don't think that was the evidence, sir.  I think the evidence was that in relation to the affiliate's financing proposal, its own proposal, that it might be working with a third party opposite which it would get what you called a cut.


It was not the evidence, sir, that the affiliate would be getting a cut on anybody else's financing.  I am going to ‑‑ I have in the compendium and I am going to talk about and take the Board to some of the evidence that is in the compendium.


Just as an example of where the arguments on this have gone, though, I did want to say that notwithstanding what I have been attempting to describe as a strong alignment between EnergyLink and important elements both of the ratepayer and public interest, opposition in this case does tend to focus on a concern about some sort of an ulterior motive.  


One of the examples is IGUA, which actually urges the Board to find that one of the major reasons for developing EnergyLink is to provide a platform for a financing program to be provided by Enbridge Financial Solutions.


As I have already said in argument-in‑chief, Enbridge Gas Distribution thought that it had carefully explained that the connection between load building initiatives and financing exists for reasons that are unrelated to affiliate activities.


Obviously, it didn't have the impact that we were hoping that the argument-in‑chief might have.  But, as I said, we can go back to the evidence and see what has clearly been said on the record on this subject.


So, for example, I have included at tab 38 an extract from the evidence of Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward.  It is tab 138.  Starting at line 7 of that page, you will see the following evidence:  

~"I apologize.  If I could just add, as well, that with EnergyLink there are no restrictions on the financing that they can use.  They do not have to use an affiliate financing.  They're free to use whatever payment options that they so choose.  In addition, with respect to the open bill access settlement, again, we put clear language in there to say it is not limited to EnergyLink participants.  I think from the company's perspective, we made it very clear that EnergyLink and the financing are now very distinct and separate.  If Enbridge Solutions Inc. wants to go out and offer financing, it's competitive business and good luck to them."


The Chair asked:

~"But am I to understand this, then?  Are you saying that EGD will not be recommending or promoting financing from any source?"


The answer is, "That's correct."


As discussed in argument-in‑chief, the real connection is not a connection between EnergyLink and financing, it is between financing and third party access to the bill.


While there are many companies that may be in the marketplace to offer financing, the need that's been identified by Enbridge Gas Distribution is for financing options on the bill, for financing options that allow customers to defray the upfront costs of natural gas equipment appliances through instalments on their gas bill.


With respect to this connection between financing and bill access, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward took parties in her evidence right back to the 2006 rate case.  This is at tab 39 of the compendium.  I have included a fairly lengthy extract here. 


In the interests of time, I won't refer to all of it.  I will just go straight to page 120, where Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward quoted from reply argument in the 2006 rate case.


This is Enbridge Gas Distribution stating the following in its reply argument:

~"We have clearly indicated that the company remains committed to working with Enbridge Inc. to find creative interim solutions so that a billing program can be brought forward as soon as possible.  Such interim measures could include a third party Enbridge-branded financing program under which the third party could provide all back‑office support, including generation of a separate Enbridge Inc. bill.  They could also include introduction of an on-bill financing program for 2008 if the business case can be made in support of this alternative.  The company proposes to provide an update in its next rate case regarding the status of its efforts to work with EI to find interim solutions."


Following on that, the Board actually said in its 2006 rate case decision at paragraph 9.4.1: 

~”Enbridge reported that it is exploring possible interim solutions; for example, providing on-bill financing through an affiliate or through a third-party financing program.”  

The connection has always been between financing and the bill.  


As a result of the settlement that was reached in this case with respect to billing services, I think it is very important for the Board to appreciate that Enbridge Gas Distribution now has a financial incentive to attract financing options other than those from an affiliate to the bill.  This was discussed by Mr. McGill in the next excerpt from the evidence that I have in the compendium at tab 40.  


This is the settlement on billing services, as opposed to bill inserts.  That settlement has an incentive, but the incentive does not apply to billing services for affiliates.  At page 172 of volume 13, starting at line 15, Mr. McGill explains the implications of this.  


Another aspect of that open bill settlement is that there's an incentive built into it for the utility to add third parties to the bill.  


So we're encouraged to do that, and I come back to my earlier point.  We want to see that happen.  I would love to see President's Choice Financial come to us to get on the bill, or ING, or whoever can go out and help people support, acquire these appliances or gas-fired equipment.


There is no such incentive in relation to an affiliate coming on the bill.  


Enbridge Gas Distribution is actually given an incentive to prefer, if I can put it that way, third parties on the bill over its affiliate.  


Despite all of this evidence of the witnesses that EnergyLink does not have any financing aspect that serves as a platform for affiliates, despite the fact that Enbridge Gas Distribution actually has a financial incentive to prefer an unrelated third party's on-bill financing program to that of an affiliate, the suspicions have not gone away.  The suspicions are still in intervenor arguments, as I've said.  


Enbridge Gas Distribution does not think that it is appropriate that EnergyLink be undermined on the basis of these suspicions.  It believes there has been full compliance with the affiliate relationships code and any other requirements of the Board.



Nevertheless, it sees a situation where there are circumstances suggesting it should do more to put to rest the suspicions than it has already done.  Obviously what it's done to date has not persuaded certain intervenors, and Enbridge Gas Distribution, although it doesn't see that this should be necessary, has decided that it will take further steps to put to rest the cloud of suspicion that has been created around EnergyLink.  


What Enbridge Gas Distribution will do is make commitments to the Board, in the particular circumstances of this case, about what its conduct will be.  Those commitments are as follows:  


One, Enbridge Gas Distribution will send out an immediate communication to all EnergyLink contractors making it clear to them that they do not have to belong to EnergyLink to access the bill.  This communication will provide a comprehensive listing of financing options available to contractors.  If the terms and can conditions of EnergyLink are amended by reason of any directions from this Board, the staff distribution will immediately communicate that to EnergyLink contractors.    


Two, Enbridge Gas Distribution will seek opportunities to encourage low-interest financing for energy efficiency products or measures to be part of its market development activities and it will seek to include as many interested financing entities as possible.  


Three, Enbridge Gas Distribution will investigate working with the TSSA in connection with independently qualifying these EnergyLink contractors.  


Four, Enbridge Gas Distribution will establish an EnergyLink advisory group.  This group will not be funded by ratepayers, but will be comprised of individual EnergyLink contractors to provide guidance and feedback and suggest continuous improvements to the program.  


Five, Enbridge Gas Distribution proposes to report to the Board in an appropriate time and fashion as follows: A, prior to launch, its plans regarding phase 2 of Energy Link with respect to retail options for natural gas white goods; and B, after completion of 2007, performance reporting including number of customers, number of referrals, customer satisfaction results, level of influence of EnergyLink, added load and DSM and results of a contractor survey.  


Six, in full compliance with the Affiliate Relationships Code, Enbridge Gas Distribution will continue to ensure – continue, I emphasize - to ensure that no non-public information about EnergyLink is communicated to any unregulated affiliate.  Such protocols have already been implemented at all levels of the company, including the executive level.  


Again, Mr. Chair, the company considers it very unfortunate that in the circumstances of bringing forward a program which it considers to be strongly aligned with ratepayer and public interest, that it is necessary to go beyond the assurances it has made in the evidence already, but in order to deal with the suspicions that appear to continue, the company will make all of those commitments to the Board.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I’m sorry, I am going to have to ask to interrupt.  I bit my tongue all day today, but I think it is improper for my friend and his client to come to you in reply argument and say:  By the way, you know that program that we were proposing?  Well, we decided to change it now.  And we decided to change it when nobody has a chance to talk about what the changes are.  I think that is improper and this should be discounted.  These six commitments are not properly introduced at this time.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if I might say in response to that, I am not going to spend a lot of time on this.  I will let the Board decide for itself.  However I have shown the Board where the company made a real effort in the context of this case to go to the HVAC Coalition and get suggestions for improvement.  If those suggestions had come forward in the way that the company asked for them, it could readily have been dealt with in that fashion.  


Unfortunately, in my submission, the suggestions did not come forward at all in the fashion that they were asked for.  And consequently, this is the action that the company proposes to take.  


MR. KAISER:  Can I just ask a question.  Question number 5, phase 2 of EnergyLink retail options for natural gas white goods.  Have we heard anything about this before or is this something I have missed?  


MR. CASS:  Yes, it has been discussed.  It has not been launched yet.  The first phase is a referral service or for customers to contractors.  The second phase is a referral service for customers looking for retailers of white goods.  It has not been launched yet.  It has been discussed in the evidence.  There is more information available about it now, but unfortunately not in the evidence.  


What the company is saying is that prior to its launch it will provide the Board with information about that.  


MR. KAISER:  Let me just understand that.  These would be retail stores, I take it?  


MR. CASS:  Correct. 


MR. KAISER:  Would it be Enbridge stores or what would they be called -- EnergyLink stores?  


MR. CASS:  It might be Home Depot, that sort of thing. 


MR. KAISER:  I see.  Not necessarily your stores but...


MR. CASS:  Enbridge has no stores.  


MR. KAISER:  I didn't know whether you were trying to go into the store business.  


MR. CASS:  No.  No.  


MR. KAISER:  You're not suggesting that. 


MR. CASS:  Again, it is a referral business from the customers to the retailers. 


MR. KAISER:  Instead of being referral to HVAC contractors, it would be a referral to retailer outlets?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I hesitate to mention names because I don't know who they would be, but the candidates would be Sears and Home Depot and so on. 


MR. KAISER:  When you say before you do phase 2 you will come back to the Board, I guess that is what you said, what is that?  Is that to this Panel, is that in some other proceeding, or have you thought about that?  


MR. CASS:  No, Mr. Chair.  The proposal was not a proceeding.  I think the Board would have appreciated from what the company has said so far in this case about the first phase, the company does not perceive that all of this debate over the appropriateness of the program is something that should occur.  


The company is simply proposing that it will, presumably in a letter, report to the Board, through the Board Secretary with respect to the details of the phase 2 launch.  


MR. KAISER:  So let me understand this part.  The costs that you are asking this panel to approve, they may include, I take it, costs relating to some retail referral program, of which we had very little details at this point?  Is that fair?  


MR. CASS:  I am told the answer is yes.  


MR. KAISER:  I think we will take, if you don't mind, Mr. Cass, 15 minutes, allow the reporter a little time. 


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.  


--- Recess taken at 3:51 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 4:23 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Shepherd, with respect to the ‑‑ your objection with respect to the six points that Mr. Cass ‑‑ the six commitments, I guess, or undertakings or whatever they were called, we will give you a week or any other party a week to respond in writing to these six points.


Mr. Cass.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We took that break at an opportune time, Mr. Chair.  I was moving to another point, although on the same theme.  The theme that I have been addressing, as the Board knows, is this perception of intervenors about Enbridge Gas Distribution acting in a self-interested fashion in this case.  


I wanted, in that context, to move on to the bill inserts ‑‑ I haven't finished on EnergyLink.  These are really just some general comments I am making now that are applicable both to EnergyLink and bill inserts.


In the context of ‑‑


MR. QUESNELLE:  If I could just interrupt, just a side note, I ask you to recall some of this going forward, Mr. Cass, and I leave it to you as to the appropriate time.


MR. CASS:  Certainly.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I did have some questions and, without prejudice, obviously, if we are going to hear from parties on these six commitments, I wanted to pose some questions for clarity as to exactly -- and explore these a little further. 


We can either do it now or when you come back to EnergyLink, whatever is good for you.


MR. CASS:  This is probably a good time.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on point number 3, I wonder if you could expand on this investigation that you would consider.  EGD will investigate working with the TSSA to independently qualify EnergyLink to contractors.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Quesnelle, what it is attempting to respond to is this perception that - if I can use a bit of hyperbole, it's not too far off, I think - what was said at one point during the evidentiary portion of the hearing, but there is this perception that Enbridge Gas Distribution is trying to achieve domination of the industry for the purposes of its affiliate.  


Part of that perception apparently has to do with 

control -‑ I am using other people's words, of course, controlling the contractors.  The company was attempting to find some way of making clear that prequalifying the contractors does no have to do with controlling them.  


The suggestion was that perhaps this could be done through the TSSA.  Now, whether that will work, whether it be necessary to find a different party than the TSSA if it's not willing, I don't know, but that is the intent of what is stated here, is to get past this idea that qualifying the contractors has something to do with controlling them.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess what was a little confusing to me was, from what I understand ‑ and this was in the documentation for the registration to be an EnergyLink participant ‑ was TSSA authority to begin with.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It was already a prequalification that to be in the EnergyLink, someone had to be licensed by TSSA?


MR. CASS:  That's correct.  This would be to work with the TSSA to see what standards above and beyond that would be appropriate for qualification of EnergyLink contractors.


MR. KAISER:  What are those standards now that you contemplate?  I mean, what standards do they have to meet to get into the program upfront?


MR. CASS:  They are set out in the evidence.  I'm not sure that I could ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Are you still sticking with those?


MR. CASS:  Again ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  In light of this, are you changing your position on that or are you saying ‑‑ are you now saying, we, Enbridge, don't have to prequalify these guys?


MR. CASS:  The commitment would be to work with an independent body, the TSSA, to appropriately qualify the contractors.


MR. KAISER:  If they agreed to do that, you would be out of that function?


MR. CASS:  Well, it would be in conjunction with the TSSA.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, yeah.  I guess the investigation will turn up whatever you plan on having it turn up.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just felt that this was already concluded in your evidence that TSSA does independently approve these contractors.  They don't come to Enbridge to ask for assistance in independently qualifying them.  They are TSSA-authorized.


MR. CASS:  That is correct.  This would be above and beyond that, to work with the TSSA on the standards for EnergyLink contractors.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And TSSA does have a qualification plus, as it stands now, and so there may be something that you may look at a partner with that type of program?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chair, sorry.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Go ahead.  I had one other ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Just on this same issue, Mr. Cass, I'm not sure that I would follow sort of the status of this proceeding, then, given that third commitment.


What's the suggestion here, that you would still go ahead and approve or disapprove of this program before we hear the results of this investigation?  I am just not sure what the expectation is now.


MR. CASS:  The expectation would be this, Mr. Vlahos:  There are the suspicions; the company believes that they should have been put to rest.  The company believes that the evidence is there.  The company believes that even the incentives that it has to prefer another third party for financing over its own affiliate on the bill should, together with all of the rest of the evidence, put to rest the suspicions.


The company is offering these commitments to the Board in the event that this will assist the Board in concluding that the suspicions about a platform in a foreign affiliate are not justified.


MR. VLAHOS:  So the investigation may produce nothing, in terms of the TSSA, but that is the consequence.


MR. CASS:  Again, the commitment couldn't be made that the TSSA would do it, because we don't know that, unfortunately.


I mean, the spirit of it is to find an independent way of qualifying contractors to get around this idea, again, asserted by some that it's a control mechanism.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Would that then ‑‑ I tried to scope this number 3, because I do find it a little confusing.  Would that suggest that TSSA, then, if it were the independent qualifier for EnergyLink contractors, that you would put aside all of your quality assurances as far as customer care would go?


MR. CASS:  I'm not sure, Mr. Quesnelle, what you mean by that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, the TSSA would be looking at the qualifications from a technical element.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You have a raft of other concerns as to the customer care performance of these contractors.


So to have TSSA independently qualify EnergyLink, that would only be part of the existing regime?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  It wouldn't supplant the customer care elements you've spoken of.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  Again ‑‑


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just ‑‑


MR. CASS:  I was going to address this more later in my submissions, so I might as well do it now and save the time of doing it later.


As I think I already alluded to when we were looking at one of the documents, in Enbridge Gas Distribution's view of EnergyLink, the qualification of contractors has to do with providing the customer service.  The customers want to know they're going to be referred to qualified contractors.  It's all about customer service.


It is not about controlling the contractors.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  So, again, the company is struggling to come up with assurances it can provide to the Board to the extent that the Board harbours any of these suspicions that it is controlling the contractors, more than what the company says it is, which is to provide customer service by meeting a need to refer customers to qualified contractors.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So if I can perhaps surmise where this may have come from, you have separated out the technical elements of this, in that Enbridge does not purport to have any ability to or desire to independently qualify the technical elements of the contractors that would be EnergyLink contractors?


You would leave the technical qualifications to TSSA, but still obviously hold on to the customer care concerns that you would have in the interaction that these contractors would have with the customers?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Well, if that's the case, wouldn't it be possible for you to say that you can become an EnergyLink contractor provided you are licensed by the TSSA?  Now, from there on, you're going to have to meet our customer service requirements responding within so many hours or whatever it is, but you don't have to be the gatekeeper upfront; you, Enbridge.  Are you saying that?


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Kaiser.  Sorry, I am just trying to get my train of thought here, sir.


I'm not sure whether it might be better ‑‑ in light of what the Board has said about allowing a week for other parties to comment on this, I'm not sure whether it might not be better to allow us to get back to the Board on that particular question.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Take your time.  We have spent enough time on this.  We might as well get it right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  The other element that I just wanted to get clarity on, in point number 5(a), a suggestion that prior to launch its plans regarding phase II of the EnergyLink -- and it goes on.


It goes on with:

~"respect to the retail options for natural gas white goods."


Is that distinct from the phase 2 lifestyle products that you would not envision coming to the Board for all of the phase 2, or are you suggesting that it would only be the natural gas white goods that you would be coming back to the Board?  Because I believe phase 2 also goes to lifestyle products.  


MR. CASS:  That's a very good point, Mr. Quesnelle.  And this point, 5(a), should cover the lifestyle products as well as white goods.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, do you want to continue on?  


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I was moving to some submissions on the bill inserts.  The context for this is the perception that arises in some of the arguments that it's not appropriate for Enbridge Gas Distribution's shareholder to be treating bill inserts as a 50/50 partnership with ratepayers.  


VECC and CCC, for example, argue against bill inserts, but they say that if the Board were to allow them, one condition would be that the shareholder should receive no incentive or share of the margin.  Again, I am addressing this here now because of the context around this case that Enbridge Gas Distribution or its shareholder is acting in some kind of a self-interested fashion.  


With respect to this shareholder sharing on bill inserts, there are several points that I wish to make.  First, as the Board is aware, there is a full settlement on the other aspect of open bill on-billing services, which includes a shareholder incentive.  


In my submission, this incentive is appropriate for a number of reasons.  One reason is because it encourages the shareholder to think creatively and bring forward ideas like this that result in ratepayer benefits.  


In my submission, that particular reason applies equally to bill inserts.  A shareholder incentive indicates that when Enbridge Gas Distribution is able to bring forward new ideas like this that produce a ratepayer benefit, there will be an incentive for it to do so.  


In this regard, I think it is worth pointing out that an initiative like bill inserts does not include capital upon which the shareholder could expect to earn a return.  


Now, it is the case that a number of intervenors argue that the ratepayer benefit from inserts is relatively small.  I will have more to say about that later.  However, this in fact feeds into the second point about the shareholder incentive.  


The fact that the bill insert service proposed is a 50/50 partnership between ratepayers and the shareholder creates an incentive for the shareholder to find ways to enhance the service and to increase net margin.  The shareholder incentive is what gives the Board confidence the company will work hard to optimize the margin that will be shared with ratepayers.  


At this point I do wish to digress to make a number of points about bill inserts that perhaps are seemingly unrelated, but they're all going to still come back to this issue about the shareholder incentive or the 50/50 sharing.  


With respect to bill inserts, HVAC Coalition accepts that commercial advertising has been in the bill for several years and that it's not as if Enbridge Gas Distribution is proposing a radical change in principle.  


Given that there is no radical change in principle, if there is a new concern that arises at this time, it must be around the number or frequency or both of commercial inserts in the bill, again, given that they have been there in the past and this is not a radical change.  


First, with respect to the number or frequency of inserts, it is important to remember that the partial settlement on bill inserts is only an interim solution.  During the term of this interim solution, the market will decide if there is a value for customers, users of the service, if there is a value for users of the service in an increased number of inserts.  


Of course it's true that gas consumers can opt out at any time if they so desire, and if for any reason they don't like the number or frequency of inserts.  Leaving that aside, however, in the event that gas consumers simply don't like the inserts, then this service is not going to provide value for the users of the service and this is going to manifest itself in the bidding process.  


Also, and I will be coming back to the bill inserts partial settlement in more detail, Enbridge Gas Distribution is going to conduct a focus group and customer surveys under the partial settlement to ensure that consumer interests are addressed and the partial settlement contains an explicit problem resolution mechanism that will apply in the event that the number of customer complaints about inserts increases significantly in the first two months.  


The point that I wish to come back to here is that, if experience during the interim solution causes Enbridge Gas Distribution to think that the concept should be changed or enhanced, it is the sharing of the net margin that gives it an incentive to enhance or improve this service, to ensure its continuation.  


As an example - and I think all of us in the room could think of many examples as to how these new billing services could move in new directions - perhaps Enbridge Gas Distribution could move to a single fold-out insert on which it would sell advertising panels to bidders, just one insert.  That's an example of the type of thinking that can occur now that the interim solution is in place with the protections that are provided for and the company has an incentive to make it work.  


At the same time, the Board has the comfort of knowing that the proposal is an interim one and that the company will, prior to the end of 2008, file an application for a comprehensive solution that includes a number of things, including a detailed report on the interim solution, any available consultants' reports, the results of the customer communication activities, and the minutes of reports of the stakeholder committee.  


I have just a third point about the sharing or incentive in relation to bill inserts.  VECC argues that there should be no incentive or sharing in relation to revenues earned from any affiliates that use the bill insert service.  


As I have already said, this is a feature of the settlement in relation to billing services.  Enbridge Gas Distribution accepts that that is appropriate.  


It accepts that there should be no incentive or sharing in relation to revenues earned from affiliates that use the service.  


What this means, then, as I said, in relation to the billing services settlement, is that the incentive will have another aspect to it for the Board to consider, which is that it would actually give the company an incentive, a financial incentive to prefer other third parties to its own affiliates insofar as the bill insert service is concerned.  


Against the background of those general submissions that I have been making around various positions with respect to both EnergyLink and bill inserts, I did want, now, to come back to some specific issues that have been raised on each of these two topics.  First I will address EnergyLink.  


I have tried to gather submissions that have been made by a number of parties under the description of "need for EnergyLink" and the competitive market.  An example of the type of submission that has been made in this area is one from Direct Energy, which states in its argument that in the absence of evidence that the competitive market is not functioning efficiently, EnergyLink is unnecessary.  


In the company's submission, these arguments reflect a misconception of EnergyLink.  There seems to be a conception that the program is an attempt to fix or otherwise affect the markets, and this is not the case.  As I have been attempting to emphasize, EnergyLink is aimed at two key aspects of the company's business; namely, customer service and building gas load.  


The business case and in fact the part of it that you took me to earlier, Mr. Chair, is, I think, instructive in that regard.  I believe that is tab 37 and, in particular, -- sorry, 36 -- 37, and in particular page 4.  So that is tab 37, page 4.  You had referred, Mr. Chair, to one of these bullet points under the heading Strategic Assessment.  


What we have here is the strategic drivers for EnergyLink.  I was intending to read them in for the record, but they are there on the document, and perhaps to save time I won't read them.  


The point to be made about these is every single one of these links directly back to the gas distribution issues that I have been talking about, which are customer service and building gas load.  The other thing that can be observed about some of these, is that it is a potential that they could be misinterpreted in the fashion that I have described.  For example, one could take the second bullet, which is a strategic driver, is a fragmented industry, has limited market penetration.  


What this means for the EnergyLink program is the need for customer service to assist customers in dealing with that fragmented industry.  Now, somebody perhaps might misread that to think Enbridge Gas Distribution thinks it's going to fix the fragmented industry.  In my submission, that's not in any way an appropriate interpretation.  Not only does Enbridge Gas Distribution not have the ability or authority to try to fix a fragmented industry, it is under no illusion that it could be successful even if it tried to do so.


Similarly, there may be one or two others that could be interpreted in a similar fashion, such as the one you referred to, Mr. Chair.  Customers want help navigating a deregulated industry.  


Again, the point is not about fixing or changing the industry.  The point is to give the customers the help they need in that industry.  Whether it is because of the fragmentation or the deregulation, it is to give the customers the help in connecting them with the contractors.


So it is addressing stagnating market penetration, declining customer satisfaction and continuing customer confusion.  In doing so, it is dealing with what I have described as these two very important gas distribution issues, both customer service and threats to the gas load, and, in doing so, it is also advancing the policies of the province of Ontario with respect to fuel‑switching and reduced electricity load.


Now, in my submission, the extremes to which HVAC Coalition went to in order to belittle the company's objectives were, in a word, outrageous.  I will only give two examples of these.  One is the reference to what HVAC called a community gas flaring contest.  The other is this reference to Enbridge Gas Distribution wanting to regulate the HVAC industry.


In my submission, despite this all‑out attack by HVAC Coalition, nothing has ‑‑ nothing has cast any doubt on the very real issues that underlie the strategic drivers for EnergyLink.  


I would like to go through some of the evidence about the ‑‑ about what underlies these strategic drivers.  First, the evidence was that the company has seen a significant reduction in water heater penetration in the replacement market.  


For clarity, what the replacement market is, is the situation where the company is putting in a gas furnace to replace, say, an electricity or an oil heating system, and, in this context, the issue that was discussed in the evidence is to the extent to which the company is able to also attach a water heater at the same time it puts the gas furnace in.  


The evidence is that prior to 2000, when the company attached one of these replacement customers, 70 percent of customers attached a water heater at the same time.  That rate has dropped dramatically and is now in the range of 20-some percent.


The evidence is that there is an increased trend to ownership of water heaters and ownership is now at 22 percent.  The company believes that the trend to ownership has resulted in an increase in electric water heater share, which is to be expected because the upfront costs of an electric water heater are much less than those for a gas water heater.  


This is the trend that is referred to in the evidence and that the company sees today.  The company believes it must respond, because if it does not, the continuation of this trend will only mean a considerably worse situation for natural gas penetration in five years' time.


The evidence also ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, can I stop you there?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  If you go to page 5 of 17.  You are on 14 of 17.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I am just looking at the table at the bottom, which it shows this decline in water heater penetration that you have been speaking to, 70 percent going to 23 percent.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I understand that from now -- that you've said that when they're putting in a furnace, now only 23 percent of electric go to a gas water heater.


On the furnace line, which is going up, does that mean back in 2000, when people were replacing a furnace, 59 percent of them went for gas and now it is 73 percent?


MR. CASS:  Might I just check on that?


MR. KAISER:  Am I reading that right?


MR. CASS:  I'm afraid I am going to botch the explanation of these numbers, Mr. Chair.  I believe the numbers are addressing combo attachments.  So in 2000, the company was attaching many more water heater customers ‑‑ water heater only customers without furnaces.


MR. KAISER:  What's happening ‑‑ I am trying to understand.  Let me tell you why I am interested.  I have more or less understood the problem to be that the gas water heater costs more than the electric water heater, and now they're buying them instead of renting them, so that difference becomes more apparent; hence, the need for financing to get over that problem.  


There doesn't seem to be that problem on the furnace side.  Is that because there is not the same differential between the cost of the gas furnace and electric furnace?


[Mr. Cass confers with EGD staff]


MR. CASS:  The answer, I believe, Mr. Chair, is there is not the same issue with furnaces with the upfront costs as there is with water heaters.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  But just looking at that chart that you are addressing, Mr. Chair, I was going to come to this later, because it does show not only with respect to water heaters, but also with respect to other complimentary gas appliances that might be installed at a customer's home when they are putting in a gas furnace, that the same kind of ‑‑ not the same magnitude of decline, but there are declines also in the other categories of appliances from what they were in earlier years.  


The magnitude of the decline is greatest in the water heaters, but the decline is also occurring -- depending on which year one chooses to compare, it is really occurring in every category.


MR. KAISER:  Remind me.  Why did everything happen in 2001?  It went from 70 percent to 33 percent in one year.  What happened in that year that caused everything to go haywire?


[Mr. Cass confers with EGD staff]


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, there are various events that did occur and we're just trying to get the dates of them straight.


I am not sure that we can specifically tie things to a year like 2001.  There was the unbundling of the ancillary programs from the company.  I think that was 1999.  There was then subsequently a sale of the ancillary programs by the company's affiliate, Enbridge Services.  Then ultimately, sometime later, there was a closure of the appliance stores by the company that had purchased them.


I don't have the dates, sitting here now, to be able to tie those in specifically to one of these years.  There's been a series of events.


MR. KAISER:  One last question, and then I will stop.  Given that this is all about load, can I assume that the appliances that contribute most to load are the first two?


MR. CASS:  Yes, that's correct, sir.  I believe this was addressed in argument-in‑chief.  The water heaters are a particularly advantageous load, because they are more of a year-round type of load than heating, which is used primarily in ‑‑ well, it is used in the heating system.  


I think that was addressed in the argument-in‑chief, the advantages to the system of a more balanced load that is achieved through the water heaters.


MR. KAISER:  Thanks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Chair, just while we're on this page and we have it up on the screen, I wonder if we could have some ‑‑ again, we have probably seen this earlier when it was originally presented in evidence, but the chart at the bottom, can you describe what it is actually showing and reconcile that with the market penetration chart?


It jumps off the page as being counterintuitive.  We have declining connections or customer attachment at the bottom, but an inverse of that -- look at the dryer, for instance.  We have 31 percent market penetration on the dryer in 2005, and yet we have a declining connection.  


How is the reconciling of that?  


MR. CASS:  The bottom chart is the combo attachment where the customer attaches another appliance in combination, say, with a furnace.  


[Mr. Cass confers EGD staff] 


MR. CASS:  A much better way of putting it has been given to me, Mr. Quesnelle.  When customers switch to gas, what appliances are they attaching?  That's what the bottom chart is showing. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  The fact that we can have reconciling the two is the top one, is at any given time, with any builds and new installs, we arrive at a total market penetration in the first chart, and in the bottom one, it is an activity base.  At a point in time that people are making decisions, this is what their decisions resulted in.  


MR. CASS:  Yes, sir.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that fair?  Okay, thank you.  


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  To come back, then, to some of the evidence about what underlies the drivers that I have referred to.  The evidence indicates that this problem of higher upfront costs for gas water heaters is only going to get worse due to developments that are going to increase the costs, such as flammable vapour issues, increased energy factor requirements, and new venting requirements that are expected to be implemented in October of this year.  


The evidence indicates that Enbridge Gas Distribution sees additional threats in fireplace installations, particularly because electric fireplaces have started to gain market share due to their lower first cost, and ease of installation.  


We have already addressed some of these penetration numbers going beyond water heaters to other types of appliances, like dryers and ranges.  The evidence also describes the declining average use that Enbridge Gas Distribution is experiencing.  That was covered in some of the testimony also of other panels.  I won't go into that in any further detail, other than just to reinforce that there is this issue of declining average use, both in the residential market and in the commercial market, which has been discussed in the evidence.  


There is also the issue of industry fragmentation, and that is discussed in the same business plan that we have been referring to at tab 37.  It is discussed at page 6, under Industry Analysis.  The last bullet under that heading refers to research with a market research firm called JC Williams, which indicates that outside of the major players, Sears, Home Depot and Canadian Tire, the marketplace remains highly fragmented and highly regionalized.  


Mystery shopping with Sears, Canadian Tire, Home Depot indicates limited floor space dedicated to natural gas; sales associates unaware of the benefits of natural gas.  And I think the next word should be advice.  Advice to contact the gas company to arrange for installation.  


Now, I have already discussed the survey evidence.  Again, I reiterate the results of the survey, that 46 percent of customers said they would call Enbridge Gas Distribution and 1 percent would call Consumers Gas if their furnace or water heater needed servicing.  I think that one part of the survey I did not refer to was one in which 18 percent of customers said they would be most likely to purchase indoor natural gas appliances from Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Not that that would happen; that was customers' perception of where they would purchase indoor natural gas appliances.  This was the second-highest ranking of potential services of such appliances, coming behind only Sears, at 19 percent.  


Even more customers, a higher percentage, 20 percent, said in response to this question about where they would be most likely to purchase appliances of this type, they did not know.  


This evidence that reveals customer confusion about where to go for natural gas appliances and service can be juxtaposed against the survey evidence I have already described regarding the reliance that customers would place on Enbridge Gas Distribution and the fact that 69 percent of them would be interested in using a free referral service that would provide referrals for them.  


I won't go through that again.  


As well, as I pointed out, 41 percent of customers said they would be very likely or extremely likely to use the service, in addition to 36 percent who said they would be somewhat likely.  


So EnergyLink is addressing issues and needs that are very real and compelling, and it is doing so by means of a service that fully 41 percent of customers are expected to be very likely or extremely likely to use.  It's not intended to fix competitive markets.  It is intended to address the issues that I have been discussing in a manner that brings gas to the forefront as a fuel of choice, and helps customers get to the right place to make that choice in favour of natural gas.  


The Yellow Pages don't interfere with competitive markets when they serve to connect customers with suppliers of products or services.  Other locator services don't interfere with competitive markets when they connect customers with suppliers of products or services.  EnergyLink doesn't dictate prices for products and services.  It does not dictate the contractors from whom customers obtain products and services.  It does not dictate which contractors can operate in the HVAC market.  And it does not create market barriers.  It does not harm the competitive market.  


This brings me to the other issue that I have referred to from time to time in these submissions, which is the argument that this is an attempt to control or regulate contractors.  


With respect to the submission about Enbridge Gas Distribution being or setting itself up as a regulator, I think this Board knows better than any of us what it means to be a regulator and will appreciate it is more than a stretch to say that, in these circumstances, Enbridge Gas Distribution has set itself up as a regulator.  


In fact while of the HVAC Coalition on the one hand criticizes what it says is an attempt to control contractors, it then on the other hand says the EnergyLink criteria are less stringent than those for members of HRAC.  


The evidence is that the participants in HRAI's Marketplace Distinction Program must meet a certain level of qualifications.  These are the qualifications that they have to meet anyway as a standard of membership in the association.  


But Mr. Luymes' evidence was, if it did not have these standards in place, HRAI would not have a Marketplace Distinction Program.  He also agreed that setting these standards has nothing to do with wanting to control the contractors, but it is just setting appropriate standards for members of the organization.  


Now, it is true that EnergyLink is unique in that it has advanced features that allow tracking of the types of appliances attached and the overall results of the program.  


The company knew that the Board would expect it to be able to report on the results achieved by reason of funds expended on EnergyLink.  However, tracking results that measure the success of fuel-switching efforts or DSM does not amount to an attempt to control or regulate HVAC contractors.  


I have also referred to this argument by HVAC Coalition that the program implies a seal of approval.  I have pointed out that the name EnergyLink, and indeed the other names that were under consideration, imply nothing about a seal of approval.  They imply what is intended, a customer service that links customers with contractors.  


In this regard, the name of EnergyLink can be compared to the name of HRAI's program.  The name of that program is the Marketplace Distinction - and I emphasize the word "distinction" - Program.  


In my submission, it's clear which of those two names suggests some attempt to attach a seal of approval.  It is not EnergyLink.  EnergyLink is attempting to assist customers by making that important connection.  


It can also be compared with other programs that actually do use words to imply endorsement or even a ranking of contractors.  These were referred to in evidence.  Lennox home comfort system has a service that includes some contractors who are premiere dealers and some who are not.   Heat & Glo fireplaces ranks contractors by platinum dealer of distinction, gold dealer of distinction, and silver dealer of distinction.  Carrier locator Toronto service has special categories for dealer of distinction. 


In my submission, this argument about the Enbridge Gas Distribution seal of approval is quite simply misplaced.  


Another subject that I wish to address is the subject of the benefits of EnergyLink.  In a manner consistent with other similar initiatives, Enbridge Gas Distribution has calculated the NPV of EnergyLink.  


In this regard, there is a correction that is needed to the written outline that was submitted as K16.3.  At the top of page 17, that outline refers to an NPV in excess of $5 million and internal rate of return of 27 percent.  Those numbers were updated and I apologize for the mistake.  Deposit of NPV is 4.1 million and internal rate of return is 19 percent. 


The evidence shows that the project has a positive cash flow starting in year 2.  


Now, like any NPV calculation made at the outset of a program or a project, the determination of EnergyLink benefits must be made on the basis of forecasts and projections.  That has to be how it is done.  


The HVAC Coalition addressed a considerable amount of argument to the evidence with respect to the forecasts.  Clearly HVAC Coalition is opposed to EnergyLink.  The company submits that the fact that a party opposed EnergyLink would put forward such a concerted attack on the forecasts should cause the Board to wonder why that party would be so concerned about a program that apparently believes will not live up to expectations.  


In my submission, the one is not consistent with the other.  The all-out opposition to EnergyLink by the HVAC Coalition is not consistent with the many pages that HVAC Coalition devoted to trying to persuade the Board that the program will not live up to its expectations. 


The forecasts for EnergyLink were prepared on the basis of the company's experience with the natural gas market and with marketing programs.  The company also had the benefits of the market research referred to in the evidence, some of which we have hooked at during the course of these submissions.  


The company's experience, combined with the results of the market research, was used to arrive at the volumes and net revenues that would result from the EnergyLink program.  


Again, I emphasize the fact that 42 percent of customers said they would either be very likely or extremely likely to use a service like this, in addition to 36 percent who would be somewhat likely is powerful evidence in support of the forecasts.  


The early results from EnergyLink support these expectations.  


At tab 42 of the compendium, we have included just one of the letters from contractors that were filed as Exhibit K9.1.   This is a rather lengthy letter.



The context of the letter begins with this particular contractor's discussion of its perception as to the extent to which HRAC is representing the interests of all contractors.  Again, this is, I think, confirmation of what HVAC Coalition itself said in its evidence, that there are contractors who are strongly in favour or have expressed views that are strongly in favour of EnergyLink.  


The particular purpose for which I included this document in the compendium is to refer the Board over to the paragraph at the top of page 2 of the letter.  Again, there is a considerable amount of context that I've set for paragraph 2 as this particular contractor discusses its perceptions of HRAC.  But for present purposes, this leads the author of the letter to say in the middle of the paragraph, top of page 2:

~"HRAC has a program designed for this purpose, the Marketplace Distinction Program, which to date has almost been unnoticed by my company in regards to receiving customer contact specifics."

Skipping a sentence:

~"There is no comparison.  We have received ten times as many and in only two months with the EnergyLink program compared to the HRAC Marketplace Distinction Program over two years."

The author goes on to say:

~"This company does track its incoming leads such that it provides customer contact particulars by source so that they know the source of more than 90%."


Again, just to indicate that the early results from EnergyLink are entirely supportive of the company's projections.  


Another item of evidence in this regard that supports the projections has to do, again, with this issue about high upfront capital costs for those who wish to purchase gas water heaters.  The evidence is that EnergyLink has positively impacted contractors' views of the rental option as opposed to the purchase option and, in this regard, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, for example, stated:   Those contractors are going, hey, maybe I should be carrying rental water heaters.  Who should I be calling?  


In fact, Enbridge Gas Distribution believes that it has been conservative in its calculation of the EnergyLink benefits.  It did not, for example, include any results for a number of products which are included in the program such as boilers, backup generators and commercial equipment.  Further, it is relevant to the conservatism of the benefits calculations to consider IGUA's argument, that in contrast to DSM the company has an inherent incentive to overachieve with fuel-switching programs.  


This then brings me to another issue that was addressed in arguments, to do with Board approval of EnergyLink and the undertakings that have been given to the Lieutenant Governor in Council.  


For the purpose of addressing this issue, I have included at - I just have to find the tab - tab 43 of the compendium, the letter that was written by Mr. Hewson, the chief compliance officer to HRAC.  There has been argument to the effect the chief compliance officer does not have authority to approve the EnergyLink program.  


With respect to those who made this argument, Enbridge Gas Distribution does not believe that it is really necessary to argue about the authority of the chief compliance officer.  The company submits that this letter is of value, the letter at tab 43, because it clearly and accurately, in the company's submission, sets out the extent of the application of the Board's regulatory requirements to EnergyLink.  


In that regard, I would refer the Board to the chief compliance officer's conclusions, set out at the end of the fourth-last paragraph on the second page.  This is actually the first full paragraph on the second page of the letter starting with the words "in the past." 


The concluding words of that paragraph are:   

~"At this time it does not appear that the EnergyLink program is outside of the requirements of the GDAR or any other regulatory parameters within which Enbridge is permitted to distribute natural gas in Ontario."


Regardless of any issues of authority or non-authority, Enbridge Gas Distribution submits that that is a perfectly accurate and clear conclusion by the chief compliance officer.  


Now, the letter goes on to address the issue that potentially might arise in a rate case.  The letter says:   

~”As you know the Board approves rates charged by natural gas utilities through oral and written hearings.  If you believe that there is evidence to demonstrate that the EnergyLink program may have cost or revenue implications for either Enbridge or its customers, I encourage you to present your concerns through the rates hearing processes for further consideration.  Enbridge Gas Distribution agrees with the chief compliance officer's conclusion that in the context of a rate case the Board's consideration of a program like EnergyLink revolves around cost or revenue implications for either the company or its customers.  Regardless of arguments around the authority of the chief compliance officer or arguments about the effect of the Board's consideration of the proposal in the 2006 case, it is appropriate in this case for the Board to consider the 2007 cost and revenue implications of EnergyLink.” 


Now, two intervenors, and I believe it was only two, made an additional submission about the undertakings that have been given to the Lieutenant Governor in Council.  These intervenors were IGUA and Union Energy.  


If I can summarize the import of the undertakings that is relevant to the submissions, Enbridge Gas Distribution may not engage in a business activity other than the transmission, distribution or storage of gas unless it has prior Board approval.  


Obviously there is a wide range of activities that the company undertakes on a daily basis that form part of the distribution transmission or storage of gas.  One can pick many diverse examples.  These would include things like maintaining a fleet of vehicles or conducting financial studies or implementing marketing programs.  


These areas of work do not require approval pursuant to the undertakings because they are part of EGD's role in the transmission, distribution or storage of gas.  The company's submission is that EnergyLink falls precisely into the same category.  As I have been at pains to point out, I think, during these submissions, and I apologize to the Board for taking such pains, but EnergyLink is all about two core utility activities; namely, providing good customer service and building gas load.  


This brings me to submissions that I wish to make in relation to the cost claim that has been put forward by the HVAC Coalition.  The HVAC Coalition has made a claim for its reasonably incurred costs of participating in this proceeding.  It does appear to concede, at paragraph 10.1.2 of its argument, that since 2001 it has not been seen as eligible for costs under the Board's cost guidelines, which I believe are now a Practice Direction, but it is putting forward that claim in this case.  


The Board's Practice Direction on cost awards is at tab 45 of the compendium.  Cost eligibility is addressed in section 3 of the Practice Direction, page 3, section 3.  Very quickly under 3.01:  

"The Board may determine whether a party is eligible or ineligible."

"3.02:  The burden of establishing eligibility is on the party applying."


3.3 is an important provision:  

~"A party in a Board process is eligible to apply for a cost award where the party primarily represents the direct interests of consumers in relation to regulated services, or primarily represents a public interest relevant to the Board's mandate, or is a person with an interest in land that is affected by the process. 

In my submission, HVAC Coalition is not in any of those categories.  


3.04 does say: 

~"in making a determination of whether a party is eligible or ineligible, the Board may also consider any other factor the Board considers to be relevant to the public interest."


In my submission, much of the arguments submitted by HVAC Coalition in support of its cost claim relates to matters that a party would raise if it was eligible for costs and arguing for 100 percent cost award.  


This Practice Direction makes clear that the first step is to establish eligibility, and even those parties described in section 3.3, which I have said do not include HVAC Coalition, are eligible to apply for a cost award.  


The first issue is whether HVAC Coalition is eligible.  


In my submission, the points that it has made that go more really to whether an eligible party would get a cost award don't address the underlying matters that the Board would consider in respect of eligibility.  


In my submission, eligibility would be things like:  Is the constituency that is represented a broad one or a narrow one?  Is the constituency one that has access to funding, or does it not?  What efforts have been made by this constituency to achieve funding as opposed to a Board cost award?  What is the nature of the issues that the constituency seeks to bring to the Board; are they of a narrow interest or of a broader interest?  


These are the types of things, in my submission, that would go to eligibility.  The points in HVAC Coalition's argument, not exclusively, but largely go to what an eligible party would say in order to get 100 percent of its costs.  


Now, in this case Direct Energy and Union Energy have participated in this proceeding on essentially the same issues as HVAC, and, in particular, have taken the same position as HVAC in relation to EnergyLink.  They are not entitled to an award of costs. As I have already pointed out, HVAC in its initial filing quite readily conceded that there are divergent views among contractors about EnergyLink as reflected in strongly positive and strongly negative comments.  


The contractors who are strongly positive about EnergyLink have not been funded to bring their position before the Board.  


Further, the HVAC Coalition was clear in its evidence that membership in this organization is based on providing financial support.  In my submission, the fact that HVAC was able to draw on financing from commercial interests that it represents for participation in this case is itself sufficient reason to say there is not a claim for eligibility.  


This is a party that has drawn on financing, funding from commercial interests.  


Going beyond the issue of eligibility, though, on the assumption that it is necessary to do so, Enbridge Gas Distribution observes that HVAC came forward with a position of strong opposition to EnergyLink, despite the divergent views of contractors at large.  HVAC utilized the funding that it has received from contractors to present one view out of a range of views.  


The company submits that this is not the type of case for a cost award, and I say that because this is a case where commercial interests have decided that it is in their interest to financially support the presentation to the Board of a particular view out of a range of views.  


In short, even if the HVAC Coalition was eligible to apply for an award of costs, the company submits this is not an appropriate case for that.  


Sorry, Mr. Chair.  This now brings me to address some issues specifically related to bill inserts.  Apart from the issues I have already addressed the concern about bill inserts tend to focus in three areas, the first, possible customer confusion; the second a possible dilutive effect on other inserts such as those dealing with safety; and a third, in the case of the HVAC Coalition, the structure of the bidding process set out in the partial settlement.  


With respect to possible customer confusion, it is again important to bear in mind that, as I have already indicated, the HVAC Coalition points out that commercial advertising has appeared in the bill for a number of years.  


There is no evidence that previous use of commercial inserts has erased problems with respect to customer confusion or with respect to safety inserts.  On the contrary, the evidence is that Enbridge Gas Distribution has not received complaints as a result of third-party inserts.  


There is further evidence about the pilot project.  This pilot project included a Carrier Canada insert that had a monthly distribution of 1.6 million customers.  This is in the evidence.  A service expert's insert that was distributed to approximately 1.3 million customers, and an Aire One insert that was distributed to approximately 550,00 customers.    


The evidence is there was no increase in call volumes that occurred as a result of the bill inserts, and no complaints were received.   


More specifically in relation to safety, Enbridge Gas Distribution in its argument-in-chief alluded to the benefit of the bill insert service being available for the purposes of safety inserts to third parties, making use of the billing services that are the subject of the other settlement, the full settlement.  


Direct Energy in fact confirmed this point in its argument where it said that the bill envelope is a highly effective channel for it and other service providers, industry associations and manufacturers to provide safety notices in and conservation opportunities.  


Direct Energy also pointed out that third who might otherwise have an interest in using the billing services - these are the services to be offered in accordance with the other settlement - may look elsewhere for a complete billing solution if they are unable to include bill inserts in the same envelope as the bill on which their charges appear.  


This is, in my submission, an important consideration.  As the Board is aware, the settlement of the billing services part of this issue also includes an interim solution and contemplates the company will apply in respect of a comprehensive solution prior to the end of 2008.  In my submission, it would be regrettable if the interim solution on that part of billing, on the billing services, were to be deprived of a full opportunity to be tested in the marketplace because of this concern identified by Direct Energy that potential users make look elsewhere if they're unable to include bill inserts in the same envelope as their bill.  


Allowing the bill inserts proposal to go ahead in conjunction with the offering of billing services would allow a full and fair opportunity for these services to be tested in the marketplace.  This would happen under the auspices of an interim solution that has a number of mechanisms that I have been referring to that provide comfort to the Board that the interim solution will not give rise to issues of concern to the Board.  


Now, the partial settlement in respect of inserts is in the brief.  That's at tab 41.  I wanted to quickly highlight to the Board some of the many protections that are in here to give the Board some comfort around what will happen during this interim period.  That's at, again, tab 41.  


These are just examples, but the Board could look, for example, at page 3.  There is the paragraph that's number 8 that deals with stakeholder input.  This paragraph indicates that the company is going to establish a stakeholder committee if the partial settlement is approved.  Later on, the paragraph says:

~”To ensure that consumer interests are being addressed, EGD will conduct focus groups and customer surveys on inserts as soon as possible in 2007 and report the findings to the stakeholder committee to determine if remedial action is required.”  


In addition to that, paragraph 9 goes on with the problem resolution mechanism:

~”If the revised bidding and allocation processes for direct access in three consecutive months or the number of customer complaints on inserts increases significantly in the first two months, the stakeholder committee will be convened.  If the problem can't be resolved in the time period specified, the ultimate result would be discontinuance of that aspect of the service until the problem is addressed.”  


There is effectively layer on layer, if I might put it that way, of protection during the interim period to ensure that interests will be protected.  


Just one other area on this point.  Again, I won't go through everything that is in the partial settlement, but in paragraph 2 on page 2, there is a description of the comprehensive solution that describes all of the various things that the company will file prior to the end of 2008.  


I have already referred to it in a summary fashion so I won't read that again.  But again, the Board has the comfort of knowing that all of those items will be filed prior to the end of 2008.  


Now, the other point that I referred to that is addressed in the HVAC Coalition argument has to do with the structure of the bidding process for bill inserts.  


The HVAC Coalition described, in its argument, a bidding mechanism that in its view would provide all market participants with reasonable access to the envelope.  Unfortunately, a presentation of the concept in HVAC Coalition's final argument came a little late, not only in the context of the hearing, but also of the lengthy consultation process that occurred with respect to bill access.  


However, what can be taken from this is, while HVAC Coalition raises an issue about access, even it does not see this as an insoluble problem.  In other words, this is not an issue why, in principle, bill inserts should be disallowed.  HVAC Coalition simply thinks it has a better idea than the parties to the partial settlement.  


The provisions that I have read out about the stakeholder committee and issues being addressed at that committee certainly allow scope for ideas to be considered, if there are issues under the interim solution.  


Again, the very fact that this concept has been brought forward by HVAC Coalition makes clear that it is not an issue in principle, and it is not something that is insoluble.  


As well, I don't wish to repeat the submissions made by Direct Energy.  I was going to say more about them, but in the interests of time, in the portion of the Direct Energy argument that I have included in the compendium, there is a lengthy description of the evidence about what has been done in the partial settlement to ensure equal opportunity for access to the billing envelope.  


This is paragraphs 22 to 23, I believe, of the Direct Energy argument.  That's found at that time tab 32 of the compendium.  Again, in the interests of time I won't repeat that. 


The other subject addressed in the HVAC Coalition is the benefit to ratepayers.  In particular, HVAC Coalition presented a series of arguments and calculations regarding the evidence around the maximum benefit achievable from the bill insert service.  


In one of its calculations, HVAC arrives at a maximum revenue from the bill insert service of $4 million.  The evidence in this case, in fact, is that the maximum revenue is $4.7 million.  This evidence was not contested by any party, and Enbridge Gas Distribution submits that that is what should be given weight, rather than HVAC's attempt to change the evidence in its argument. 


Based on what can be seen in Exhibit JT.5, table 7, and following along the lines of how HVAC has endeavoured to do this calculation of the maximum benefit, the cost of production of the inserts in this maximum scenario including startup and internal costs would be 2.2 million.  Deducting this amount from the maximum revenue of 4.7 million would result in a net profit of 2.5 million, as opposed to the 1.792 million calculated by HVAC.  Under the company's proposal for sharing of the net margin, this would produce a ratepayer benefit of 1.25 million.  


It is important to realize, though, that in its approach to these calculations, HVAC failed to take into account that the two cents per insert cost is a per unit cost-based on two inserts.  This cost of two cents per insert, based on two inserts, can't be applied to a maximum scenario of seven inserts, as HVAC has attempted to do.  


Ms. Lakatos-Hayward pointed out that the incremental cost of increasing the number of inserts in the same envelope above two does not necessarily increase the costs at a rate of two cents per insert.  As incremental inserts above two are put into the envelope, the postage does not change, and therefore the per unit cost declines.  


It is for this reason that according to the evidence in the case, as opposed to HVAC's argument, the total maximum ratepayer benefit is $2.5 million.  The difference between this total maximum of 2.5 million and the amount of 1.25 million I just referred to is the credit to ratepayers of the overcollection of costs on a per unit basis in the scenario of maximum benefit.  


Again, the references for this evidence are in the written outline of argument.  


HVAC Coalition made submissions about fully allocated costs and actually concluded that on its view of fully allocated costs the ratepayer benefit would increase.  Nevertheless, HVAC remained firm in its view that the so-called theoretical maximum benefit would be small.  The company has several comments about these submissions.  First, HVAC did not identify costs that are missing in the company's approach that should be allocated to the bill insert service.  


Second, the partial settlement specifically contemplates, as has been discussed, a number of things.  One of those is that a consultant will be retained to undertake a costing and pricing analysis of the bill insert service for the comprehensive solution.  Finally, given the real evidence, what's actually on the record, that the maximum ratepayer benefit is in the order of $2.5 million, Enbridge Gas Distribution disagrees with HVAC's assertion that the number is a small one.  


Sorry for rushing through that, Mr. Chair.  That has brought me to the end of reply submissions on both EnergyLink and bill inserts.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just have one question, if I could just take you back to EnergyLink for a second, Mr. Cass. 


MR. CASS:  Yes.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is to the notion of the -- I am somewhat paraphrasing an earlier comment you made, but the two core utility activities that EnergyLink is encompasses, being customer service and building gas load.  


I wonder if you could help me on the juncture of the two, and can they be separated in this instance, in that as stand-alone core activities -- what I am getting at is the hierarchy of the need here.  


Without the building of gas load, there is no business case for the activities just on a customer service.  Is that a fair statement?  


MR. CASS:  A numerical business case, I think that would be so, sir, yes.  Customer service and the value of customer satisfaction of course is something that is hard to quantify and put numbers on.  


I wouldn't minimize its importance because of that, but, yes, numerically I think you are correct.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, it's not as crass as putting a hierarchy to the two core activities, but building load is at the core of this, and recognizing through the survey and what have you that there is an opportunity to build load, it can be done in a way that serves customers.  Is that a fair statement?  


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think that is a fair statement, yes. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  I am just trying to get to the kernel of the desire to have this program in place. 


MR. CASS:  Yes. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  And it is on the basis of building the load.  It can be done in such a way that meets a desire and fills a desire on behalf of customers, but that alone would probably not drive this activity, that the customers needed something.  I pose the hypothetical:  If the revenue stream was not dependent on load, it's unlikely a referral service would surface.  Is that a fair statement?  


MR. CASS:  I am thinking that it's unlikely that the company would be in a position to come and present it for approval by this Board without the ability to show a net present value calculation, and that it returns the investment that is made by ratepayers.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Thank you very much. 


MR. CASS:  I do hesitate -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't mean to be -- 


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I do agree with what you said, Mr. Quesnelle.  I would be a little uncomfortable with the notion that in the company's mind there is a hierarchy between these two and one is more important than the other.  


There was an area in the documents and I was looking for it as I was sitting here today and I couldn't put my finger on it, but it identifies these two key components of EnergyLink in exactly the way I have been describing it, customer service and building load.  That's what it is all about and I don't think there has been an attempt to create a hierarchy between those two.  I think it would be difficult for the company to do that. 


Having said that, I think that the statements you have made are correct. 


MR. QUESNELLE: Okay.  I didn't mean -- I characterized it as being kind of a crude way to put it, but all I was trying to perhaps illuminate here and inquire as to whether or not it is truly the load building, it's been done in such a way that it meets a desire and requirement on behalf of customers, but that without the building of load it's unlikely that there would be a case to be made for a referral service.  


MR. CASS:  Again, numerically, Mr. Quesnelle, I am hard pressed to think that the company would come forward with the expenditures that it has and justify those to the Board without the benefit of the NPV calculation to be able to say this provides a return to ratepayers.  So, yes. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, some of the statistics that you referred to, and I am looking at page 14, about the percentage of customers that would call EGD regarding their furnace or water heater service.  


I do recall, and perhaps it was the HVAC's argument, that this is just testimony that EGD, the energy industry, all of us have failed to communicate as to the new regulatory regime, the new paradigm the last ten years, with the separation of the white goods.  I think it was Mr. Shepherd's argument, and I believe you’re silent on this.  


So what is your comment on my comment as to this may also be interpreted as a failure by all of us to communicate appropriately as to the new construct of the industry?  And therefore, programs like EnergyLink issue is going to set us back one more time.  

MR. CASS:  Mr. Vlahos, I would not attempt to say that what you have referred to is not a factor.  


However, I would submit that there are many other factors, one of which, for example, is, again, what comes through in a survey evidence, that customers trust Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Another element of the survey evidence was that Enbridge Gas Distribution is a source that customers rely on for information.  There is all of these other elements as well, I think, that drive customers to phone the gas company.  


So I couldn't sit here today and say that there is a tremendously good understanding of the deregulated industry in the marketplace and that's not -- and confusion about that is not a factor at all.  I couldn’t say that.  


I do think, though, that the evidence reveals many other factors that cause the customers to call Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


It's not my intention to sit here and disparage HRAI, but I think the evidence is relatively clear that HRAI's locator service is not well known, not only among customers but even among some of its own contractors.  During cross-examination of the HVAC Coalition panel, the Board will remember that I discussed with Mr. Luymes the fact that people tend to call who they know.  That's what happens.  Everybody knows the gas company.  


So, quite apart from issues of confusion, I think it is something that will happen.  That's who people know.  It's who people trust.  It is the source that people turn to for reliable information.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, just finally on -- you also made reference to a specific entity, a company, Laird and Son specifically, that's in your argument. 


MR. CASS:  Yes. 


MR. VLAHOS:  That they have received ten times as many leads in only two months with EnergyLink compared to... over two years.  Okay.  


So I guess the question that comes to my mind:  Is this ten times, is this all a function of incremental activity, or is there a bit of a zero sum game that they have gained, somebody else has lost, and the program, EnergyLink, was responsible, perhaps partly, of that loss of business to somebody else;  do you have any comment on that?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I don't know that I can answer that, Mr. Vlahos, in terms of knowing what is actually happening in the market.  


Without having specifically discussed this with the company, it was certainly my interpretation of the commitments that I described that that would be an element of how the company would report back to the Board under one of the commitments that I described.  Because it referred, in fact, to things like level of influence of EnergyLink.  


My interpretation of that is that it would address this type of question you are raising, the extent to which this would have happened anyway or it was influenced by EnergyLink.  I think your point is these things would have happened anyway.  It is maybe just one contractor rather than another. 


So the question is, to what extent is EnergyLink influencing things that would not have happened.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Well I guess the way I could have read this statement that you have here, that if it wasn't for EnergyLink, Laird and Son would get two leads every two years.  Per year, whatever, over two years.  Now they've got ten in two months.  Therefore, someone else out there has not got those, has lost some leads.  And is that the -- one of the intended or intended results of the EnergyLink program?  That's my question.  


MR. CASS:  No, Mr. Vlahos, I don't think we can draw that conclusion.  I don't think we can draw the conclusion that someone else has lost the leads.  It is -- 


MR. KAISER:  Your argument is the leads would have gone to nobody because they would have just dropped on the ground. 


MR. CASS:  Exactly it's an equally plausible inference these are leads that resulted from EnergyLink.  Again, there is no evidence one way or the other that's why I'm suggesting some of this reporting that the company has committed to can address that because there is a lack of evidence.  We can draw a plausible inference in many different directions.  I think one inference is these wouldn't have happened without EnergyLink.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So one explanation is this is all incremental.  To the extent it isn't incremental, it may be an issue of redistribution of business, if you like, of activity?  All right. 


MR. KAISER:  I think Mr. Cass, just to follow up on what Mr. Vlahos is saying, that there are market failures, or you're alleging a fragmented industry and so on.  But the one market failure that is obvious is that everyone knows the gas company.  That's clear.  The gas company has moved out of this business.  So the enquiries that are coming into the gas company are going nowhere.  First and foremost you are trying to make sure those leads go nowhere and go to some use -- 


MR. CASS:  That's correct. 


MR. KAISER:  -- through some sort of equitable program. 


MR. CASS:  That's correct, and a use that in the company's view was perceived to be in the interests of ratepayers, in the interests of fuel-switching, supporting many different public interests.  Which again is the frustration the company feels that when this cloud of doubt is created around the program for other reasons.  The company believed -- 


MR. KAISER:  I want to ask you something about that and that is in relation to the cost issue that you dealt with HVAC.  


HVAC are not consumers, but one of the grounds is that they primarily represent a public interest.
 Now, as I saw their evidence and their concern, they were concerned that somehow you guys had something up your sleeve and you were going to try and control the marketplace.  And there would be an unfairness.  They would lose their brand identity that they had developed, or they might be discriminated against because you might not approve their advertising or you might not let certain people in.  There was a concern, if I can put it, that there might be something anti-competitive in this program.  Intended or unintended.   And you have come forward today in fact and said, no, no, no, look we're going to make this clear.  Read our six points.  We're not intending to be anti-competitive here.  


So let's suppose I am right, that they intervened on the basis to make sure that the market remained competitive and there was no discrimination, which is generally a good rule of public utility law.  


Couldn't it be said that they were primarily representing a public interest in that regard, that it's in the public interest that the market remain competitive?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, Mr. Chair, I think my answer to the question would be different if there had been a constructive dialogue in this case about the issues with respect to EnergyLink and how it can be improved or enhanced to address concerns.  


As I endeavoured to do as I went through my submissions, the mandate of the HVAC Coalition, notwithstanding the views ranging from strongly positive to strongly negative, was to come in here and oppose EnergyLink.  In my submission, that is not constructive to the public interest.  It's not representing a broad mandate.  It is representing a narrow mandate of those who want to come in here and oppose it.  


MR. KAISER:  Does anyone else have anything?  


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, sir, one last topic, which I am pleased to inform you is going to go very quickly. 


MR. KAISER:  One last topic?


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS:


MR. STEVENS:  I just have three things to say.  It is in respect of rate implementation.  


The first thing is, if you look behind tab 9 of the compendium, there is a written outline of arguments.  I am not going to repeat any of it.  I just commend it to you for reading alongside the material that Mr. O'Leary has commended to you for bedtime reading.  It contains the company's submission in respect of rate implementation.  


There is one comment at the end of it, talking about how the company proposes to recover revenue deficiency incremental to 26 million.  I wanted to make an additional point that is not there.  What is said at page 5 here is the company would propose to implement adjusted and final rates, either through the July or October QRAM, depending on the timing of the Board's decision.  


What I wanted to point out is there is yet another option, and that is, if there is a substantial impact incremental to this $26 million arising from the Board's decision in this case, the company could also implement rates as of the start of August or September through a separate process.  So it is not simply a choice of July or October, there are in between dates also.  


The other thing that I wanted to speak to is a request -- it’s not related to rate implementation, but it is a request set out in IGUA's argument that has to do with the costs of counsel involved in the customer care CIS consultative.  


IGUA speaks, quite rightly, about the great success that was accomplished through that consultative, and about the very positive contributions, and the company certainly agrees with this, made by counsel on behalf of CCC, SEC and IGUA in respect to that consultative.  Indeed, there is no way it would have been successful without their help or without their full participation.  I'm sorry, I don't mean to minimize their participation.  As you know, ultimately that consultative was able to reach a successful conclusion that is going to be beneficial to the company, to ratepayers, to the public interests for the next six years.   


With all of that context, the company is supportive of the proposal made by IGUA in the context of the customer care CIS consultative alone that the recoverable costs for counsel involved in that case be $300 an hour, rather than whatever the amount is that is set out in the Board tariff.  


As I say, the company's support for this is in recognition of the great success and the great contributions made, and we are not making submissions in respect of any other consultatives or any other scenarios.  This support applies to this consultative alone.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I'm sure Mr. Thompson will appreciate that, and other counsel.  I think the Board recognizes a lot of work went into that exercise, and I think we said at the time that we approved it that it was clear from the document that there had been a lot of effort and thought that went into it. I think you are all to be credited for the result. 


MR. STEVENS:  That is certainly correct.  


MR. KAISER:  Anything else, Mr. Cass? 


MR. CASS:  No. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chair, if I may.  Mr. Cass, there is one question I had if I could bring you back to the common equity issue. 


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. VLAHOS:  There is one question I had.  I apologize, I forgot to ask at that time.  As I said I had a big list I was ticking off.  


The issue goes back to this:  You called it a 14-year trend, in terms of the interest coverage ratio, the declining duration of that.  That was in response to some parties saying, look, what is the problem here.  It is a short-term solution.


MR. CASS:  Yes. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Let's find the –- sorry, it's a short-term problem.  Let's find the least cost solution.  And then you said, well, no, it is a long-term, it’s a 14-year trend, and therefore it is a longer term problem that we are addressing, and we are going to address it now.  


VECC, in support of its position, or I guess IGUA's position it was a short-time problem, therefore let's find a short-term solution, does advocate the use of certain other instruments, market instruments, in order to facilitate any capital needs.  


It proposes that in utilizing those other financial instruments, the company would be more than welcome to receive or to have a variance account so they can capture the differences that would arise from using those shorter term instruments; i.e., more expensive than the usual traditional long-term debt issuance of long-term debt.  


I apologize, I don't think I have heard any comment on this.   Am I right, first of all?  Did you comment on that at all?


MR. CASS:  Are you talking, in particular, Mr. Vlahos, about the concept of setting up this account?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  Or are you talking more broadly about whether this is a temporary issue or not?


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, to the extent this Panel is inclined to say, well, it may be -- there is a solution.  Don't read anything into this.  I'm just putting a hypothetical.  Would something like this work?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Vlahos, frankly, I did initially have something in my submissions about that account and that concept.  I took it out, because I think the only way I can describe it, as we were discussing the implications of it and how it would work, we ran into so much lack of clarity as to how this actually would work and what it would mean that we decided to leave it alone.  


I think that is the best way I can put it.  It just was very difficult to be sure as to how this particular account would operate and what the implications of it would be, as we discussed it amongst ourselves.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, I think we are clear on how it would be structured.  The construct of it. 


MR. CASS:  I think it had to do with what would go into the account and how that would be determined. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Usually it would be net of two figures.  One is what was the actual cost of issuing certain instruments, and that would be known and measurable, and what that has to be compared with, what would have been the alternative if you wanted long-term debt; right?  I guess that is where the question marks would arise.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Hoey is saying to me, what, what, when, how much?  


Initially as an alternative submission, Mr. Vlahos, we were going to say that it's a good idea as an alternative to the primary submission, if for its own reasons the Board were not to see fit to grant the company's request.  


It was our intention to make a submission that the concept seemed like a good one, but again, as we tried to satisfy ourselves as to how this would work, we became very uncomfortable.  I know I have a whole series of e-mails on it and I could try and go back and pull out the details on it for you, but that is what happened.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess in the alternative, as you mentioned, the concept was something that it was worth exploring, but you’re just are not sure about the mechanics of it.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  We were concerned about the mechanics of it.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  Again, on this alternative basis, if the Board is not persuaded about the primary submission. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I understand that.  All right.  Thank you very much.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  We will reserve on this and get you a decision as quickly as we can. 


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I just didn't want to take the opportunity to thank the Board and parties as well for their patience both today - it was a very lengthy day, a Friday - and also throughout the entire course of this hearing.  Thank you very much.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  


--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 5:54 p.m.
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ERRATA and CORRECTIONS

ERRATA

Volume 3, January 30, 2007

Page 106, line 20 "0.9" should read ".09"

Page 109, line 3: "Before of a" should read "Because of a"

Page 167, line 23 "resetting" should read "rate setting"
Volume 4, February 1, 2007

Page 41, line 1  "3,670" should read "3,617"

Page 132, line 2  "classes 1248" should read "classes 12, 48"
Volume 5, February 2, 2007

Page 5, line 1 and following should read:  "Basically, as we say, all these average use -- general service averages are developed based upon..."

Page 78, line 17  "implements of the" should read "improvements that are"

Page 81, line 3  "close" should read "closed"
Note:  "Errata" correct errors on the part of the reporter.  "Corrections" are modifications to the transcript made at all parties' request.
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ERRATA and CORRECTIONS

CORRECTIONS

The Board has requested the following changes to the verbatim record:

Volume 4, February 1, 2007

Page 7, Line 23:  "No" is changed to "Yes".
Volume 5, February 2, 2007 

Page 3, Line 23  "to" is replaced by "from"

Page 82, line 1 and following:  

"In the second step, which is called classification, we look at whether the cost vary with volumes, capacity, or customer numbers.  And in the third step, allocation, we use an appropriate allocation factor to allocate classified costs..."
Note:  "Errata" correct errors on the part of the reporter.  "Corrections" are modifications to the transcript made at all parties' request.
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